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2020 has been a year of unprecedent challenges for the

world. With the onset of COVID-19 in March 2020, NorthStar

Healthcare Income, Inc. (NorthStar Healthcare or the

Company), along with many others, has navigated a historic

pandemic, uncertain economy and massive disruption to

the seniors housing and skilled nursing industry. Our board

of directors and management team have and continue to

work through new and evolving challenges, with, first and

foremost, our efforts to protect the health and safety of

residents and staff at our communities, while also striving to

mitigate the financial impact of COVID-19 on our business.

Our goal remains to preserve and enhance long-term value

for our stockholders.

With statutory and voluntary restrictions on admissions,

limited inquiries and tours, and increased resident move-

outs, we saw a nearly 10% decline in occupancy across

our majority-owned seniors housing investments and, in

turn, a corresponding decline in revenues. Expenses were

also elevated, with additional costs for personal protective

equipment and labor, though we were able to successfully

mitigate some of these costs through reductions in non-

fixed costs and obtaining federal COVID-19 relief funding.

Nevertheless, we experienced an 11% decline in same-store

rental and resident fee income, net of property operating

expenses, in 2020. In addition, as a result of all of the

above, among other factors, the estimated net asset value

approved by our board of directors, $3.89 per share as of

June 30, 2020, declined by approximately 38% compared to

the prior year’s estimated net asset value.

Despite the decline in performance and estimated net

asset value in 2020, the actions taken by our board of

directors and management team to preserve liquidity, such

as additional borrowings under our revolving line of credit

from our sponsor, suspension of our share repurchase

program, deferral of certain debt service obligations and a

more focused capital expenditure program, have enabled

the Company to manage through the peak of the pandemic

and positioned it well as we enter 2021.

As 2021 progresses, we are increasingly yet cautiously

optimistic as vaccination rates rise and themarket has shown

increased interest across our communities. While recovery

from the pandemic is not likely to be swift or consistent,

and will almost certainly present new and unforeseen

challenges, we are looking forward to tackling these new

challenges and beginning the important work of rebuilding

and growing our business. In 2021, in addition to driving

occupancy and revenues, we also expect to deploy capital

in targeted capital expenditure areas in order to enhance

the competitive position of our assets, pursue disposition

opportunities that present attractive returns and further

stabilize our balance sheet and liquidity.

As we look towards recovery, we are highly focused on

executing on our strategy to best position the Company

for the future. We appreciate your continued confidence in

Colony Capital, Inc. and NorthStar Healthcare. As always,

we remain committed to our ultimate goal of preserving and

maximizing value for our stockholders.

Sincerely,

Ronald J. Jeanneault

Chief Executive Officer,

President & Vice Chairman

Richard S. Welch

Chairman

To Our Stockholders,
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Upon written request, we will provide, without charge, a copy of our Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the
financial statements and financial statement schedules required to be filed therewith. All such requests should be
submitted to NorthStar Healthcare Income, Inc., 590 Madison Avenue, 34th Floor, New York, New York 10022, Attn:
General Counsel.
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OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Information included in this annual report to stockholders (this “Annual Report”) was excerpted from our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 as filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the
‘‘SEC’’) on March 23, 2021 (the ‘‘2020 Form 10-K’’). Certain portions of the 2020 Form 10-K were not reprinted for inclusion
in this Annual Report in accordance with SEC regulations. The 2020 Form 10-K may be viewed in its entirety on our website at
NorthStarHealthcareReit.com. References herein to Parts or Items are references to such sections of the 2020 Form 10-K.

For information regarding the independent directors’ report on the fairness of all transactions involving us, our directors, our
advisor, our sponsor and any affiliate of such parties, please see “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” of our 2021
proxy statement.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report contains certain “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or Securities Act, and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or Exchange Act. Forward-looking statements are generally identifiable by use of forward-
looking terminology such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “potential,” “intend,” “expect,” “seek,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “believe,”
“could,” “project,” “predict,” “continue,” “future” or other similar words or expressions. Forward-looking statements are not
guarantees of performance and are based on certain assumptions, discuss future expectations, describe plans and strategies,
contain projections of results of operations or of financial condition or state other forward-looking information. Such statements
include, but are not limited to, those relating to our ability to make distributions to our stockholders, our reliance on our advisor
and our sponsor, the operating performance of our investments, our financing needs, the effects of our current strategies and
investment activities and our ability to effectively deploy capital. Our ability to predict results or the actual effect of plans or
strategies is inherently uncertain. Although we believe that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are
based on reasonable assumptions, our actual results and performance could differ materially from those set forth in the forward-
looking statements and you should not unduly rely on these statements. These forward-looking statements involve risks,
uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results in future periods to differ materially from those forward-looking
statements.

All forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report are based on information available to us on the date hereof and
we are under no duty to update any of the forward-looking statements after the date of this report to conform these statements to
actual results.

Factors that could have a material adverse effect on our operations and future prospects are set forth in our filings with the U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission, or the SEC, including “Risk Factor Summary” and “Risk Factors” in our 2020 Form 10-
K. The risk factors set forth in our filings with the SEC could cause our actual results to differ significantly from those contained
in any forward-looking statement contained in this report.
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BUSINESS

References to “we,” “us” or “our” refer to NorthStar Healthcare Income, Inc. and its subsidiaries, in all cases acting through its
external advisor, unless context specifically requires otherwise.

Overview

We were formed to acquire, originate and asset manage a diversified portfolio of equity, debt and securities investments in
healthcare real estate, directly or through joint ventures, with a focus on the mid-acuity seniors housing sector, which we define
as assisted living, memory care, skilled nursing and independent living facilities and continuing care retirement communities.
We also invest in other healthcare property types, including medical office buildings, hospitals, rehabilitation facilities and
ancillary healthcare services businesses. Our investments are predominantly in the United States, but we also selectively make
international investments.

We were formed in October 2010 as a Maryland corporation and commenced operations in February 2013. We elected to be
taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Internal Revenue Code, commencing with the
taxable year ended December 31, 2013. We conduct our operations so as to continue to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal
income tax purposes.

We are externally managed and have no employees. We are sponsored by Colony Capital, Inc. (NYSE: CLNY), or Colony
Capital or our Sponsor, a leading global investment management firm. Colony Capital manages capital on behalf of its
stockholders, as well as institutional and retail investors in private funds and non-traded and traded REITs, which we refer to
collectively as the Managed Companies. As of December 31, 2020, our Sponsor had approximately $42.0 billion of assets under
management, including Colony Capital’s balance sheet investments and third-party managed investments. Our advisor, CNI
NSHC Advisors, LLC, or our Advisor, is a subsidiary of Colony Capital and manages our day-to-day operations pursuant to an
advisory agreement.

From inception through December 31, 2020, we raised total gross proceeds from the sale of shares of our common stock totaling
$2.0 billion, including $232.6 million pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan, or our DRP, collectively referred to as of
our Offering.

Our Strategy

Our primary objective is to invest in our portfolio and manage liquidity in order to maximize shareholder value. Although our
short-term strategy will be impacted by the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic, the key elements of our long-term strategy
include:

• Grow the Operating Income Generated by Our Portfolio. Through active portfolio management, we will continue to
review and implement operating strategies and initiatives in order to enhance the performance of our existing
investment portfolio.

• Pursue Strategic Capital Expenditures and Development Opportunities. We will continue to invest capital into our
operating portfolio in order to maintain market position as well as functional and operating standards. In addition, we
will continue to execute on and identify strategic development opportunities for our existing investments that may
involve replacing, converting or renovating facilities in our portfolio which, in turn, would allow us to provide an
optimal mix of services and enhance the overall value of our assets.

• Consider Selective Dispositions and Opportunities for Asset Repositioning. We will consider dispositions of assets and
portfolios where we believe the disposition will achieve a desired return and improve our liquidity position.
Additionally, we will continue to assess the need for strategic repositioning or sale of assets, joint ventures, operators
and markets to position our portfolio for optimal performance.

• Financing Strategy. We use asset-level financing as part of our investment strategy to leverage our investments while
managing refinancing and interest rate risk. We typically finance our investments with medium to long-term, non-
recourse mortgage loans, though our borrowing levels and terms vary depending upon the nature of the assets and the
related financing. In addition, our Sponsor has made available a revolving line of credit to provide additional short-
term liquidity as needed. Refer to “Liquidity and Capital Resources” in “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” for additional information.
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Our Investments

We have invested in independent living facilities, or ILFs, assisted living facilities, or ALFs, memory care facilities, or MCFs,
and continuing care retirement communities, or CCRCs, which we collectively refer to as seniors housing facilities, skilled
nursing facilities, or SNFs, medical office buildings, or MOBs, and hospitals.

Our primary investment segments are as follows:

• Direct Investments - Net Lease - Healthcare properties operated under net leases with an operator.

• Direct Investments - Operating - Healthcare properties operated pursuant to management agreements with healthcare
managers.

• Unconsolidated Investments - Healthcare joint ventures, including properties operated under net leases with an operator
or pursuant to management agreements with healthcare managers, in which we own a minority interest.

• Debt and Securities Investments - Mortgage loans or mezzanine loans to owners of healthcare real estate and
commercial mortgage backed securities, or CMBS, backed primarily by loans secured by healthcare properties. As of
December 31, 2020, we had one mezzanine loan.

For financial information regarding our reportable segments, refer to Note 13, “Segment Reporting” in our accompanying
consolidated financial statements included in “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”
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The folff lowing table presents a summary of investments as of December 31, 2020 (dollars in thousands):

Properties(1)(2)

Investment Type / Portfolio Amount(3)
Seniors
Housing MOB SNF Hospitals Total Primary Locations

Ownership
Interest

Direct Investments -
Net Lease
Watermark Fountains(4) $ 288,836 6 — — — 6 Various 100.0 %
Arbors 126,825 4 — — — 4 Northeast 100.0 %
Smyrna (formerly Peregrine) 10,000 1 — — — 1 Southeast 100.0 %

Subtotal $ 425,661 11 — — — 11

Direct Investments -
Operating
Winterfell $ 904,985 32 — — — 32 Various 100.0 %
Watermark Fountains(4) 356,914 9 — — — 9 Various 97.0 %
Rochester 219,518 10 — — — 10 Northeast 97.0 %
Watermark Aqua 116,216 5 — — — 5 West/Southwest/Midwest 97.0 %
Avamere 99,438 5 — — — 5 Northwest 100.0 %
Oak Cottage 19,427 1 — — — 1 West 100.0 %

Subtotal $ 1,716,498 62 — — — 62

Unconsolidated Investments
Diversified US/UK (formerly
Griffin-American) $ 454,154 92 108 40 9 249 Various 14.3 %
Trilogy(5) 367,096 15 — 67 — 82 Various 23.2 %
Espresso 317,166 6 — 148 — 154 Various 36.7 %
Eclipse 37,291 42 — 9 — 51 Various 5.6 %
Solstice(6) — — — — — — Various 20.0 %

Subtotal $ 1,175,707 155 108 264 9 536

Debt and Securities
Investments
Mezzanine Loan(7) $ 74,182 — — — — —

Total Investments $ 3,392,048 228 108 264 9 609

_______________________________________
(1) Classification based on predominant services provided, but may include other services.
(2) Excludes properties held for sale.
(3) Based on cost for real estate equity investments, which includes purchase price allocations related to net intangibles, deferred costs, other assets, if any, and

adjusted for subsequent capital expenditures. Does not include cost of properties held for sale. For real estate debt, based on principal amount. For real
estate equity investments, includes cost associated with purchased land parcels that are not included in the count.

(4) Watermark Fountains portfolio consists of six wholly-owned net lease properties totaling $288.8 million and nine operating facilities totaling $356.9
million, in which we own a 97.0% interest. One of the operating facilities consists of eight condominium units in which we hold future interests, or the
Remainder Interests.

(5) Includes institutional pharmacy, therapy businesses and lease purchase buy-out options in connection with the Trilogy investment, which are not subject to
property count.

(6) Represents our investment in Solstice Senior Living, LLC, or Solstice, the manager of the Winterfell portfolio. Solstice is a joint venture between affiliates
of Integral Senior Living, LLC, or ISL, a management company of ILF, ALF and MCF founded in 2000, which owns 80.0%, and us, who owns 20.0%.

(7) Our mezzanine loan was originated to a subsidiary of our joint venture with Formation Capital, LLC, or Formation, and Safanad Management Limited,
which we refer to as Espresso.
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The following presents our real estate equity portfolio diversity across property type and geographic location based on cost:

Real Estate Equity by Property Type(1) Real Estate Equity by Geographic Location

_______________________________________
(1) Classification based on predominant services provided, but may include other services.

Our investments include the following types of healthcare facilities as of December 31, 2020:

• Seniors Housing. We define seniors housing to include ILFs, ALFs, MCFs and CCRCs, as described in further detail
below. Revenues generated by seniors housing facilities typically come from private pay sources, including private
insurance, and to a much lesser extent government reimbursement programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid.

◦ Assisted living facilities. ALFs provide services that include minimal assistance for activities in daily living
and permit residents to maintain some of their privacy and independence as they do not require constant
supervision and assistance. Services bundled within one regular monthly fee usually include three meals per
day in a central dining room, daily housekeeping, laundry, medical reminders and 24-hour availability of
assistance with the activities of daily living, such as eating, dressing and bathing. Professional nursing and
healthcare services are usually available at the facility on call or at regularly scheduled times. ALFs typically
are comprised of one and two bedroom suites equipped with private bathrooms and efficiency kitchens.

◦ Independent living facilities. ILFs are age-restricted multi-family properties with central dining facilities that
provide services that include security, housekeeping, nutrition and limited laundry services. ILFs are designed
specifically for independent seniors who are able to live on their own, but desire the security and conveniences
of community living. ILFs typically offer several services covered under a regular monthly fee.

◦ Memory care facilities. MCFs offer specialized options for seniors with Alzheimer’s disease and other forms
of dementia. Purpose built, free-standing MCFs offer an attractive alternative for private-pay residents affected
by memory loss in comparison to other accommodations that typically have been provided within a secured
unit of an ALF or SNF. These facilities offer dedicated care and specialized programming for various
conditions relating to memory loss in a secured environment that is typically smaller in scale and more
residential in nature than traditional ALFs. Residents require a higher level of care and more assistance with
activities of daily living than in ALFs. Therefore, these facilities have staff available 24 hours a day to respond
to the unique needs of their residents.

◦ Continuing care retirement community. CCRCs provide, as a continuum of care, the services described for
ILFs, ALFs and SNFs in an integrated campus. CCRCs can be structured to offer services covered under a
regular monthly rental fee or under a one-time upfront entrance fee, which is partially refundable in certain
circumstances. Residents under entrance fee agreements may also pay a monthly service fee, which entitles
them to the use of certain amenities and services, however, the monthly fees are generally less than fees at a
comparable rental community. The refundable portion of a resident’s entrance fee is generally refundable
within a certain period following contract termination or upon the resale of the unit, or in some agreements,
upon the resale of a comparable unit or after the resident vacates the unit. Some entrance fee agreements entitle
the resident to a refund of the original entrance fee paid plus a percentage of the appreciation of the unit upon
resale.
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• Skilled NursinSS g Facilities.FF SNFs provide services that include daily nursing, therapeutic rehabilitation, social services,
housekeeping, nutrition and administrative services for individuals requiring certain assistance for activitieff s in daily
living. A typical SNF includes mostly one and two bed units, each equipped with a private or shared bathroom and
community dining facilities. Revenues generated from SNFs typically come from government reiff mbursement
programs, including Medicare and Medicaid, as well as private pay sources, including private insurance.

• MedicaMM l Office BuildinO gs. MOBs are typically either single-tenant properties associated with a specialty group or multi-
tenant properties leased to several unrelated medical practices. Tenants include physicians, dentists, psychologists,
therapists and other healthcare providers, who require space devoted to patient examination and treatment, diagnostic
imaging, outpatient surgery and other outpatient services. MOBs are similar to commercial office buildings, although
they require greater plumbing, electrical and mechanical systems to accommodate physicians’ requirements such as
sinks in every room, brighter lights and specialized medical equipment.

• Hospitals. SHH ervices provideSS d by operators and tenants in hospitals are paid for by private sources, third-partff y payers
(e.g., insurance and Health Maintenance Organizations), or through the Medicare and Medicaid programs. Our hospital
properties typically will include acute care, long-term acute care, specialty and rehabilitation hospitals and generally are
leased to operators under triple-net lease structures.

Direct Investments - Operatingp g

For our operating properties, we enter in management agreements that generally provide for the payment of a fee toff a manager,
typically 4-5% of gross revenues with the potential for certain incentive compensation, and have direct exposure to the revenues
and operating expenses of a property. As a result, our operating properties allow us to participate in the risks and rewards of the
operations of healthcare facilities. Revenue derived from ILFs within our direct operating investments is classified as rental
income on our consolidated statements of operations. Revenue derived from ALFs, MCFs and CCRCs within our direct
operating investments is classified as resident fee income on our consolidated statements of operations.

The weighted average resident occupancy of our operating properties was 77.4% for the year ended December 31, 2020.

Direct Investments - Net Lease

For our net lease properties, we enter into net leases that generally provide for fixed rental payments, subject to periodic
increases based on certain percentages or the consumer price index, and obligate the operator to pay all property-related
expenses, including maintenance, utilities, repairs, taxes, insurance and capital expenditures. Revenue derived from our net lease
properties is classified as rental income on our consolidated statements of operations.

Our net lease properties are leased to three operators. The remaining lease term for each operator as of December 31, 2020 is as
follows:

Operator
Properties
Leased

Remaining
Lease Term
(Years)

Watermark Retirement Communities 6 (1) 1.2
Arcadia Management 4 (2) 8.8
Senior Lifestyle Corporation 1 (3)

_______________________________________
(1) The lease for the properties operated by Watermark Retirement Communities (“Watermark”) expires in March 2022. We may not be able to renew the

lease with Watermark at the same rent, or at all, and it may also be difficult to find a replacement operator to operate these properties.
(2) Operator has failed to remit rent timely and comply with other contractual terms of its lease agreement, which resulted in a default under the operator’s

lease as of December 31, 2020.
(3) Operator is in default under its lease for failing to remit rental payments. As such, we consider there to be no additional term remaining on the lease. We

continue to assess options for repositioning this property.

5



Operators arr nd Managers

The following table presents the operators and managers of our direct investments (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, 2020

Operator / Manager

Properties
Under

Management
Units Under
Management(1)

Property and Other
Revenues(2)

% of Total
Property and Other

Revenues
Watermark Retirement Communities 30 5,265 $ 138,708 50.3 %
Solstice Senior Living (3) 32 4,000 101,054 36.7 %
Avamere Health Services 5 453 17,367 6.3 %
Arcadia Management 4 572 10,615 3.9 %
Integral Senior Living (4) 1 44 7,405 2.7 %
Senior Lifestyle Corporation (5) 1 63 — — %
Other (6) — — 199 0.1 %

Total 73 10,397 $ 275,348 100.0 %

_______________________________________
(1) Represents rooms for ALFs and ILFs and beds for MCFs and SNFs, based on predominant type.
(2) Includes rental income received froff m our net lease properties as well as rental income, ancillary service fees and other related revenue earned from ILF

residents and resident fee income derived from our ALFs, MCFs and CCRCs, which includes resident room and care charges, ancillary fees and other
resident service charges.

(3) Solstice is a joint venture of which affiliates of ISL own 80%.
(4) Property count and units exclude two ISL properties designated as held for sale as of December 31, 2020.
(5) Operator has failed to remit rental payments during the year ended December 31, 2020.
(6) Consists primarily of interest income earned on corporate-level cash accounts.

Watermark Retirement Communities and Solstice, together with their affiliates, manage substantially all of our operating
properties. As a result, we are dependent upon their personnel, expertise, technical resources and information systems,
proprietary information, good faith and judgment to manage our properties efficiently and effectively. Through our 20.0%
ownership of Solstice, we are entitled to certain rights and minority protections. As Solstice is a joint venture formed exclusively
to operate the Winterfell portfolio, Solstice has generated, and may continue to generate, operating losses if declines in
occupancy and operating revenues at our Winterfell portfolio continue.

Unconsolidated Investments

The following table presents our unconsolidated investments (dollars in thousands):

Properties as of December 31, 2020(1)

Portfolio Partner
Acquisition
Date Ownership AUM(2)

Equity
Investment(3)

Seniors
Housing
Facilities MOB SNF Hospitals Total

Eclipse

Colony Capital/
Formation Capital,
LLC May-2014 5.6 % $ 37,291 $ 23,400 42 — 9 — 51

Diversified US/UK
(formerly Griffin-
American) Colony Capital Dec-2014 14.3 % 454,154 243,544 92 108 40 9 249

Espresso

Formation Capital,
LLC/Safanad
Management Limited Jul-2015 36.7 % 317,166 55,146 6 — 148 — 154

Trilogy(4)

Griffin-American
Healthcare REIT III
& IV /Management
Team of Trilogy
Investors, LLC Dec-2015 23.2 % 367,096 189,032 15 — 67 — 82

Subtotal $ 1,175,707 $ 511,122 155 108 264 9 536
Solstice Jul-2017 20.0 % — 2 — — — — —
Total $ 1,175,707 $ 511,124 155 108 264 9 536

_______________________________________
(1) Excludes properties classified as held for sale.
(2) Represents assets under management based on cost, which includes purchase price allocations related to net intangibles, deferred costs, other assets, if any,

and adjusted for subsequent capital expenditures. Does not include cost of properties held for sale.
(3) Represents initial and subsequent contributions to the underlying joint venture through December 31, 2020.
(4) In October 2018, we sold 20.0% of our ownership interest in the Trilogy joint venture, which reduced our ownership interest in the joint venture from

approximately 29% to 23%.

6



• Eclipse. Portfolio of SNFs and ALFs leased to, or managed by, a variety of different operators/managers across the
United States. Our Sponsor and other minority partners and Formation own 86.4% and 8.0% of this portfolio,
respectively.

• Diversified US/UK (formerlySS Griffin-American). Portfolio of SNFs, ALFs, MOBs and hospitals across the United
States and care homes in the United Kingdom. Our Sponsor and other minority partners own the remaining 85.7% of
this portfolio.

• Espresso.EE Portfolio of predominantly SNFs, located in various regions across the United States, and organized in six
sub-portfolios and currently leased to nine different operators under net leases. An affiliate of Formation acts as the
general partner and manager of this investment. Formation and Safanad Management Limited own the remaining
63.3% of this portfolio. We also have extended a mezzanine loan to this portfolio. Refer to “—Debt and Securities
Investments Overview” below.

• TrilogyTT . Portfolio of predominantly SNFs located in the Midwest and operated pursuant to management agreements
with Trilogy Health Services, as well as ancillary srr ervices businesses, including a therapy business and a pharmacy
business. Griffin-American Healthcare REIT III, Inc., or GAHR3, Griffin-American Healthcare REIT IV, Inc., or
GAHR4, and management of Trilogy own the remaining 76.8% of this portfolio.

• Solstice.SS Operator platform joint venture established to manage the operations of the Winterfell portfolio. An affiliate
of ISL owns the remaining 80.0%.

Debt and Securities Investments Overview

Our investments in real estate debt secured by healthcare facilities consisted of one mezzanine loan. Our mezzanine loan relates
to the Espresso portfolio, in which we also have an equity investment. Refer to “—Unconsolidated Investments” above. The
following table presents a summary of our debt investment as of December 31, 2020 (dollars in thousands):

Investment Type: Count
Principal
Amount

Carrying
Value(2)

gg Fixed
Rate

Final Maturity
Date

Espresso Mezzanine loan(1) 1 $ 74,182 $ 55,864 10.0 % Jan 2022
_______________________________________
(1) Property type underlying the mezzanine loan are predominately SNFs located primarily in the Midwest, Northeast and Southeast regions of the United

States.
(2) As a result of impairments and other non-cash reserves recorded by the joint venture, the carrying value of our Espresso unconsolidated investment was

reduced to zero in the fourth quarter of 2018. We have recorded the excess equity in losses related to our unconsolidated investment as a reduction to thed
carrying value of our mezzanine loan, which was originated to a subsidiary of the Espresso joint venture. As of December 31, 2020, the cumulative excess
equity in losses included in our mezzanine loan carrying value was $18.3 million.

As of December 31, 2020, our debt investment was performing in accordance with the contractual terms of its governing
documents. As of March 18, 2021, contractual debt service on the Espresso mezzanine loan has been paid in accordance with
contractual terms.

Effective December 31, 2020, we executed an amended and restated loan agreement with the borrower of our debt investment.
The terms set forth under the amended loan agreement include:

• a partial principal repayment totaling $5.0 million upon execution, which was received in January 2021, as well as the
remittance of modification fees upon certain milestones;

• a fixed interest rate of 14.0%, effective Februarr ry 2021, as well as the accrual of additional payment-in-kind, or PIK,
interest based on outstanding principal balance thresholds;

• periodic principal repayments from the borrower’s available cash flow; andff

• an extension of the loan’s maturity through January 2022.
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Portfolio Management

Our Advisor and its affiliates maintain a comprehensive portfolio management process that generally includes oversight by asset
management and capital markets teams, regular management meetings and operating results review process. These processes are
designed to enable management to evaluate and proactively identify asset-specific issues and trends on a portfolio-wide, sub-
portfolio or asset type basis. Nevertheless, we cannot be certain that our Advisor’s review will identify all issues within our
portfolio due to, among other things, adverse economic conditions or events adversely affecting specific assets; therefore,
potential future losses may also stem from issues that are not identified during these portfolio reviews or the asset and portfolio
management process.

Our Advisor’s asset management and capital markets teams are experienced and use many methods to actively manage our asset
base to enhance or preserve our income, value and capital and mitigate risk. Our Advisor’s asset management and capital
markets teams seek to identify strategic development opportunities for our existing and future investments that may involve
replacing, converting or renovating facilities in our portfolio which, in turn, would allow us to provide optimal mix of services
and enhance the overall value of our assets. To manage risk, our Advisor’s asset management and capital markets teams engage
in frequent review and dialogue with operators/managers/borrowers/third party advisors and periodic inspections of our owned
properties and collateral. In addition, our Advisor’s asset management and capital market teams consider the impact of
regulatory changes on the performance of our portfolio.

We will continue to monitor the performance of, and actively manage, all of our investments. However, there can be no
assurance that our investments will continue to perform in accordance with the contractual terms of the governing documents or
underwriting and we may, in the future, record impairment, as appropriate, if required.

Competition

Our healthcare investments will experience local and regional market competition for residents, operators and staff. Competition
will be based on quality of care, reputation, physical appearance of properties, services offered, family preference, physicians,
staff and price. Competition will come from independent operators as well as companies managing multiple properties, some of
which may be larger and have greater resources than our operators. Some of these properties are operated for profit while others
are owned by governmental agencies or tax-exempt, non-profit organizations. Competitive disadvantages at our healthcare
investments may result in vacancies at facilities, reductions in net operating income and ultimately a reduction in shareholder
value.

Seasonality

Our revenues, and our operators’ revenues, are dependent on occupancy. It is difficult to predict seasonal trends and the related
potential impact of the cold and flu season, occurrence of epidemics or any other widespread illnesses on the occupancy of our
facilities. A decrease in occupancy could affect the operating income of our operating properties as well as the ability of our net
lease operators to make payments to us.

Sources of Operating Revenues and Cash Flows

We generate revenues from resident fees, rental income and net interest income. Resident fee income from our seniors housing
operating facilities is recorded when services are rendered and includes resident room and care charges and other resident
charges. Rental income is generated from our real estate for the leasing of space to various types of healthcare operators/tenants/
residents. Net interest income is generated from our debt investment. Additionally, we report our proportionate interest of
revenues and expenses from unconsolidated joint ventures, which own healthcare real estate, through equity in earnings (losses)
of unconsolidated ventures on our consolidated statements of operations.

Profitability and Performance Metrics

We calculate Funds from Operations, or FFO, and Modified Funds from Operations, or MFFO (see “Non-GAAP Financial
Measures—Funds from Operations and Modified Funds from Operations” for a description of these metrics) to evaluate the
profitability and performance of our business.

Inflation

Some of our assets and liabilities are interest rate sensitive in nature. As a result, interest rates and other factors may influence
our performance. A change in interest rates may correlate with the inflation rate. Substantially all of the leases allow for annual
rent increases based on the greater of certain percentages or increase in the relevant consumer price index. Such types of leases
generally minimize the risks of inflation on our healthcare properties.
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Refer to “Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk” for additional details.

Regulation

We are subject, in certain circumstances, to supervision and regulation by state and federal governmental authorities and are
subject to various laws and judicial and administrative decisions imposing various requirements and restrictions, which, among
other things:

• require compliance with applicable REIT rules;

• regulate healthcare operators with respect to licensure, certification for participation in government programs and
relationships with patients, physicians, tenants and other referral sources;

• regulate occupational health and safety;

• regulate removal or remediation of hazardous or toxic substances;

• regulate land use and zoning;

• regulate removal of barriers to access by persons with disabilities and other public accommodations;

• regulate tax treatment and accounting standards; and

• regulate use of derivative instruments and our ability to hedge our risks related to fluctuations in interest rates and
exchange rates.

Tax Regulation

We elected to be taxed as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code, commencing with our taxable year ended December 31,
2013. If we maintain our qualification as a REIT for federal income tax purposes, we will generally not be subject to federal
income tax on our taxable income that we distribute as dividends to our stockholders. If we fail to maintain our qualification as a
REIT in any taxable year after electing REIT status, we will be subject to federal income tax on our taxable income at regular
corporate income tax rates and will generally not be permitted to qualify for treatment as a REIT for federal income tax purposes
for four years following the year in which our qualification is denied. Such an event could materially and adversely affect our
net income. However, we believe that we are organized and operate in a manner that enables us to qualify for treatment as a
REIT for federal income tax purposes and we intend to continue to operate so as to remain qualified as a REIT for federal
income tax purposes. In addition, we operate certain healthcare properties through structures permitted under the REIT
Investment Diversification and Empowerment Act of 2007, which permit the Company, through taxable REIT subsidiaries, or
TRSs, to have direct exposure to resident fee income and incur related operating expenses.

The Protecting Americans from Tax Hikes Act of 2015

On December 18, 2015, President Obama signed into law the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2016, an omnibus spending bill,
with a provision referred to as the Protecting Americans from Tax Hikes Act of 2015, or the PATH Act. On June 7, 2016, the
Internal Revenue Service, or the IRS, issued temporary Treasury Regulations under the PATH Act, finalized in part in Treasury
Regulations issued on January 17, 2017. The PATH Act and the accompanying Treasury Regulations changed certain of the
rules affecting REIT qualification and taxation of REITs and REIT stockholders described under the heading “U.S. Federal
Income Tax Considerations” in our prospectus included in our Registration Statement on Form S‑3 filed December 7, 2015.
These changes are briefly summarized as follows:

• For taxable years beginning after 2017, the percentage of a REIT’s total assets that may be represented by securities of
one or more TRSs was reduced from 25% to 20%.

• For distributions in taxable years beginning after 2014, the preferential dividend rules no longer apply to us as a
“publicly offered REIT,” as defined in Internal Revenue Code Section 562(c)(2).

• For taxable years beginning after 2015, debt instruments issued by publicly offered REITs are treated as real estate
assets for purposes of the 75% asset test, but interest on debt of a publicly offered REIT will not be qualifying income
under the 75% gross income test unless the debt is secured by real property. Under a new asset test, not more than 25%
of the value of a REIT’s assets may consist of debt instruments that are issued by publicly offered REITs and would not
otherwise be treated as qualifying real estate assets.

• For taxable years beginning after 2015, to the extent rent attributable to personal property is treated as rents from real
property (because rent attributable to the personal property for the taxable year does not exceed 15% of the total rent for
the taxable year for such real and personal property), the personal property will be treated as a real estate asset for
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purposes of the 75% asset test. Similarly, a debt obligation secured by a mortgage on both real and personal property
will be treated as a real estate asset for purposes of the 75% asset test, and interest thereon will be treated as interest on
an obligation secured by real property, if the fair market value of the personal property does not exceed 15% of the fair
market value of all property securing the debt.

• For taxable years beginning after 2015, a 100% excise tax will apply to “redetermined services income,” i.e., non-
arm’s-length income of a REIT’s TRS attributable to services provided to, or on behalf of, the REIT (other than services
provided to REIT managers, which are potentially taxed as redetermined rents).

• For taxable years beginning after 2014, the period during which dispositions of properties with net built-in gains
acquired from C corporations in carry-over basis transactions will trigger the built-in gains tax was reduced from ten
years to five years.

• REITs are subject to a 100% tax on net income from “prohibited transactions,” i.e., sales of dealer property (other than
“foreclosure property”). These rules also contain a safe harbor under which certain sales of real estate assets will not be
treated as prohibited transactions. One of the requirements for the pre-PATH Act safe harbor was that (I) the REIT did
not make more than seven sales of property (subject to specified exceptions) during the taxable year at issue, or (II) the
aggregate adjusted bases (as determined for purposes of computing earnings and profits) of property (other than
excepted property) sold during the taxable year did not exceed 10% of the aggregate bases in the REIT’s assets as of the
beginning of the taxable year, or (III) the fair market value of property (other than excepted property) sold during the
taxable year did not exceed 10% of the fair market value of the REIT’s total assets as of the beginning of the taxable
year. If a REIT relied on clause (II) or (III), substantially all of the marketing and certain development expenditures
with respect to the properties sold must have been made through an independent contractor. For taxable years
beginning after December 18, 2015, clauses (II) and (III) were liberalized to permit the REIT to sell properties with an
aggregate adjusted basis (or fair market value) of up to 20% of the aggregate bases in (or fair market value of) the
REIT’s assets as long as the 10% standard is satisfied on average over the three-year period comprised of the taxable
year at issue and the two immediately preceding taxable years. In addition, for taxable years beginning after 2015, for
REITs that rely on clauses (II) or (III), a TRS may make the marketing and development expenditures that previously
had to be made by independent contractors.

• A number of changes applicable to REITs were made to the Foreign Investment in Real Property Tax Act of 1980, or
FIRPTA, rules for taxing non-U.S. persons on gains from sales of U.S. real property interests, or USRPIs:

• For dispositions and distributions on or after December 18, 2015, the stock ownership thresholds for exemption
from FIRPTA taxation on sale of stock of a publicly traded REIT and for recharacterizing capital gain dividends as
ordinary dividends were increased from not more than 5% to not more than 10%.

• Effective December 18, 2015, new rules simplified the determination of whether we are a “domestically controlled
qualified investment entity.”

• For dispositions and distributions after December 18, 2015, “qualified foreign pension funds” as defined in new
Internal Revenue Code Section 897(l)(2) and entities that are wholly owned by a qualified foreign pension fund are
exempted from FIRPTA and FIRPTA withholding. New FIRPTA rules also apply to “qualified shareholders” as
defined in Internal Revenue Code Section 897(k)(3).

• For sales of USRPIs occurring after February 16, 2016, the FIRPTA withholding rate for sales of USRPIs and
certain distributions generally increased from 10% to 15%.

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act

On December 22, 2017, President Trump signed into law H.R. 1, informally titled the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, or the TCJA. The
TCJA made major changes to the Internal Revenue Code including several provisions of the Internal Revenue Code that may
affect the taxation of REITs and their securityholders described under the heading “U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations” in
our prospectus included in our Registration Statement on Form S-3 filed December 7, 2015. Certain provisions of the TCJA
were temporarily modified by the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act, or the CARES Act. The most significant
of these provisions, as modified by the CARES Act, if applicable, are briefly summarized as follows:
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• With respect to individuals, the TCJA made significant changes to individual tax rates and deductions:

◦ The TCJA created seven income tax brackets for individuals ranging from 10% to 37% that generally apply at
higher thresholds than current law. For example, the highest 37% rate applies to joint return filer incomes above
$600,000, instead of the highest 39.6% rate that applied to incomes above $470,700 under pre-TCJA law.

◦ The maximum 20% rate that applies to long-term capital gains and qualified dividend income remained unchanged,
as did the 3.8% Medicare tax on net investment income.

◦ The TCJA eliminated personal exemptions, but nearly doubled the standard deduction for most individuals (for
example, the standard deduction for joint return filers rose from $12,700 in 2017 to $24,000 in 2018).

◦ The TCJA eliminated many itemized deductions, limited individual deductions for state and local income, property
and sales taxes (other than those paid in a trade or business) to $10,000 collectively for joint return filers, and
limited the amount of new acquisition indebtedness on principal or second residences for which mortgage interest
deductions are available to $750,000. Interest deductions for new home equity debt were eliminated.

◦ Charitable deductions were generally preserved. The phaseout of itemized deductions based on income was
eliminated.

◦ The TCJA did not eliminate the individual alternative minimum tax, but it raised the exemption and exemption
phaseout threshold for application of the tax.

◦ These individual income tax changes were generally effective beginning in 2018, but without further legislation,
they will sunset after 2025.

• Under the TCJA, individuals, trusts, and estates generally may deduct 20% of “qualified business income” (generally,
domestic trade or business income other than certain investment items) of certain pass-through entities. In addition,
“qualified REIT dividends” (i.e., REIT dividends other than capital gain dividends and portions of REIT dividends
designated as qualified dividend income, which in each case are already eligible for capital gain tax rates) and certain
other income items are eligible for the deduction by the taxpayer. The overall deduction is limited to 20% of the sum of
the taxpayer’s taxable income (less net capital gain) and certain cooperative dividends, subject to further limitations
based on taxable income. In addition, for taxpayers with income above a certain threshold (e.g., $315,000 for joint
return filers), the deduction for each trade or business is generally limited to no more than the greater of (i) 50% of the
taxpayer’s proportionate share of total wages from the pass-through entity, or (ii) 25% of the taxpayer’s proportionate
share of such total wages plus 2.5% of the unadjusted basis of acquired tangible depreciable property that is used to
produce qualified business income and satisfies certain other requirements. To qualify for this deduction, the
stockholder receiving such dividend must hold the dividend-paying REIT shares for at least 46 days (taking into
account certain special holding period rules) of the 91-day period beginning 45 days before the shares become ex-
dividend, and cannot be under an obligation to make related payments with respect to a position in substantially similar
or related property.

• The deduction for qualified REIT dividends is not subject to these wage and property basis limits. Consequently, the
deduction equates to a maximum 29.6% tax rate on ordinary REIT dividends. As with the other individual income tax
changes, the deduction provisions were effective beginning in 2018. Without further legislation, the deduction would
sunset after 2025.

• Net operating loss, or NOL, provisions were modified by the TCJA. The TCJA limited the NOL deduction to 80% of
taxable income (before the deduction), however, this 80% limitation was lifted for taxable years beginning before
January 1, 2021 by the CARES Act. The TCJA also generally eliminated NOL carrybacks for individuals and non-
REIT corporations, however, under the CARES Act, NOLs generated in years beginning after December 31, 2017 and
before January 1, 2021 may be carried back five years. REITs may not carryback NOLs, but may carryforward NOLs
indefinitely. Subject to the modifications by the CARES Act, the new NOL rules apply to losses arising in taxable
years beginning in 2018.

• The TCJA reduced the 35% maximum federal corporate income tax rate to a maximum 21% rate, and reduced the
dividends-received deduction for certain corporate subsidiaries. The reduction of the federal corporate income tax rate
to 21% also results in the reduction of the maximum rate of withholding with respect to our distributions to non-U.S.
stockholders that are treated as attributable to gains from the sale or exchange of USRPIs from 35% to 21%. The TCJA
also permanently eliminated the corporate alternative minimum tax. These provisions were effective beginning in 2018.

• The TCJA limited a taxpayer’s net interest expense deduction to 30% of the sum of adjusted taxable income, business
interest, and certain other amounts. The CARES Act temporarily increased this limit, in the absence of an election
otherwise, to 50% for non-partnership entities for their 2019 and 2020 taxable years and for partnerships for their 2020
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taxable years. In addition, under the CARES Act, a taxpayer may elect to use its adjusted taxable income from its 2019
taxable year for purposes of calculating its limitation in its 2020 taxable year. Adjusted taxable income does not
include items of income or expense not allocable to a trade or business, business interest or expense, the new deduction
for qualified business income, NOLs, and for years prior to 2022, deductions for depreciation, amortization, or
depletion. For partnerships, the interest deduction limit is applied at the partnership level, subject to certain adjustments
to the partners for unused deduction limitation at the partnership level. Under the CARES Act, partner allocated
disallowed interest with respect to a partnership’s 2019 taxable year may deduct 50% of such amount in such partner’s
2020 taxable year. The TCJA allows a real property trade or business to elect out of this interest limit so long as it uses
a 40-year recovery period for nonresidential real property, a 30-year recovery period for residential rental property, and
a 40-year recovery period for related improvements described below. For this purpose, a real property trade or business
is any real property development, redevelopment, construction, reconstruction, acquisition, conversion, rental,
operating, management, leasing, or brokerage trade or business. We believe this definition encompasses our business
and thus will allow us the option of electing out of the limits on interest deductibility should we determine it is prudent
to do so. Nonetheless, if a domestic TRS borrows funds either from us or a third party, it may be unable to deduct all or
a portion of the interest paid, resulting in a higher corporate-level tax liability. Disallowed interest expense is carried
forward indefinitely (subject to special rules for partnerships). The interest deduction limit applied beginning in 2018.

• For taxpayers that do not use the TCJA’s real property trade or business exception to the business interest deduction
limits, the TCJA maintains the current 39-year and 27.5-year straight line recovery periods for nonresidential real
property and residential rental property, respectively, and provides that tenant improvements for such taxpayers are
subject to a general 15-year recovery period. Also, the TCJA temporarily allows 100% expensing of certain new or
used tangible property through 2022, phasing out at 20% for each following year. The changes apply, generally, to
property acquired after September 27, 2017 and placed in service after September 27, 2017.

• The TCJA continues the deferral of gain from the like-kind exchange of real property, but provides that foreign real
property is no longer “like-kind” to domestic real property. Furthermore, the TCJA eliminated like-kind exchanges for
most personal property. These changes were effective generally for exchanges completed after December 31, 2017.

• The TCJA moved the United States from a worldwide to a modified territorial tax system, with provisions included to
prevent corporate base erosion. These provisions could affect the taxation of foreign subsidiaries and properties.

• The TCJA made other significant changes to the Internal Revenue Code. These changes include provisions limiting the
ability to offset dividend and interest income with partnership or S corporation net active business losses. These
provisions were effective beginning in 2018, but without further legislation, will sunset after 2025.

U.S. Healthcare Regulation

Overview

Assisted living, independent living, memory care, hospitals, SNFs and other healthcare providers that operate healthcare
properties in our portfolio are subject to extensive federal, state and local laws, regulations and industry standards governing
their operations. Failure to comply with any of these, and other, laws could result in loss of licensure, loss of certification or
accreditation, denial of reimbursement, imposition of civil and/or criminal penalties and fines, suspension or exclusion from
federal and state healthcare programs, or closure of the facility. Although the properties within our portfolio may be subject to
varying levels of governmental scrutiny, we expect that the healthcare industry, in general, will continue to face increased
regulation and pressure in the areas of fraud and abuse and privacy and security, among others. We also expect that efforts by
third-party payors, such as the federal Medicare program, state Medicaid programs and private insurers, to impose greater and
more stringent cost controls upon operators will intensify and continue. Changes in laws, regulations, reimbursement, and
enforcement activity can all have a significant effect on the operations and financial condition of our tenants, operators and
managers, which in turn may adversely impact us, as set forth below and under “Risk Factors” in our 2020 Form 10-K.

Fraud and Abuse Enforcement

Healthcare providers are subject to federal and state laws and regulations that govern their operations and, in some cases,
arrangements with referral sources. These laws include those that require providers to furnish only medically necessary services
and submit to third-party payors valid and accurate statements for each service, as well as kickback laws, self-referral laws and
false claims acts. In particular, enforcement of the federal False Claims Act has resulted in increased enforcement activity for
healthcare providers and can involve significant monetary damages and awards to private plaintiffs who successfully bring
“whistleblower” lawsuits. Sanctions for violations of these laws, regulations and other applicable guidance may include, but are
not limited to, loss of licensure, loss of certification or accreditation, denial of reimbursement, imposition of civil and criminal
penalties and fines, suspension or exclusion from federal and state healthcare programs or closure of the facility, any of which
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could have a material adverse effect on the operations and financial condition of our operators, which, in turn may adversely
impact us.

Healthcare Reform

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010, or ACA, impacted the healthcare marketplace by decreasing the
number of uninsured individuals in the United States through the establishment of health insurance exchanges to facilitate the
purchase of health insurance, expanded Medicaid eligibility, subsidized insurance premiums and included requirements and
incentives for businesses to provide healthcare benefits. The ACA remains subject to legislative, administrative, and judicial
challenge and scrutiny, and could be amended, modified or invalidated in whole or in part at any time.

The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, or the DHHS, and its agency that oversees much of the ACA, the Centers
for Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, have substantially revised a number of ACA-related regulations, which have
altered financial support for health plans, enrollment operations and individuals seeking to purchase insurance. CMS also has
allowed new insurance options offering less coverage to compete in the market. These changes and other market dynamics are
associated with declining enrollment and increased numbers of uninsured and under-insured individuals in recent years. Further,
CMS has approved waivers permitting states to alter state Medicaid programs by, among other things, requiring individuals to
meet certain requirements, like work requirements, in order to maintain eligibility for Medicaid (although some of these waivers
have subsequently been challenged in court). The new administration may seek to revise many of these regulatory and
subregulatory actions. In the meantime, these and other actions may continue to impact the insurance markets and reduce the
number of individuals purchasing insurance or qualifying for Medicaid and may negatively impact the operations and financial
condition of our tenants and operators, which in turn may adversely impact us. If the new administration and Congress seek
different policy directions, those changes could strengthen the ACA and positively impact enrollment experience, but these
changes nonetheless could cause disruption in the marketplace, which could negatively impact the operations and financial
condition of our tenants and operators, which in turn may adversely impact us.

In 2017, Congress enacted legislation eliminating the tax penalty for individuals who do not purchase insurance after it
unsuccessfully sought to replace substantial parts of the ACA with different mechanisms for facilitating insurance coverage in
the commercial and Medicaid markets. Based in part on this change, on December 14, 2018, a U.S. District Court in Texas ruled
the ACA unconstitutional in its entirety. The case is now pending before the U.S. Supreme Court. No changes are expected
while the appeals are pending. Should lower court rulings be upheld in whole or part, it could dramatically change U.S.
healthcare regulation in numerous ways and may potentially spur congressional action, making the ultimate consequences of the
ruling difficult to predict. Should the ruling be upheld and implemented, the immediate effects would include reduced access to
health coverage through: (1) reduced Medicaid eligibility, (2) the disestablishment of health insurance exchanges and
accompanying subsidized premiums, and (3) no requirement for businesses to provide health insurance. Amendments, including
certain waivers, to healthcare fraud and abuse laws made by the ACA would also be void, which could change the enforcement
posture of federal regulators. Current healthcare reimbursement standards, including those discussed below, are predicated, in
part, on changes made by the ACA and implementation of this ruling would create significant uncertainty regarding the legality
of such standards and what standards are in effect absent the ACA. The effects of this ruling could adversely affect the
operations and financial condition of our tenants and operators, and adversely impact us.

Reimbursement Generally

Federal, state and private payor reimbursement methodologies applied to healthcare providers are continuously evolving.
Federal and state healthcare financing authorities are continuing to implement new or modified reimbursement methodologies
that shift risk to healthcare providers and generally reduce payments for services, which may negatively impact healthcare
property operations. Additionally, Congress and the new presidential administration could substantially change the health
insurance industry and payment systems. The impact of any such changes, if implemented, may result in an adverse effect on
our tenants and operators, and may adversely impact us.

SNFs and hospitals typically receive most of their revenues from the Medicare and Medicaid programs, with the balance
representing reimbursement payments from private payors, including private insurers and self-pay patients. Seniors housing
facilities (ALFs, ILFs and MCFs) typically receive most of their revenues from private pay sources and a small portion of their
revenue from the Medicaid program. Providers that contract with government and private payors may be subject to periodic pre-
and post-payment reviews and other audits. Payors are increasing their scrutiny of payments for items and services, and are
increasingly decreasing or denying payments to providers. A review or audit of a property operator’s claims could result in
recoupments, denials or delay of payments in the future, each of which could have a significant negative financial impact on
such property. In some instances, a property operator may be removed and barred from participating in one or more federal or
state programs, which can have a debilitating impact on cash flow, revenue expectations and ultimately, viability. Any
development that compromises the financial viability of an operator negatively impacts us. Additionally, there can be no
guarantee that a third-party payor will continue to reimburse for services at current levels or continue to be available to residents
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of our facilities. Rates generated at facilities will vary by payor mix, market conditions and resident acuity. Rates paid by self-
pay residents are set by the facilities and are determined by local market conditions and operating costs.

Medicare Reimbursement

Medicare is a significant payor source for our SNFs and hospitals. SNFs and hospitals are reimbursed by Medicare under
prospective payment systems; payments to a tenant under these Medicare payment systems varies based upon the type of
hospital, geographic location and service furnished, among other things. Under these payment systems, providers typically
receive fixed fees for defined services, which creates a risk that payments will not cover the costs of delivering care. In addition,
CMS continues to focus on linking payment to performance relative to quality and other metrics, including performance of up-
and downstream, unrelated providers, and bundling payments for multiple items and services in a way that shifts more financial
risk to providers. These changes, and a facility’s ability to conform to them, could reduce payments and patient volumes for
some facilities, including our operators, which may in turn impact us. Furthermore, while CMS has previously tested some of
these new payment principles through optional “models,” CMS could adopt rules making certain detrimental payment policies
broadly applicable and mandatory. The new presidential administration could propose additional unanticipated changes to the
amount and manner in which healthcare providers are paid, and these changes also could have a material adverse effect on
payments and patient volumes for some facilities.

Skilled Nursing Conditions for Participation - On October 4, 2016, CMS published a final rule to make major changes to
improve the care and safety of residents in long-term care facilities that participate in the Medicare and Medicaid programs. The
policies in this final rule were targeted at reducing unnecessary hospital readmissions and infections, improving the quality of
care, and strengthening safety measures for residents in these facilities. The regulations were effective on November 28, 2016,
but CMS has been implementing the regulations using a phased approach, with Phase 1 of the regulations implemented on
November 28, 2016 and Phase 2 of the regulations implemented on November 28, 2017. Phase 3 of the regulations were to be
implemented on November 28, 2019, but CMS proposed substantial changes in July 2019. Those changes have not been
finalized yet. In the meantime, Phase 3 has not been implemented. Failure of our operators to comply with the new regulations
could have an adverse impact the operations and financial condition of our operators, which in turn may adversely impact us.

Skilled Nursing - In August 2018, CMS adopted a revised methodology used to compensate SNFs for therapy services, which
changes the core basis of reimbursement from duration of services provided to reimbursement based on anticipated patient
needs; these changes took effect on October 1, 2019. A SNF operator’s ability to conform to these changes could positively or
negatively impact the facility’s revenue, which in turn, may impact us.

Medicaid Reimbursement

Medicaid is also a significant payor source for our SNFs and hospitals. The federal and state governments share responsibility
for financing Medicaid. Within certain federal guidelines, states have a fairly wide range of discretion to determine Medicaid
eligibility and reimbursement methodology. In recent years, CMS embraced a more flexible approach to state amendments and
waivers that allow states even more latitude to determine eligibility and reimbursement. Certain states are attempting to slow the
rate of growth in Medicaid expenditures by freezing rates or restricting eligibility and benefits; some states have elected not to
expand their Medicaid eligibility criteria pursuant to the ACA. Some states have pursued block grant arrangements with CMS,
which cap overall federal financial participation, and incentivize the state to reduce Medicaid expenditures. Some states are
transitioning their Medicaid programs to managed care models, which rely on networks of contracted providers to provide
services at reduced negotiated rates to a higher volume of patients than they might see absent the contract. Such changes may
reduce the volume of Medicaid patients at facilities that do not participate in the managed care plan’s network. Facilities that do
participate may not receive a sufficient increase in patient volume to offset their lowered reimbursement rates. The new
Administration may seek to revisit some of these flexibilities and trends, which could further disrupt state Medicaid regimes and
adversely affect providers. In some states, our tenants and operators could experience delayed or reduced payment for services
furnished to Medicaid enrollees, which in turn may adversely impact us. Further, as noted above, ongoing litigation regarding the
ACA and Medicaid waivers may also affect Medicaid coverage and reimbursement.

Licensure, CON, Certification and Accreditation

Hospitals, SNFs, seniors housing facilities and other healthcare providers that operate healthcare properties in our portfolio may
be subject to extensive state licensing and certificate of need, or CON, laws and regulations, which may restrict the ability of our
operators to add new properties, expand an existing facility’s size or services, or transfer responsibility for operating a particular
facility to a new operator. The failure of our tenants or managers to obtain, maintain or comply with any required license, CON
or other certification, accreditation or regulatory approval (which could be required as a condition of third-party payor
reimbursement) could result in loss of licensure, loss of certification or accreditation, denial of reimbursement, imposition of
civil and/or criminal penalties and fines, suspension or exclusion from federal and state healthcare programs or closure of the
facility, any of which could have an adverse effect on our operations and financial condition.
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Health Information Privacy and Security

Healthcare providers, including those in our portfolio, are subject to numerous state and federal laws that protect the privacy and
security of patient health information. The federal government, in particular, has significantly increased its enforcement of these
laws. The failure of our operators and managers to maintain compliance with privacy and security laws could result in the
imposition of penalties and fines, which in turn may adversely impact us.

COVID-19 Pandemic

A variety of federal, state and local government efforts have been initiated in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. At the
federal level, Congress has enacted a series of emergency stimulus packages, including the CARES Act and the Paycheck
Protection Program and Health Care Enhancement Act to provide economic stimulus to individuals and businesses impacted by
the COVID-19 pandemic. The CARES Act includes provisions reimbursing eligible health care providers that provide
diagnoses, testing or care for individuals with possible or actual cases of COVID-19 for certain health care-related expenses or
lost revenues not otherwise reimbursed that are directly attributable to COVID-19 through the DHHS Provider Relief Fund.
Recipients must satisfy reporting obligations and attest to terms and conditions. The DHHS will have significant anti-fraud
monitoring of the funds distributed and is posting a public list of providers and their payments.

The CARES Act and other relief legislation includes provisions designed to boost Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement for
COVID-19 related services, and the CARES Act also temporarily suspended certain Medicare payment policies that reduce
reimbursement. The Families First Coronavirus Response Act provided a temporary increase in the Federal Medical Assistance
Percentage effective January 1, 2020 and lasting through the last day of the calendar quarter in which the public health
emergency terminates. In addition, a portion of the available funding is being distributed to reimburse health care providers that
submit claims requests for COVID-19-related treatment of uninsured patients at Medicare rates.

On March 28, 2020, CMS expanded the existing Accelerated and Advance Payments Program, or the Program, to a broader
group of Medicare Part A providers and Part B suppliers. An accelerated or advance payment is a payment intended to provide
necessary funds when there is a disruption in claims submission and/or claims processing. The CARES Act provided additional
benefits and flexibilities, including extended repayment timeframes, for payments received pursuant to the Program. CMS and
state and local government agencies have also passed measures allowing for flexibility in delivery of care. It is unclear whether
these flexibilities will maintain after the termination of the public health emergency.

The failure of our operators and managers to maintain compliance with the terms of applicable stimulus relief could result in the
imposition of recoupment or other penalties, which in turn may adversely impact us.

Investment Company Act

We believe that we are not, and intend to conduct our operations so as not to become, regulated as an investment company under
the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, or the Investment Company Act. We have relied, and intend to continue to
rely, on current interpretations of the staff of the SEC in an effort to continue to qualify for an exemption from registration under
the Investment Company Act. For more information on the exemptions that we use, refer to “Risk Factors—Risks Related to
Regulatory Matters and Our REIT Tax Status—Maintenance of our Investment Company Act exemption imposes limits on our
operations.”

For additional information regarding regulations applicable to us, refer to below and “Risk Factors” in our 2020 Form 10-K.

Human Capital

As of December 31, 2020, we had no employees. Our Advisor or its affiliates provide management, acquisition, advisory,
marketing, investor relations and certain administrative services for us.

Independent Directors’ Review of Our Policies

As required by our charter, our independent directors have reviewed our policies, including but not limited to our policies
regarding investments, leverage, conflicts of interest and investment allocation and determined that they are in the best interests
of our stockholders.

Corporate Governance and Internet Address

We emphasize the importance of professional business conduct and ethics through our corporate governance initiatives. Our
board of directors consists of a majority of independent directors. The audit committee of our board of directors is composed
exclusively of independent directors. We have adopted corporate governance guidelines and a code of ethics, which delineate
our standards for our officers and directors.
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Our internet address is www.northstarhealthcarereit.com. The information on our website is not incorporated by reference in
this Annual Report. We make available, free of charge through a link on our website, our annual reports on Form 10-K,
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to such reports, if any, as filed or furnished with
the SEC, as soon as reasonably practicable after such filing or furnishing. Our site also contains our code of ethics, corporate
governance guidelines and our audit committee charter. Within the time period required by the rules of the SEC, we will post on
our website any amendment to our code of ethics or any waiver applicable to any of our directors, executive officers or senior
financial officers.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY AND RELATED STOCKHOLDERS MATTERS

Market Information

We completed our Offering on January 19, 2016. All of the shares initially registered in the Offering were issued. There is no
established public trading market for our shares of common stock. We do not expect that our shares will be listed for trading on
a national securities exchange in the near future, if ever. Our board of directors will determine when, and if, to apply to have our
shares of common stock listed for trading on a national securities exchange, subject to satisfying existing listing requirements.
Our board of directors does not have a stated term for evaluating a listing on a national securities exchange as we believe setting
a finite date for a possible, but uncertain future liquidity transaction may result in actions that are not necessarily in the best
interest or within the expectations of our stockholders.

In order for members of FINRA and their associated persons to have participated in the offering and sale of our shares of
common stock or to participate in any future offering of our shares of common stock, we are required, pursuant to FINRA Rule
2310, to disclose in each Annual Report distributed to our stockholders a per share estimated value of our shares of common
stock, the method by which it was developed and the date of the data used to develop the estimated value. In addition, our
Advisor must prepare annual statements of estimated share values to assist fiduciaries of retirement plans subject to the annual
reporting requirements of ERISA in the preparation of their reports relating to an investment in our shares of common stock.

On December 21, 2020, upon the recommendation of the audit committee of our board of directors, our board of directors,
including all of our independent directors, approved and established an estimated value per share of our common stock of $3.89
as of June 30, 2020, or the Valuation Date. The estimated value per share is based upon the estimated value of our assets less the
estimated value of our liabilities, divided by the number of shares of our common stock outstanding, in each case as of the
Valuation Date. The information used to generate the estimated value per share, including market information, investment- and
property-level data and other information provided by third parties, was the most recent information practically available as of
the Valuation Date.

As of the Valuation Date, (i) the estimated value of our healthcare real estate properties was $1.60 billion, compared with an
aggregate cost, including purchase price, deferred costs and other assets, of $2.16 billion, (ii) the estimated value of our
healthcare real estate investments held through unconsolidated joint ventures was $389.3 million, compared with an aggregate
equity contribution, including subsequent capital contributions, of $511.1 million, (iii) the estimated value of our healthcare-
related commercial real estate debt investment was $74.2 million, equal to the aggregate outstanding principal amount of
$74.2 million, and (iv) the estimated value of our healthcare real estate liabilities was $1.40 billion, compared with an aggregate
outstanding principal amount of $1.48 billion.

For additional information on the methodology used in calculating our estimated value per share as of June 30, 2020, refer to our
Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 22, 2020.

It is currently anticipated that our next estimated value per share will be based upon our assets and liabilities as of June 30, 2021
and such value will be included in a Current Report on Form 8-K or such other filing with the SEC. We intend to continue to
publish an updated estimated value per share annually.

Stockholders

As of March 18, 2021, we had 37,378 stockholders of record.
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Distributions

We did not declare any distributions to stockholders during the year ended December 31, 2020. The following table summarizes
distributions declared for the years endedff December 31, 2019 and 2018 (dollars in thousands):

Distributions(1)

Period Cash DRP Total

2019

First Quarter $ 2,991 $ 2,422 $ 5,413

Second Quarter — — —

Third Quarter — — —

Fourth Quarter — — —

Total $ 2,991 $ 2,422 $ 5,413

2018

First Quarter $ 7,684 $ 7,876 $ 15,560

Second Quarter 8,028 7,722 15,750

Third Quarter 8,374 7,567 15,941

Fourth Quarter 8,653 7,352 16,005

Total $ 32,739 $ 30,517 $ 63,256
_________________________________________________
(1) Represents distributions declared for such period, even though such distributions are actually paid to stockholders the month following such period.ff

Distribution Reinvestment Plan

We adopted our DRP through which common stockholders may elect to reinvest an amount equal to the distributions declared on
their shares in additional shares of our common stock in lieu of receiving cash distributions. The purchase price per share under
our initial DRP was $9.50. In connection with its determination of the offering price for shares of our common stock in ourff
follow-on offering, the board of directors determined that distributions may be reinvested in shares of our common stock at a
price of $9.69 per share, which was approximately 95% of the offering price of $10.20 per share established for purposes of our
follow-on offering. In April 2016 and effective through January 31, 2019, the board of directors determined that distributions
may be reinvested in shares of the Company’s common stock at a price equal to the most recent estimated value per share of the
shares of common stock. The following table presents the price at which dividends were invested based on when the price
became effective:

Effective Date
Estimated Value
per Share Valuation Date

April 2016 $ 8.63 12/31/2015
December 2016 9.10 6/30/2016
December 2017 8.50 6/30/2017
December 2018 7.10 6/30/2018
December 2019 6.25 6/30/2019
December 2020 3.89 6/30/2020

No selling commissions or dealer manager feeff s were paid on shares issued pursuant to our DRP. Our board of directors may
amend or terminate our DRP for any reason upon ten-daysff ’ notice to participants, except that we may not amend our DRP to
eliminate a participant’s ability to withdraw from our DRP.ff

We registered an additional 30.0 million shares to be offered pursuant to our DRP beyond the completion of our Offering,
although we suspended payment of monthly distributions to stockholders on February 1, 2019.

For the period from April 5, 2013 through December 31, 2020, we issued 25.7 million shares totaling $232.6 million of gross
offering proceeds pursuant to our DRP.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers

We adopted our Share Repurchase Program effective August 7, 2012 which enabled stockholders to sell their shares to us in
limited circumstances. On April 7, 2020, our board of directors determined to suspend all repurchases under our Share
Repurchase Program effectiveff April 30, 2020 in order to preserve capitaa l and liquidity.
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We are not obligated to repurchase shares under our Share Repurchase Program when our Share Repurchase Program is in
effect. Our board of directors may, in its sole discretion, amend, suspend or terminate our Share Repurchase Program at any
time provided that any amendment that adversely affects the rights or obligations of a participant (as determined in the sole
discretion of our board of directors) will only take effect upon ten days’ prior written notice except that changes in the number of
shares that can be repurchased during any calendar yead r will take effect only upon ten business days’ prior written notice. In
addition, our Share Repurchase Program will terminate in the event a secondary market develops for our shares or if our shares
are listed on a national exchange or included for quotation inff a national securities market.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, we repurchased shares of our common stock as follows:ff

Period

Total Number
of Shares
Purchased

Average Price
Paid Per
Share

Total Number
of Shares

Purchased as
Part of Publicly
Announced
Plan or
Program

Maximum
Approximate
Dollar Value of
Shares that May

Yet Be
Purchased Under
the Plan or
Program

January 1 to January 31 — — —
February 1 to February 28 319,700 $ 6.25 319,700 (1)

March 1 to March 31 — — —
April 1 to April 30 — — —
May 1 to May 31 — — —
June 1 to June 30 — — —
July 1 to July 30 — — —
August 1 to August 31 — — —
September 1 to September 30 — — —
October 1 to October 31 — — —
November 1 to November 30 11,321 7.10 11,321 (2)

December 1to December 31
Total 331,021 331,021

_______________________________________
(1) In October 2018, our board of directors approved an amended and restated Share Repurchase Program, under which we only repurchased shares in

connection with the death or qualifying disability of a stockholder at a price equal to the lesser of the price paid for the shares, as adjusted for any stock
dividends, combinations, splits, recapitalizations or any similar transactions, or the most recently published estimated value per share.

(2) Shares qualified for repurchase prior to the suspension of the Share Repurchase Program effective April 30, 2020.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Stt ecSS urities

On October 31, 2020 and November 30, 2020, we issued 133,333 shares of common stock at $6.25 per share, respectively, to our
Advisor as part of its asset management fee, pursuant to our advisory agreement. On December 31, 2020, we issued 133,333
shares of common stock at $3.89 per share to our Advisor as part of its asset management fee, pursuant to our advisory
agreement. These shares were issued pursuant to an exemption from registration under Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act forff
transactions not involving a public offering.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The information below should be read in conjunction with “Forward-Looking Statements” in this Annual Report and “Risk
Factors,” in our 2020 Form 10-K, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”
and our consolidated financial statements and the related notes thereto included in “Financial Statements and Supplementary
Data,” included in this Annual Report.

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

(Dollars in thousands, except per share data)
Statements of Operations Data:p
Resident fee income $ 118,126 $ 130,135 $ 129,855 $ 127,180 $ 102,915
Rental income 157,024 161,084 159,481 155,700 132,108
Interest income from debt investments 7,674 7,703 7,706 7,696 17,720
Real estate properties - operating expenses 184,178 181,214 188,761 163,837 129,954
Impairment loss 165,968 27,554 36,277 5,000 —
Total expenses 514,883 381,325 441,934 404,149 334,887
Equity in earnings (losses) of unconsolidated ventures (34,466) (3,545) (33,517) (35,314) (62,175)
Net income (loss) attributable to NorthStar Healthcare Income, Inc. common
stockholders (261,458) (76,960) (151,578) (137,771) (141,275)
Net income (loss) per share of common stock, basic/diluted $ (1.38) $ (0.41) $ (0.81) $ (0.74) $ (0.77)
Distributions declared per share of common stock $ — $ 0.03 $ 0.34 $ 0.68 $ 0.68

As of December 31,
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

(Dollars in thousands)
Balance Sheets Data:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 65,995 $ 41,884 $ 73,811 $ 50,046 $ 223,102
Operating real estate, net 1,483,930 1,700,218 1,778,914 1,852,428 1,571,980
Investments in unconsolidated ventures 229,173 268,894 264,319 325,582 360,534
Real estate debt investments, net 55,864 55,468 58,600 74,650 74,558
Total assets 1,918,436 2,141,207 2,264,416 2,998,753 2,958,209
Mortgage and other notes payable, net 1,416,871 1,431,922 1,466,349 1,487,480 1,200,982
Due to related party 8,318 5,780 5,675 1,046 219
Total liabilities 1,506,374 1,473,703 1,520,042 2,053,954 1,766,235
Total equity 412,062 667,504 744,374 944,799 1,191,974

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

(Dollars in thousands)
Other Data:
Cash flow provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 31,018 $ 25,298 $ 27,986 $ 10,129 $ 5,376
Investing activities (8,415) (4,287) 73,948 (314,394) (60,355)
Financing activities 12,147 (56,699) (87,914) 132,861 (62,970)
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in
“Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” and the risk factors in “Risk Factors” of our 2020 Form 10-K. References to
“we,” “us,” “our,” or “NorthStar Healthcare” refer to NorthStar Healthcare Income, Inc. and its subsidiaries unless the context
specifically requires otherwise.

Introduction

We have invested in independent living facilities, or ILFs, assisted living facilities, or ALFs, memory care facilities, or MCFs,
continuing care retirement communities, or CCRCs, which we collectively refer to as seniors housing facilities, skilled nursing
facilities, or SNFs, medical office buildings, or MOBs, and hospitals.

Our primary investment segments are as follows:

• Direct Investments - Net Lease - Healthcare properties operated under net leases with an operator.

• Direct Investments - Operating - Healthcare properties operated pursuant to management agreements with healthcare
managers.

• Unconsolidated Investments - Healthcare joint ventures, including properties operated under net leases with operators
or pursuant to management agreements with healthcare managers, in which we own a minority interest.

• Debt and Securities Investments - Mortgage loans or mezzanine loans to owners of healthcare real estate and
commercial mortgage backed securities, or CMBS, backed primarily by loans secured by healthcare properties.

For information regarding our investments as of December 31, 2020, refer to “Our Investments” included in “Business” in this
Annual Report.

Significant Developments

COVID-19

Beginning in March 2020, the coronavirus 2019, or COVID-19, pandemic began to impact NorthStar Healthcare and its
communities. As residents of our communities are older and often suffer from chronic medical conditions, they are at
disproportionately higher risk of hospitalization and adverse outcomes if they contract COVID-19. Our managers and operators
have reported that the vast majority of communities in our direct and unconsolidated investments have experienced confirmed
cases of COVID-19 amongst residents or staff. In some instances, confirmed cases of COVID-19 have resulted in deaths of
residents and staff at the communities within our direct and unconsolidated investments. The incidence of confirmed cases in
our portfolio may continue and could accelerate depending on the duration, scope and depth of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Our first priority continues to be the health and safety of the residents and staff at our communities and we remain focused on
supporting our managers and operators. At the same time, we are actively managing capital needs and liquidity to mitigate the
financial impact of COVID-19 on our business and preserve long-term value for our stockholders.

Operating Performance

The COVID-19 pandemic has affected the fundamentals of our business in the following ways:

• Our occupancy across our direct investments was 71.8% as of March 18, 2021, a 9.4% decline since March 31, 2020.
We anticipate that our occupancy will continue to be impacted by restrictions on admissions and limited inquiries and
tours, which have significantly decreased the number of move-ins at our direct investments. We may also continue to
experience increased resident illnesses and move-outs due to the pandemic. Our direct operating investments have not
yet experienced any significant issues collecting rents or other fees from residents as a result of COVID-19.

• Operating costs have continued to rise as operators take action to protect residents and staff. In particular, operators
are paying a premium for labor in many markets, particularly in communities that have been severely impacted by
COVID-19. In addition, personal protective equipment continues to be costly to source during the pandemic. For the
year ended December 31, 2020, additional operating expenses incurred as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic totaled
approximately $9.9 million for the communities in our direct operating investments. We expect these expenses to
continue to be incurred.

20



• To mitigate the negative financial impact of the COVID-19, we applied for grants under the Provider Relief Fund
administered by the U.S Department of Health & Human Services, or DHHS. During the year ended December 31,
2020, we recognized $1.8 million of COVID-19 provider relief grant income. Provided that we attest to and comply
with certain terms and conditions of the grants, we will not be required to repay these grants in the future.

• During the year ended December 31, 2020, we recorded impairment losses totaling $166.0 million on our direct
investments. Further, the underlying joint ventures of our unconsolidated ventures have recorded impairments, of
which our proportionate share totaled $38.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2020. Impairment losses have
resulted from lower projected future cash flows and market values as a result of the economic effects of COVID-19, as
well as shortened holding period assumptions.

Liquidity

We have taken a number of steps to improve liquidity and preserve flexibility in light of the uncertainty surrounding the
financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.

• In April 2020, we borrowed $35.0 million under our revolving line of credit from an affiliate of our Sponsor, or the
Sponsor Line.

• Effective April 30, 2020, we suspended all repurchases of shares under our share repurchase program, or our Share
Repurchase Program.

• Effective May 1, 2020, we entered into forbearance agreements and deferred 90 days of contractual debt service for
borrowings on properties within the Aqua, Fountains, Arbors, Rochester and Winterfell portfolios. The aggregate
outstanding principal amount of these borrowings totaled $1.3 billion as of December 31, 2020. The deferred debt
service must be repaid over the 12 months following the forbearance period with no additional interest or penalties
incurred, subject to satisfaction of certain conditions. As of March 18, 2021, deferred debt service totaled
$4.9 million.

• Further, effective July 1, 2020, we entered into a forbearance agreement to defer up to 90 days of interest payments
and 120 days of principal payments and temporarily waive financial covenants under the mortgage note for a mortgage
note payable on a property within the Rochester portfolio. The outstanding principal amount of the mortgage note
payable totaled $19.9 million as of December 31, 2020. The deferred debt service must be repaid over the 12 months
following the forbearance period with no additional interest or penalties incurred, subject to satisfaction of certain
conditions. As of March 18, 2021, deferred debt service totaled $0.4 million.

• At the onset of the pandemic, we limited capital expenditures of our operating real estate to life safety and essential
projects and have now begun selectively approving additional improvements.
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Continuing Impact

We expect that the effects of the pandemic will continue to materially impact revenues, expenses and cash flow generated by
both our operating and net lease direct investments, as well as our unconsolidated investments. At this time, as the extent and
duration of the increasingly broad effects of COVID-19 on the global economy remain unclear, it is difficult to assess and
estimate the impact on our results of operations with any meaningful precision. Accordingly, any estimates of the effects of
COVID-19 as reflected and/or discussed are based upon our best estimates using information known to us as of the date of this
Annual Report, and such estimates may change in the future, the effects of which could be material.

The future impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our operational and financial performance will depend on a variety of factors,
which may differ considerably across regions and fluctuate over time. These factors include, but are not limited to, the
following:

• the availability and effective distribution of vaccines for the virus;

• the rate of acceptance of available vaccines for not only residents and staff at our communities, but also the general
public; and

• the extent and timing of government restrictions being scaled back and lifted;

The communities of our direct investments and unconsolidated investments have begun hosting clinics to administer the
COVID-19 vaccine. Within our direct investments, the rate of acceptance amongst residents has exceeded 90% and our
managers and operators continue educate and encourage participation amongst their staff. Decreases in infection and
transmission rates within our communities will help to reduce preventative operating costs that continue to be incurred.
Further, we are encouraged by recent guidance from state and local governments and the resumption of normal business
operations in many municipalities. We continue to see demand and lead generation for our communities and remain optimistic
on the long-term outlook for the seniors housing industry.

Performance summary for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2019

On a same store basis, rental and resident fee income, net of property operating expenses, of our direct operating investments
decreased to $68.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as compared to $76.6 million for the year ended
December 31, 2019. This was due to lower resident fee and rental income resulting from lower occupancy due to the
aforementioned effects of COVID-19. Additionally, we incurred $9.9 million of COVID-19 related expenses for the year
ended December 31, 2020, which were partially offset by $1.8 million of COVID-19 provider relief grant income.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, our direct operating investments’ weighted average resident occupancy was 77.4%
as compared to 81.6% for the year ended December 31, 2019.

• Our operating portfolios managed by Watermark Retirement Communities had an overall average occupancy of 77.6%
for the year ended December 31, 2020, a decrease from 83.5% for the year ended December 31, 2019.

• Our Winterfell portfolio’s average occupancy was 76.6% for the year ended December 31, 2020, a decrease from
79.8% for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Overall, our unconsolidated investment portfolios experienced similar operational challenges presented by the COVID-19
pandemic as our direct operating investments, which resulted in a decrease in equity in earnings for the year ended
December 31, 2020 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2019.

Distributions from our unconsolidated investments continued to be limited during the year ended December 31, 2020 by
reinvestment and development in the Trilogy and Diversified US/UK (formerly Griffin-American) joint ventures and working
capital needs for the Espresso joint venture, which negatively impacted our liquidity position. During the year ended
December 31, 2020 we received distributions from our unconsolidated investments totaling $5.9 million as compared $35.9
million during the year ended December 31, 2019. Distributions received during the year ended December 31, 2019 included
our proportionate share of net sales proceeds from assets within the Diversified US/UK (formerly Griffin-American) and Envoy
joint ventures, totaling $16.9 million and $4.3 million, respectively. At this time, we anticipate the impact of COVID-19 will
continue to impact the ability of our unconsolidated ventures to make distributions to partners in the future.

For additional information on financial results, refer to “—Results of Operations.”
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Espresso Mezzanine Loan Debt Investment

Effective December 31, 2020, we executed an amended and restated loan agreement with the borrower of our mezzanine loan
debt investment. The terms set forth under the amended loan agreement include:

• a partial principal repayment totaling $5.0 million upon execution, which was received in January 2021, as well as the
remittance of modification fees upon certain milestones;

• an interest rate of 14.0%, effective February 2021, as well as the accrual of additional payment-in-kind, or PIK,
interest based on outstanding principal balance thresholds;

• periodic principal repayments from the borrower’s available cash flow; and

• an extension of the loan’s maturity through January 2022.

Recent Developments

The following is a discussion of material events which have occurred subsequent to December 31, 2020 through March 18, 2021.

Borrowings

In January 2021, we refinanced an existing $18.7 million note payable, collateralized by a property within the Aqua portfolio,
with a $26.0 million mortgage note payable. The new mortgage note carries a fixed interest rate of 3.0% through February 2024
and has an initial maturity date of February 2026.

In January 2021, we extended the maturity date of note payable for a property within the Aqua portfolio from February 2021 to
April 2021. The outstanding principal amount of the mortgage note payable was $20.2 million as of December 31, 2020.

Real Estate Debt Investments

From January 1, 2021 through March 18, 2021, we have received principal repayments on our mezzanine loan debt investment
which total $24.9 million. The borrower funded these principal repayments through net proceeds generated from the sale of
underlying collateral and available operating cash flow.

COVID-19 Provider Relief Funding

In January 2021, the Company’s direct operating investments received $6.8 million in grants from DHHS under the Provider
Relief Fund. These grants are intended to mitigate the negative financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic as reimbursements
for expenses incurred to prevent, prepare for and respond to COVID-19 and lost revenues attributable to COVID-19 by our
direct operating investments. Provided that we attest to and comply with certain terms and conditions of the grants, we will not
be required to repay these grants in the future.

Outlook and Recent Trends

COVID-19

The healthcare real estate sector, which includes hospitals, skilled nursing, assisted living, and congregate living communities,
has been significantly impacted by the effects of COVID-19, while continuing to operate during the pandemic. The Centers for
Disease Control and Prevention has stated that older adults are at a higher risk for serious illness from COVID-19 and
healthcare communities have continued to care for those most affected by COVID-19 amidst challenges sourcing materials and
resources. Operating results have been, and will continue to be impacted to the extent that the virus’ continued spread reduces
occupancy, results in quarantines for residents or bans on admissions, reduces the ability to continue to obtain necessary goods
and provide adequate staffing or increases the cost burdens faced by operators. This may result in sustained industry declines in
resident occupancy and operating cash flows, compressed operating margins and a stressed market affecting healthcare real
estate values in general.

During the fourth quarter of 2020, the seniors housing industry occupancy averaged 80.7% (source: The National Investment
Centers for Seniors Housing & Care, or NIC). Industry occupancy averages have declined three straight quarters since the first
quarter of 2020 as move-in/move-out trends continue to be negatively impacted by the pandemic. Further declines in average
industry occupancy may continue as the effects of the pandemic persist in 2021.

The extent to which COVID-19 continues to impact the healthcare real estate sector will depend on future developments, which
are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence, including, but not limited to, the duration of the outbreak, the
availability and ability to distribute effective vaccines, new information that may emerge concerning the severity of COVID-19
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and the actions taken to contain COVID-19 or treat its impact. Guidelines for easing social distancing will further impact how
the industry will resume and trend back to operating without restrictions. The healthcare sector is expected to be the last to
resume normal operations, including allowing normal visitation, touring of the communities, in an effort to protect the most
vulnerable. Federal and state government plans may shift through the coming months as guidelines are very specific and may
be unpredictable if the outbreak surges again.

In March 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, or the CARES Act, was signed into law. The CARES
Act provides $100 billion in grants to eligible health care providers for health care related expenses or lost revenues that are
attributable to COVID-19. Beginning September 2020, licensed assisted living providers became eligible to apply for funding
under the Provider Relief Fund Phase 2 General Distribution allocation.

In April 2020, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, or CMS, announced the distribution of $30 billion in funds to
Medicare providers based upon their 2019 Medicare fee for service revenues. In addition, the DHHS authorized $20 billion of
additional funding for providers. While these funds most significantly impact SNF operators, Congress continues to consider
further legislative action in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Operators continue to evaluate their options for financial assistance, such as utilizing programs within the CARES Act as well
as other state and local government relief programs. However, the ultimate impact of such relief, including the extent to which
relief funds from such programs will provide meaningful support for lost revenue and increasing costs, is uncertain.

Healthcare Real Estate

The healthcare industry is one of the largest segments of the U.S. economy (approximately 18% of the gross domestic product,
or GDP). Total U.S. healthcare expenditure in the sector is about $4 trillion, with hospital care, physician services and
prescription drugs accounting for 60% of that total. One of the most prevalent trends that will impact the healthcare industry
over the next 20+ years is the aging of the U.S. population, primarily as baby boomers (born between 1946-64) reach 75 years
of age and older. According to the U.S. Census Bureau, from 2018 through 2060, seniors aged 75 and older are projected to
more than double in size, reaching just over 50 million people (+130% increase from 2018). Additionally, with an increase in
the elderly population, healthcare expenditure will continue to outgrow the broader U.S. economy, which continues to push up
its share of total U.S. GDP. Healthcare spending in the United States is projected to grow at an average rate of 5.5% over the
next 10 years and increase from $3.6 trillion in 2018 to $6.0 trillion in 2027 (source: CMS). As healthcare costs increase,
insurers, individuals and the U.S. government are pursuing lower cost options for healthcare. Seniors housing facilities and
SNFs are generally more cost effective than higher acuity healthcare settings, such as short or long-term acute-care hospitals,
in-patient rehabilitation facilities and other post-acute care settings.

Seniors Housing

Notwithstanding the demographics and forecasted spending growth, economic and healthcare market uncertainty, development,
and competitive pressures have had a negative impact on the seniors housing industry, weakening the market’s fundamentals
and ultimately reducing operating income for tenants and operators.

Supply growth, which has outpaced demand, has challenged the seniors housing industry over the past several years. New
inventory, coupled with the average move-in age of seniors housing residents increasing over time, has resulted in declining
occupancy for the industry on average. Further, to remain competitive with the new supply, owners and operators of older
facilities have increased capital expenditure spending, which in turn has negatively affected cash flow. While off its peak of
7.7% in the fourth quarter of 2017, seniors housing under construction as a share of inventory was 5.5% in the fourth quarter of
2020 (source: NIC). It is expected that development starts will be limited in the short-term future, in part due to the disruption
caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, however, as demographics and demand continues to increase long-term, supply growth
will follow.

As a result of increased supply, the seniors housing industry has experienced competitive pressures that have limited rent
growth over the past several years. Average market rent growth reached its peak of 4.2% in 2016 and has since declined to
1.4% as of the fourth quarter of 2020, with pressures caused by the COVID-19 pandemic contributing to the decline (source:
NIC). Limited future supply growth and reestablishing normal operations in a post-pandemic environment will be factors in
achieving near and long term revenue growth for the industry.

Further, prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, a tight labor market and competition to attract quality staff had resulted in increased
wages and personnel costs, resulting in lower margins. The COVID-19 pandemic has further exacerbated operating expense
growth, with increased staffing needs and personal protective equipment requirements. While it is expected that the increases
in expenses to combat the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic will be temporary, wage and benefits increases may continue to
impact the industry’s margins in the future, as labor represents 60% of the seniors housing industry’s operating expenses
(source: Green Street).
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Skilled Nursing

While generally impacted by the same conditions as the seniors housing industry, SNF operators are currently facing various
operational, reimbursement, legal and regulatory challenges. Increased wages and labor costs, narrowing of referral networks,
shorter lengths of stay, staffing shortages, expenses associated with increased government investigations, enforcement
proceedings and legal actions related to professional and general liability claims have contributed to compressed margins and
declines in cash flow.

SNF operators receive a majority of their revenues from governmental payors, primarily Medicare and Medicaid. With a
dependence on government reimbursement as the primary source of their revenues, SNF operators are also subject to intensified
efforts to impose pricing pressures and more stringent cost controls, through value-based payments, managed care and similar
programs, which could result in lower daily reimbursement rates, lower lease coverage, decreased occupancy and declining
operating margins, liquidity and financial conditions.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States, or U.S. GAAP, which requires the use of estimates and assumptions that involve the exercise of judgment and that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period.

Certain accounting policies are considered to be critical accounting policies. Critical accounting policies are those that are most
important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of operations and require management’s subjective and complex
judgments, and for which the impact of changes in estimates and assumptions could have a material effect on our financial
statements. We believe that all of the decisions and assessments upon which our financial statements are based were reasonable
at the time made, based upon information available to us at that time.

For a summary of our accounting policies, refer to Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” in our accompanying
consolidated financial statements included in “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”

We highlight below accounting estimates that we believe are critical based on the nature of our operations and/or require
significant management judgment and assumptions.

• Impairments, including operating real estate and goodwill.

Our investments are reviewed on a quarterly basis, or more frequently as necessary, to assess whether there are any indicators
that the value of our investments may be impaired or that carrying value may not be recoverable. In conducting these reviews,
we consider macroeconomic factors, including healthcare sector conditions, together with asset and market specific
circumstance, among other factors. To the extent an impairment has occurred, the loss will be measured as compared to the
carrying amount of the investment.

We have considered the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the future net operating income of our healthcare real
estate held for investment as an indicator of impairment. Fair values were estimated based upon the income capitalization
approach, using net operating income for each property and applying indicative capitalization and discount rates.

We perform an annual impairment test for goodwill and evaluate the recoverability whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of goodwill may not be fully recoverable. In making such assessment, qualitative
factors are used to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying
value. If the estimated fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value, then an impairment charge is recorded.

Impairment

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we recorded impairment losses totaling $166.0 million on our operating real estate
and held for sale investments. Impairment losses recorded during the year ended December 31, 2020 include the following:

• Winterfell Portfolio. Impairment losses totaled $84.9 million for nine independent living facilities which have lower
projected future cash flows as a result of sustained declines in occupancy and decreased operating margins.

• Aqua Portfolio. Impairment losses totaled $19.9 million for a facility that has sustained poor performance, declines in
occupancy and has been significantly impacted by the effects of COVID-19.

• Fountains Portfolio. Impairment losses totaled $42.7 million for five facilities that have been significantly impacted
by the effects of COVID-19, resulting in lower projected future cash flows.
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• Rochester Portfolio. Impairment losses totaled $12.5 million for two facilities that have sustained poor performance,
declines in occupancy and decreased operating margins.

• Avamere Portfolio. Impairment losses totaled $4.2 million for a facility that has sustained poor performance, declines
in occupancy and decreased operating margins.

• Assets held for sale or sold. Impairment losses totaled $1.8 million to reflect net realizable values for properties sold
or designated as held for sale during the year ended December 31, 2020.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we tested our goodwill for impairment. The accounting guidance under Accounting
Standards Codification 350-20 requires that any assets in the reporting unit of goodwill that are subject to impairment testing be
evaluated prior to testing the goodwill of the reporting unit for impairment. As a result of impairment recorded on the operating
real estate of the goodwill reporting unit during the year ended December 31, 2020, we concluded that the fair value of its
goodwill reporting unit remains greater than its carrying value and have not impaired goodwill as of December 31, 2020. We
utilized future net cash flows expected to be generated by the properties in a discounted cash flow analysis using terminal
capitalization rates ranging from 6.50% to 7.75% and discount rates ranging from 7.75% to 9.25%.

As of December 31, 2019, we had accumulated impairment losses of $49.7 million for operating real estate that we continue to
hold as of December 31, 2020. Refer to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 for
additional information regarding impairment recorded in prior years.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we did not impair any of our investments in unconsolidated ventures, however, our
underlying joint ventures have recorded impairments and reserves on properties in their respective portfolios, which have been
recognized through our equity in earnings (losses), of which our proportionate share totaled $38.2 million. Our proportionate
share of impairment losses recorded by our underlying joint ventures during the year ended December 31, 2020 include the
following:

• Diversified US/UK (formerly Griffin-American) Portfolio. Impairment losses totaled $34.4 million. Operating real
estate impairment resulted from shortened holding period assumptions and lower projected future cash flows and
market values as a result of the economic effects of COVID-19.

• Eclipse Portfolio. Impairment losses totaled $3.2 million. Operating real estate impairment resulted from lower
projected market values as a result of the economic effects of COVID-19.

• Trilogy Portfolio. Impairment losses totaled $0.6 million.

Due to uncertainties over the extent and duration of the economic fallout from the COVID-19 pandemic, at this time, it is
difficult to assess and estimate the further economic effects of COVID-19 with any meaningful precision. As the actual impact
of COVID-19 will depend on many factors beyond our control and knowledge, the resulting effect on impairment of our
operating real estate, investments in unconsolidated ventures and goodwill may materially differ from our current expectations
and further impairment charges may be recorded in the future.

Results of Operations

Impact of COVID-19

Efforts to address the COVID-19 pandemic continue to significantly impact economic and financial markets globally and across
all facets of industries, including real estate. Specifically, our healthcare real estate business and investments have experienced
a myriad of challenges, including, but not limited to, limited admissions at facilities, resulting in declines in resident occupancy
and operating cash flows, increases in cost burdens faced by operators, lease concessions sought by tenants, and a stressed
market affecting real estate values in general.

Most of these COVID-19 effects on our business began significantly impacting our results of operations during the three
months ended June 30, 2020, and we anticipate the significant effects to continue in future periods. If a general economic
downturn resulting from efforts to contain COVID-19 persists over an extended period of time, this could have a prolonged
negative impact on our financial condition and results of operations. We continue to monitor the progression of COVID-19 and
its effects on our results of operations and recoverability in value across our assets as conditions change.
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Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2020 to December 31, 2019 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2020 2019 Amount %

Property and other revenues
Resident fee income $ 118,126 $ 130,135 $ (12,009) (9.2)%
Rental income 157,024 161,084 (4,060) (2.5)%
Other revenue 198 1,959 (1,761) (89.9)%
Total property and other revenues 275,348 293,178 (17,830) (6.1)%

Interest income
Interest income on debt investments 7,674 7,703 (29) (0.4)%

Expenses
Real estate properties - operating expenses 184,178 181,214 2,964 1.6 %
Interest expense 65,991 68,896 (2,905) (4.2)%
Transaction costs 65 122 (57) (46.7)%
Asset management and other fees-related party 17,170 19,789 (2,619) (13.2)%
General and administrative expenses 16,505 12,761 3,744 29.3 %
Depreciation and amortization 65,006 70,989 (5,983) (8.4)%
Impairment loss 165,968 27,554 138,414 502.3 %
Total expenses 514,883 381,325 133,558 35.0 %

Other income 1,840 — 1,840 100.0 %
Realized gain (loss) on investments and other 302 6,314 (6,012) (95.2)%
Equity in earnings (losses) of unconsolidated ventures (34,466) (3,545) (30,921) 872.2 %
Income tax expense (53) (75) 22 (29.3)%
Net income (loss) $ (264,238) $ (77,750) $ (186,488) 239.9 %

Resident Fee IncomeII

The following table presents resident fee income generated by our direct investments (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2020 2019 Amount %

Same store ALF/MCF/CCRC properties (placed in service - 2018 and prior) $ 118,126 $ 130,135 $ (12,009) (9.2)%

On a same store basis, resident fee income decreased $12.0 million primarily as a result of lower occupancy at our ALFs, MCFs
and CCRCs during the yead r ended December 31, 2020 and non-recurring income recognized in the Fountains portfolio during
the year ended December 31, 2019. The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic resulted in limited inquiries and tours, which have
significantly decreased the number of move-ins at our facilities, along with an increased number of move-outs.

Rental Income

The following tabla e presents rental income generated by our direct investments (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2020 2019 Amount %

Same store ILF properties (placed in service - 2018 and prior) $ 124,125 $ 127,660 $ (3,535) (2.8)%
Same store net lease properties (placed in service - 2018 and prior) 32,899 32,826 73 0.2 %
Properties sold — 598 (598) (100.0)%
Total rental income $ 157,024 $ 161,084 $ (4,060) (2.5)%

Rental income decreased $4.1 million primarily due to overall decreases in occupancu y at our ILFs and the sale of a net lease
property during 2019. The effectd s of the COVID-19 pandemic resulted in limited inquiries and tours, which have significantly
decreased the number of move-ins at our facilities, along with an increased number of move-outs.
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Effective June 1, 2020, we granted a lease concession to the operator of our Fountains net lease portfolio. The concession
allowed the operator to defer a portion of contractual rent payments forff a 90-day period, with full contractual rent to be repaid
over the 12 months following the concession period. The amount of the deferred rental payments under the lease concession
totaled $3.9 million. The lease concession period ended on August 31, 2020 and the operator has resumed remitting contractual
rent payments, including amounts related to deferred rent granted under the lease concession. As there were no substantive
changes to the original lease or changes in total cash flows, the concession was not treated as a lease modification and we
continued to recognize lease income and receivables under the original terms of the lease.

Other Revenue

h dOther revenue decreasedd primarily asrimarily as a r lesult of non-recurring servicof non-recurring service p idrovide ir i incentives recognized by the Winterfellecognized by the Winterfell
portfolio during 2019, as well as loweportfolio during 2019, as well as lowe ir interest earnedd on u ininvestedd cash dh duringuringdd hthe yyear e d dnded bDecember 31, 2020.

Interest Income on Debt Investments

Interest income generated by our one mezzanine loan debt investment during the year ended December 31, 2020 totaled $7.7
million, which was comparable to interest income recognized during yeard ended December 31, 2019.

Real Estate Properties - Operating ExpensesO

The following table presents property operating expenses incurred by our direct investments (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2020 2019 Amount %

Same store (placed in service - 2018 and prior)
ALF/MCF/CCRC properties $ 91,062 $ 94,678 $ (3,616) (3.8)%
ILF properties 83,172 86,526 (3,354) (3.9)%
Net lease properties 13 10 3 30.0 %
COVID-19 related expenses 9,931 — 9,931 NA
Total real estate properties - operating expenses $ 184,178 $ 181,214 $ 2,964 1.6 %

Overall, operating expenses increased $3.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2019. The increase is primarily attributable COVID-19 related expenses, which totaled $9.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2020. These expenses include personal protective equipment for residents and staff as well as wages for
increased staffing and paying a premium for labor in many markets, particularly in communities that have been severely
impacted by COVID-19.

Excluding COVID-19 related expenses, operating expenses decreased $7.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2019, as lower census in our direct investment operating portfolio resulted in lower
utilities and food and beverage costs. Additionally, repairs and maintenance expense was lower year over year, as operators
minimized all non-essential projects across our direct investment operating portfolio in response to COVID-19.

Interest Expense

The following table presents interest expense incurred on our borrowings (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2020 2019 Amount %

Same store (placed in service - 2018 and prior)
ALF/MCF/CCRC properties $ 19,059 $ 20,620 $ (1,561) (7.6)%
ILF properties 34,151 35,740 (1,589) (4.4)%
Net lease properties 11,832 12,187 (355) (2.9)%

Properties sold — 247 (247) (100.0)%
Corporate 949 102 847 830.4 %
Total interest expense $ 65,991 $ 68,896 $ (2,905) (4.2)%

Interest expense decreased $2.9 million as a result of lower mortgage notes balances during the year ended December 31, 2020
due to continued principal amortization and loan payoffs, in addition to lower London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”),
which has reduced d interest expense on our floating rate debt. Interest expense was recognized and accrued for borrowings withff
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deferred payments under forbearance agreements. For the year ended December 31, 2020, corporate interest expense represents
interest resulting fromff the borrowings under our Sponsor Line.

Transaction Costs

Transaction costs for the year ended December 31, 2020 were primarily expenses associated with sales transactions no longer
being pursued. Transaction costs for the year ended December 31, 2019 were primarily residual costs incurred for the
Rochester operator license transfer.

Asset Management and Other FeeFF s - Related Party

Our Advisor receives a monthly asset management fee equal to one-twelfth of 1.5% of our most recently published aggregate
estimated net asset value. Asset management and other feeff s - related party decreased $2.6 million as a result of the declining
estimated net asset value year over year.

General and Administrativdd e ExpensesEE

General and administrative expenses increased $3.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, as compared to the year
ended December 31, 2019, as a result of significant increases to insurance premiums. Further, we incurred non-operating
compensation costs for a property within the Fountains net lease portfolio during the year ended December 31, 2020.

Depreciation and Amortization

The following table presents depreciation and amortization recognized on our direct investments (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2020 2019 Amount %

Same store (placed in service - 2018 and prior)
ALF/MCF/CCRC properties $ 19,899 $ 19,933 $ (34) (0.2)%
ILF properties 30,167 36,727 (6,560) (17.9)%
Net lease properties 14,940 14,226 714 5.0 %

Properties sold — 103 (103) (100.0)%
Total depreciation and amortization $ 65,006 $ 70,989 $ (5,983) (8.4)%

Depreciation and amortization expense decreased $6.0 million, primarily as a result of intangible assets becoming fully
amortized in the Winterfell and Rochester portfolios in 2019. Impairments recognized for properties in the Winterfell and
Aqua portfolios reduced building depreciation expense for the year ended December 31, 2020 and contributed to the overall
decrease.

Impairment Loss

During the year ended December 31, 2020, impairment losses on operating real estate and held for sale assets totaledff
$166.0 million for properties with sustained poor performance, declines in occupancy and operating margins, and which have
been significantly impacted by the effects of COVID-19. Refer to “—Impairment” forff additional discussion.

During the year ended December 31, 2019, impairment losses on operating real estate and held for sale assets totaledff
$27.6 million. Impairment was recognized for two ALFs with sustained low occupancy within the Rochester portfolio, two
poor performing properties within the Kansas City portfolio and a net lease property ct lassified as held for sale.ff

Other Income

h i f hOther income for the yyear e d dnded bDecember 31, 2020 icomprised fd of $ illi$1.8 million i f d l idin federal COVID-19 provider r lielie gf grants
from DHHS. These grants are intended to mitigate the negative financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic as
reimbursements for expenses incurred to prevent, prepare for and respond to COVID-19 and lost revenues attributable to
COVID-19 by our direct operating investments. Provided that we attest to and comply with certain terms and conditions of the
grants, we will not be required to repay these grants in the future.

Realized Gain (Loss) on Is nvestments andII Othertt

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we recognized a $0.3 million gain on the settlement of the share based payment to
our Advisor. During the year ended December 31, 2019, realized gains of $6.3 million were primarily related to the sale of two
net lease properties and two Remainder Interest units in the Fountains portfolio.
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Equity in Ett arnings (Losses) of Unconsolidated VenVV tures

The following tabla e presents the results of our unconsolidated ventures (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
Year Ended
December 31,

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019

Portfolio
Equity in Earnings

(Losses)
Select Revenues and
(Expenses), net(1)

Equity in Earnings,
less Select Revenues
and Expenses Increase (Decrease) Cash Distributions

Eclipse $ (3,774) $ 435 $ (4,769) $ (987) $ 995 $ 1,422 $ (427) (30.0)% $ 86 $ 2,717
Envoy (7) 20 — (892) (7) 912 (919) (100.8)% 390 4,339
Diversified US/UK
(formerly Griffin-
American) (35,396) (4,540) (47,177) (16,359) 11,781 11,819 (38) (0.3)% 1,487 23,061
Espresso 270 (2,426) (9,415) (8,530) 9,685 6,104 3,581 58.7 % — —
Trilogy 4,495 3,003 (13,617) (13,797) 18,112 16,800 1,312 7.8 % 3,960 5,805
Subtotal $ (34,412) $ (3,508) $ (74,978) $ (40,565) $ 40,566 $ 37,057 $ 3,509 9.5 % $ 5,923 $ 35,922

Operator Platform(2) (54) (37) — — (54) (37) (17) 45.9 % — —
Total $ (34,466) $ (3,545) $ (74,978) $ (40,565) $ 40,512 $ 37,020 $ 3,492 9.4 % $ 5,923 $ 35,922

_______________________________________
(1) Represents our proportionate share of revenues and expenses excluded from the calculation of FFO and MFFO. Refer to “—Non-GAAP Financial

Measures” for additional discussion.
(2) Represents our investment in Solstice.

Our proportionate share of losses generated by our unconsolidated ventures increased $30.9 million for the year ended
December 31, 2020, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2019, was primarily due to real estate impairments recorded
by the Diversified US/UK (formerly Griffin-American), Eclipse and Trilogy joint ventures.

Equity in earnings, less select revenues and expenses, increased by $3.5 million. Improved performance in the Espresso joint
venture, primarily due to full contractual rent collections and lower interest and operating expenses, as well as federal
COVID-19 provider relief funds received and recognized by the Trilogy joint venture, were the main contributors to theff
increase for the year ended December 31, 2020. Non-recurring earnings recognized by the Envoy joint venture upon the
completion of the sale of its remaining operating assets in 2019 and declines in operational performaff nce in the Diversified US/
UK (formerly Griffin-American) and Eclipse joint ventures as a result of the effects of COVID-19, partially offset the increase.

Income Tax Eaa xpenseEE

Income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2020 was $53,000 and related to our operating properties, which operate
through a taxable REIT subsidiary structure. Income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $75,000.
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Comparison of the Year Ended December 31, 2019 to December 31, 2018 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2019 2018 Amount %

Property and other revenues
Resident fee income $ 130,135 $ 129,855 $ 280 0.2 %
Rental income 161,084 159,481 1,603 1.0 %
Other revenue 1,959 4,935 (2,976) (60.3)%
Total property and other revenues 293,178 294,271 (1,093) (0.4)%

Net interest income
Interest income on debt investments 7,703 7,706 (3) — %
Interest income on mortgage loans held in a securitized trustrr — 5,149 (5,149) (100.0)%
Interest expense on mortgage obligations issued by a securitization trust — (3,824) 3,824 (100.0)%
Net interest income 7,703 9,031 (1,328) (14.7)%

Expenses
Real estate properties - operating expenses 181,214 188,761 (7,547) (4.0)%
Interest expense 68,896 70,196 (1,300) (1.9)%
Other expenses related to securitization trustrr — 811 (811) (100.0)%
Transaction costs 122 888 (766) (86.3)%
Asset management and other fees-related party 19,789 23,478 (3,689) (15.7)%
General and administrative expenses 12,761 14,390 (1,629) (11.3)%
Depreciation and amortization 70,989 107,133 (36,144) (33.7)%
Impairment loss 27,554 36,277 (8,723) (24.0)%
Total expenses 381,325 441,934 (60,609) (13.7)%

Realized gain (loss) on investments and other 6,314 20,243 (13,929) (68.8)%
Equity in earnings (losses) of unconsolidated ventures (3,545) (33,517) 29,972 (89.4)%
Income tax benefit (expense) (75) (114) 39 (34.2)%
Net income (loss) $ (77,750) $ (152,020) $ 74,270 (48.9)%

Resident Fee IncomeII

The following table presents resident fee income generated during the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to the year
ended December 31, 2018 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2019 2018 Amount %

Same store AL/MC/CCRC properties (placed in service - 2017 and prior) $ 128,720 $ 124,250 $ 4,470 3.6 %
Properties placed in service - 2018 1,415 81 1,334 1,646.9 %
Properties sold — 5,524 (5,524) (100.0)%
Total resident fee income $ 130,135 $ 129,855 $ 280 0.2 %

On a same store basis, resident fee income increased $4.5 million primarily as a result of non-recurring income recognized in
the Fountains portfolio, billing rate increases for the Watermark Aqua and Fountains portfolios andff a one-time adjustment,
which reduced revenue for the Rochester portfolio in 2018. The increase in resident fee income generated by Pinebrook
memory care expansion, which opened in November 2018, was offset by decreases in revenue as a result of the sale of an
operating facility in the Fountains portfolio in the fourth quarter of 2018.
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Rental IncII ome

The following table presents rental income generated during the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2018 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2019 2018 Amount %

Same store IL properties (placed in service - 2017 and prior) $ 127,660 $ 125,207 $ 2,453 2.0 %
Same store net lease properties (placed in service - 2017 and prior) 32,826 32,808 18 0.1 %
Properties sold 598 1,466 (868) (59.2)%
Total rental income $ 161,084 $ 159,481 $ 1,603 1.0 %

Rental income increased $1.6 million primarily due to non-recurring services and fees at our IL properties, which were recorded
as rental income during the year ended December 31, 2019 as a result of the adoption of the new lease accounting standard and
were previously recorded as other revenue. Further, rental income recorded in 2018 was reduced by one-time write-downs, as a
result of a net lease operator not remitting rental payments, which also contributed to the variance. Increases to rental income
were offset by the sale of two net lease properties.

Other Revenue

As a result of the adoption of the new lease accounting standard, non-recurring services and fees at our operating facilities were
reclassified into rental and resident fee income, which resulted in a decrease to other revenue for the year ended December 31,
2019 as compared to year ended December 31, 2018. The decrease was offset by non-recurring service provider incentives
recognized by the Winterfell portfolio, as well as interest earned on uninvested cash.

Net Interest Income

Net interest income decreased $1.3 million primarily as a result of the sale of our investment in the Freddie Mac securitization
in the firff st quarter of 2018.

Real Estate Properties - OperatingO Expensesx

The following table presents property operating expenses incurred during the year ended December 31, 2019 as compared to
the year ended December 31, 2018 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2019 2018 Amount %

Same store (placed in service - 2017 and prior)
AL/MC/CCRC properties $ 93,048 $ 92,382 $ 666 0.7 %
IL properties 86,526 89,750 (3,224) (3.6)%
Net lease properties 10 1,342 (1,332) (99.3)%

Properties placed in service - 2018 1,630 261 1,369 524.5 %
Properties sold — 5,026 (5,026) (100.0)%
Total property operating expenses $ 181,214 $ 188,761 $ (7,547) (4.0)%

Property operating expenses decreased $7.5 million, primarily due to the sale of an operating facility in the Fountains portfolio
in the fourth quarter of 2018, as well as expense savings realized in the Winterfell portfolio. One-time bad debt expense forff
straight-line rent recorded during the year ended December 31, 2018, as a result of a net lease portfolio operator not remitting
rental payments, also contributed to the variance.
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Interest Expensex

The following table presents interest expense incurred during the yead r ended December 31, 2019 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2018 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2019 2018 Amount %

Same store (placed in service - 2017 and prior)
AL/MC/CCRC properties $ 20,620 $ 20,571 $ 49 0.2 %
IL properties 35,740 35,781 (41) (0.1)%
Net lease properties 12,187 12,719 (532) (4.2)%

Properties sold 247 850 (603) (70.9)%
Corporate 102 275 (173) (62.9)%
Total interest expense $ 68,896 $ 70,196 $ (1,300) (1.9)%

Interest expense decreased $1.3 million as a result of lower mortgage notes balances during the year ended December 31, 2019
due to continued principal amortization and loan payoffs.

Other ExpEE enses Related to Securitization Trust

Other expenses related to securitization trust were not incurred during the year ended December 31, 2019 as our investment in
the Freddie Mac securitization was sold in the first quarter of 2018. Securitization trust expenses were primarily comprised of
fees paid to Freddie Mac, the original issuer, as guarantor of the interest and principal payments related to the investment grade
securitization bonds.

Transaction Costs

Transaction costs for the year ended December 31, 2019 are primarily residual costs incurred for the Rochester operator license
transfer. Transaction costs for the year ended December 31, 2018 are primarily costs incurred for the Winterfell and
Bonaventure operator transition.

Asset Management and OtheMM r FeeFF s - Related Party

Our Advisor receives a monthly asset management fee equal to one-twelfth of 1.5% of our most recently published aggregate
estimated net asset value. Asset management and other feeff s - related party decreased $3.7 million as a result of the declining
estimated net asset value year over year.

General and Administrative Expensesdd

General and administrative expenses decreased $1.6 million, primarily as a result of lower corporate overhead costs incurred
during the year ended December 31, 2019.

Depreciation and Amortization

The following table presents depreciation and amortization expense incurred during the yead r ended December 31, 2019 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2018 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, Increase (Decrease)
2019 2018 Amount %

Same store (placed in service - 2017 and prior)
AL/MC/CCRC properties $ 19,752 $ 20,554 $ (802) (3.9)%
IL properties 36,727 72,754 (36,027) (49.5)%
Net lease properties 14,227 13,283 944 7.1 %

Properties placed in service - 2018 180 27 153 566.7 %
Properties sold 103 515 (412) (80.0)%
Total depreciation and amortization expense $ 70,989 $ 107,133 $ (36,144) (33.7)%

Depreciation and amortization expense decreased $36.1 million, primarily as a result of intangible assets becoming fully
amortized in the Winterfell and Rochester portfolios in 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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Impairment Loss

During the year ended December 31, 2019, impairment losses totaled $27.6 million. Impairment was recognized for two ALFs
with sustained low occupancy within the Rochester portfolio, two poor performing properties within the Kansas City and a net
lease property classified as held for sale.ff

During the year ended December 31, 2018, impairment losses totaling $36.3 million were recorded due to performance issues at
properties within the Winterfell and Kansas City portfolios, as well as to reflect net realizabla e value of properties designated as
held for sale.ff

Realized Gain (Loss) on Investment(( s att nd Other

During the year ended December 31, 2019, realized gains of $6.3 million related to the sale of two net lease properties and the
sale of Remainder Interests in the Fountains portfolio. During the year ended December 31, 2018, realized gains of $20.2
million was primarily a result of the sales of our investments in the Trilogy portfolio and Freddie Mac securitization.

Equity in Earnings (Losses) of Unconsolidated Ventures (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
Year Ended
December 31,

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Portfolio
Equity in Earnings

(Losses)
Select Revenues and
(Expenses), net(1)

Equity in Earnings,
less Select Revenues
and Expenses Increase (Decrease) Cash Distributions

Eclipse $ 435 $ (624) $ (987) $ (2,280) $ 1,422 $ 1,656 $ (234) (14.1)% $ 2,717 $ 754
Envoy 20 (37) (892) (301) 912 264 648 245.5 % 4,339 283
Diversified US/UK
(formerly Griffin-
American) (4,540) (12,717) (16,359) (24,780) 11,819 12,063 (244) (2.0)% 23,061 5,553
Espresso (2,426) (21,460) (8,530) (26,906) 6,104 5,446 658 12.1 % — —
Trilogy 3,003 1,153 (13,797) (14,810) 16,800 15,963 837 5.2 % 5,805 5,977
Subtotal $ (3,508) $ (33,685) $ (40,565) $ (69,077) $ 37,057 $ 35,392 $ 1,665 4.7 % $ 35,922 $ 12,567

Operator Platform(2) (37) 168 — — (37) 168 (205) (122.0)% — 107
Total $ (3,545) $ (33,517) $ (40,565) $ (69,077) $ 37,020 $ 35,560 $ 1,460 4.1 % $ 35,922 $ 12,674

__________________________________
(1) Represents our proportionate share of revenues and expenses excluded from the calculation of FFO and MFFO. Refer to “—Non-GAAP Financial

Measures” for additional discussion.
(2) Represents our investment in Solstice.

Our proportionate share of losses generated by our unconsolidated ventures decreased by $30.0 million, primarily due to lower
impairment and reserves recognized by the Diversified US/UK (formerly Griffin-American) and Espresso joint ventures during
the year ended December 31, 2019.

Equity in earnings, net of select revenues and expenses, increased $1.5 million, primarily due to continued expansion and
development of operating real estate and same store improvements in the Trilogy joint venture during the year ended
December 31, 2019. Further, residual earnings were recognized by the Envoy joint venture upon the completion of the sale of
its remaining operating assets during the year ended December 31, 2019.

Income Tax Baa enefit (Ex(( pense)x

Income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 was $75,000 and related to our operating properties, which operate
through a taxable REIT subsidiary structure. Income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $114,000.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Funds from Operations and Modified Funds from OperationsFF

We believe that FFO and MFFO are additional appropriata e measures of the operating performance of a REIT and of us in
particular. We compute FFO in accordance with the standards established by the National Association of Real Estate
Investment Trusts, or NAREIT, as net income (loss) (computed in accordance with U.S. GAAP), excluding gains (losses) from
sales of depreciable property, the cumulative effect of changes in accounting principles, real estate-related depreciation and
amortization, impairment on depreciable property owned directly or indirectly and after adjustments for unconsolidated
ventures.
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Changes in the accounting and reporting rules under U.S. GAAP that have been put into effect since the establishment of
NAREIT’s definition of FFO have prompted an increase in the non-cash and non-operating items included in FFO. For
instance, the accounting treatment for acquisition fees related to business combinations has changed from being capitalized to
being expensed. Additionally, publicly registered, non-traded REITs are typically different from traded REITs because they
generally have a limited life followed by a liquidity event or other targeted exit strategy. Non-traded REITs typically have a
significant amount of acquisition activity and are substantially more dynamic during their initial years of investment and
operation as compared to later years when the proceeds from their initial public offering have been fully invested and when they
may seek to implement a liquidity event or other exit strategy. However, it is likely that we will make investments past the
acquisition and development stage, albeit at a substantially lower pace.

Acquisition fees paid to our Advisor in connection with the origination and acquisition of debt investments have been amortized
over the life of the investment as an adjustment to interest income, while fees paid to our Advisor in connection with the
acquisition of equity investments were generally expensed under U.S. GAAP. In both situations, the fees were included in the
computation of net income (loss) and income (loss) before equity in earnings (losses) of unconsolidated ventures and income
tax benefit (expense), both of which are performance measures under U.S. GAAP. We adjusted MFFO for the amortization of
acquisition fees in the period when such amortization was recognized under U.S. GAAP or in the period in which the
acquisition fees were expensed. Acquisition fees were paid in cash that would otherwise have been available to distribute to our
stockholders. Such fees and expenses will not be reimbursed by our Advisor or its affiliates and third parties. However, in
general, we earned origination fees for debt investments from our borrowers in an amount equal to the acquisition fees paid to
our Advisor. Effective January 1, 2018, our Advisor no longer receives an acquisition fee in connection with our acquisition of
real estate properties or debt investments.

Due to certain of the unique features of publicly-registered, non-traded REITs, the Institute for Portfolio Alternatives, or IPA,
an industry trade group, standardized a performance measure known as MFFO and recommends the use of MFFO for such
REITs. Management believes MFFO is a useful performance measure to evaluate our business and further believes it is
important to disclose MFFO in order to be consistent with the IPA recommendation and other non-traded REITs. MFFO
adjustments for items such as acquisition fees would only be comparable to non-traded REITs that have completed the majority
of their acquisition activity and have other similar operating characteristics as us. Neither the U. S. Securities and Exchange
Commission, or SEC, nor any other regulatory body has approved the acceptability of the adjustments that we use to calculate
MFFO. In the future, the SEC or another regulatory body may decide to standardize permitted adjustments across the non-
listed REIT industry and we may need to adjust our calculation and characterization of MFFO.

MFFO is a metric used by management to evaluate our future operating performance once our organization and offering and
acquisition and development stages are complete and is not intended to be used as a liquidity measure. Although management
uses the MFFO metric to evaluate future operating performance, this metric excludes certain key operating items and other
adjustments that may affect our overall operating performance. MFFO is not equivalent to net income (loss) as determined
under U.S. GAAP. In addition, MFFO is not a useful measure in evaluating net asset value, since impairment is taken into
account in determining net asset value but not in determining MFFO.

We define MFFO in accordance with the concepts established by the IPA, and adjust for certain items, such as accretion of a
discount and amortization of a premium on borrowings and related deferred financing costs, as such adjustments are
comparable to adjustments for debt investments and will be helpful in assessing our operating performance. We also adjust
MFFO for the non-recurring impact of the non-cash effect of deferred income tax benefits or expenses, as applicable, as such
items are not indicative of our operating performance. Similarly, we adjust for the non-cash effect of unrealized gains or losses
on unconsolidated ventures. Our computation of MFFO may not be comparable to other REITs that do not calculate MFFO
using the same method. MFFO is calculated using FFO. FFO, as defined by NAREIT, is a computation made by analysts and
investors to measure a real estate company’s operating performance. The IPA’s definition of MFFO excludes from FFO the
following items:

• acquisition fees and expenses;

• non-cash amounts related to straight-line rent and the amortization of above or below market and in-place intangible
lease assets and liabilities (which are adjusted in order to reflect such payments from an accrual basis of accounting
under U.S. GAAP to a cash basis of accounting);

• amortization of a premium and accretion of a discount on debt investments;

• non-recurring impairment of real estate-related investments that meet the specified criteria identified in the rules and
regulations of the SEC;

• realized gains (losses) from the early extinguishment of debt;
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• realized gains (losses) on the extinguishment or sales of hedges, foreign exchange, securities and other derivative
holdings except where the trading of such instruments is a fundamental attribute of our business;

• unrealized gains (losses) from fair value adjustments on real estate securities, including CMBS and other securities,
interest rate swaps and other derivatives not deemed hedges and foreign exchange holdings;

• unrealized gains (losses) from the consolidation from, or deconsolidation to, equity accounting;

• adjustments related to contingent purchase price obligations; and

• adjustments for consolidated and unconsolidated partnerships and joint ventures calculated to reflect MFFO on the
same basis as above.

Certain of the above adjustments are also made to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities, such as for the amortization of a premium and accretion of a discount on debt and securities investments,
amortization of fees, any unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives, securities or other investments, as well as other adjustments.

MFFO excludes non-recurring impairment of real estate-related investments. We assess the credit quality of our investments
and adequacy of reserves/impairment on a quarterly basis, or more frequently as necessary. Significant judgment is required in
this analysis. With respect to debt investments, we consider the estimated net recoverable value of the loan as well as other
factors, including but not limited to the fair value of any collateral, the amount and the status of any senior debt, the prospects
for the borrower and the competitive situation of the region where the borrower does business. Fair value is typically estimated
based on discounting expected future cash flow of the underlying collateral taking into consideration the discount rate,
capitalization rate, occupancy, creditworthiness of major tenants and many other factors. This requires significant judgment
and because it is based on projections of future economic events, which are inherently subjective, the amount ultimately
realized may differ materially from the carrying value as of the consolidated balance sheets date. If the estimated fair value of
the underlying collateral for the debt investment is less than its net carrying value, a loan loss reserve is recorded with a
corresponding charge to provision for loan losses. With respect to a real estate investment, a property’s value is considered
impaired if a triggering event is identified and our estimate of the aggregate future undiscounted cash flow to be generated by
the property is less than the carrying value of the property. The value of our investments may be impaired and their carrying
values may not be recoverable due to our limited life. Investors should note that while impairment charges are excluded from
the calculation of MFFO, investors are cautioned that due to the fact that impairments are based on estimated future
undiscounted cash flow and the relatively limited term of a non-traded REIT’s anticipated operations, it could be difficult to
recover any impairment charges through operational net revenues or cash flow prior to any liquidity event.

We believe that MFFO is a useful non-GAAP measure for non-traded REITs. It is helpful to management and stockholders in
assessing our future operating performance once our organization and offering, and acquisition and development stages are
complete. However, MFFO may not be a useful measure of our operating performance or as a comparable measure to other
typical non-traded REITs if we do not continue to operate in a similar manner to other non-traded REITs, including if we were
to extend our acquisition and development stage or if we determined not to pursue an exit strategy.

However, MFFO does have certain limitations. For instance, the effect of any amortization or accretion on debt investments
originated or acquired at a premium or discount, respectively, is not reported in MFFO. In addition, realized gains (losses) from
acquisitions and dispositions and other adjustments listed above are not reported in MFFO, even though such realized gains
(losses) and other adjustments could affect our operating performance and cash available for distribution. Stockholders should
note that any cash gains generated from the sale of investments would generally be used to fund new investments. Any mark-
to-market or fair value adjustments may be based on many factors, including current operational or individual property issues or
general market or overall industry conditions.

Neither FFO nor MFFO is equivalent to net income (loss) or cash flow provided by operating activities determined in
accordance with U.S. GAAP and should not be construed to be more relevant or accurate than the U.S. GAAP methodology in
evaluating our operating performance. Neither FFO nor MFFO is necessarily indicative of cash flow available to fund our cash
needs including our ability to make distributions to our stockholders. FFO and MFFO do not represent amounts available for
management’s discretionary use because of needed capital replacement or expansion, debt service obligations or other
commitments or uncertainties. Furthermore, neither FFO nor MFFO should be considered as an alternative to net income (loss)
as an indicator of our operating performance.
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The folff lowing table presents a reconciliation of net income (loss) attributable to common stockholders to FFO and MFFO
attributable to common stockholders (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Funds from operations:ff
Net income (loss) attributable to NorthStar Healthcare Income, Inc.
common stockholders $ (261,458) $ (76,960) $ (151,578)
Adjustments:
Depreciation and amortization 65,006 70,989 107,133
Depreciation and amortization related to non-controlling interests (647) (635) (779)
Impairment loss on real estate related to non-controlling interests (2,253) (585) (62)
Realized gain (loss) from sales of property related to non-
controlling interests — — 2
Depreciation and amortization related to unconsolidated ventures 31,999 31,892 32,877

Impairment losses of depreciable real estate held by
unconsolidated ventures 37,893 2,663 22,568
Realized (gain) loss from sales of property related to
unconsolidated ventures (320) (4,065) 1,446
Impairment losses of depreciable real estate 165,968 27,554 35,552
Realized (gain) loss from sales of property — (6,104) (14,148)

Funds from operations attributable to NorthStar Healthcare
Income, Inc. common stockholders $ 36,188 $ 44,749 $ 33,011
Modified funds from operations:ff
Funds from operations attributable to NorthStar Healthcare
Income, Inc. common stockholders $ 36,188 $ 44,749 $ 33,011
Adjustments:
Acquisition fees and transaction costs 65 122 878
Straight-line rental (income) loss 441 (467) 440
Amortization of premiums, discounts and fees on investments and
borrowings 4,975 4,914 4,903
Amortization of discounts on healthcare-related securities — — 314
Adjustments related to unconsolidated ventures(1) 5,406 10,075 12,185
Adjustments related to non-controlling interests (48) (25) 13
Realized (gain) loss on investments and other (302) (679) (6,094)
Impairment of assets other than real estate — — 725

Modified funds from operations attributable to NorthStar Healthcare
Income, Inc. common stockholders $ 46,725 $ 58,689 $ 46,375

_______________________________________
(1) Primarily represents our proportionate share of liability extinguishment gains, loan loss reserves, transaction costs and amortization of above/below

market debt adjustments, straight-line rent adjustments, debt extinguishment losses and deferred financing costs, incurred through our investments in
unconsolidated ventures.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our current principal liquidity needs are to fund: (i) principal and interest payments on our borrowings and other commitments;
(ii) operating expenses; and (iii) capital expenditures, development and redevelopment activities, including capital calls in
connection with our unconsolidated joint venture investments.

Our current primary sources of liquidity include the following: (i) cash on hand; (ii) cash flow generated by our investments,
both from our operating activities and distributions from our unconsolidated joint ventures; (iii) secured or unsecured financingsff
from banks and other lenders, including investment-level financing and/or a corporate credit facility; and (iv) proceeds from fullff
or partial realization of investments.

Our investments generate cash flow in the form of rental revenues, resident feeff s and interest income, which are reduced by
operating expenditures, debt service payments, capitaa l expenditures and corporate general and administrative expenses.
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Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, our business had been impacted by limited growth in revenues due to stagnant occupancy
and rate pressures as well as rising labor and benefits costs, resulting in compressed operating margins. The effects of the
COVID-19 pandemic have further amplified the aforementioned issues. The COVID-19 pandemic has impacted and will
continue to impact, our operating results and liquidity, the extent to which depends on the exposure of residents and staff to
COVID-19, the speed of the development and distribution of vaccines for COVID-19 and variants thereof and the efficacy,
acceptance and availability of such vaccines and the continuation of government imposed preventative restrictions, among other
factors.

In response to this uncertainty, we took the following actions to preserve liquidity and financial resources:

• Borrowed $35.0 million under our Sponsor Line;

• Suspended all repurchases under our Share Repurchase Program effective April 30, 2020;

• Limited capital expenditures of our operating real estate to life safety and essential projects at the onset of the
pandemic and are now selectively approving additional improvements;

• Entered into forbearance agreements, effective May 1, 2020, to defer up to 90 days of contractual debt service for
borrowings on properties within the Aqua, Rochester, Arbors, Winterfell and Fountains portfolios. The aggregate
outstanding principal amount of these borrowings totaled $1.3 billion as of December 31, 2020.

• Entered into a forbearance agreement, effective July 1, 2020, to defer up to 90 days of interest payments and 120 days
of principal payments and temporarily waive financial covenants under the mortgage note for a mortgage note payable
on a property within our Rochester portfolio. The outstanding principal amount of the mortgage note payable was
$19.9 million as of December 31, 2020.

We currently believe that our capital resources are sufficient to meet our capital needs for the following 12 months. As of
March 18, 2021, we had approximately $95.7 million of unrestricted cash. For additional information regarding our liquidity
needs and capital resources, see below.

Cash From Operations

We primarily generate cash flow from operations through net operating income from our operating properties, rental income
from our net lease properties and interest from our debt investment, as well as distributions from our investments in
unconsolidated ventures. Net cash provided by operating activities was $31.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020.

A substantial majority of our properties, or 77.2% of our operating real estate, excluding our unconsolidated ventures and
properties designated held for sale, are operating properties whereby we are directly exposed to various operational risks.
During the year ended December 31, 2020, our cash flow from operations continued to be negatively impacted by, among other
things, suboptimal occupancy levels, rate pressures, increased labor and benefits costs, as well as rising real estate taxes.
Beginning in March 2020, our operations began to be impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. Occupancy, which is the primary
driver of revenues at our properties, has declined, and may continue to decline, as shelter-in-place restrictions limited
admissions, tours, inquiries and ultimately move-ins, while the pandemic also increases the risk of resident illness and move-
outs. At the same time, operating costs have increased to obtain adequate staffing and personal protective equipment. We
expect that these factors will materially impact our revenues, expenses and cash flow generated by the communities of our
direct operating investments during the pandemic. As of March 18, 2021, our direct operating investments have not experienced
any significant issues collecting rents or other fees from residents as a result of COVID-19.

For our net lease investments, our operators will be impacted by the same COVID-19 factors discussed above, which has and
will continue to affect our operators’ ability and willingness to pay rent. Numerous state, local, federal and industry-initiated
efforts have also affected or may affect landlords and their ability to collect rent and or enforce remedies for the failure to pay
rent. As of March 18, 2021, rent collection details for our net lease investments are as follows:

• The operator of our Smyrna (formerly Peregrine) portfolio has failed to remit rental payments in 2020;

• The operator of our Arbors portfolio has failed to remit rent timely and satisfy other lease conditions, but is current on
its contractual monthly rent obligations through December 2020;
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• Effective June 1, 2020, we granted a lease concession to the operator of our Fountains net lease portfolio. The
concession allowed the operator to defer a portion of contractual rent payments for a 90-day period, with full
contractual rent to be repaid over the 12 months following the concession period. The lease concession provided the
operator relief consistent with the debt forbearance received from the lender of the properties in the portfolio. The
amount of the deferred rental payments under the lease concession totaled $3.9 million. The lease concession period
ended on August 31, 2020 and the operator has resumed remitting contractual rent payments, including amounts
related to deferred rent granted under the lease concession.

The performance of our operators in our Arbors portfolio and Fountains net lease portfolio have been significantly and
adversely affected by COVID-19 thus far, which has resulted in delays and shortfalls in payment of rent. Our operators have
applied for and benefited from federal relief assistance, however, the continuing impact of COVID-19 on their ability to pay
rent in the future is currently unknown.

In addition, we have significant joint ventures and may not be able to control the timing of distributions, if any, from these
investments. As of December 31, 2020, our unconsolidated joint ventures and consolidated joint ventures represented 35.4%
and 20.9%, respectively, of our total real estate equity investments, based on cost. Due to uncertainty surrounding COVID-19,
our joint ventures, which have been similarly impacted as our direct investments, are likely to suspend or limit distributions to
preserve liquidity.

Borrowings

We use asset-level financing as part of our investment strategy and are required to make recurring principal and interest
payments on our borrowings. As of December 31, 2020, we had $1.4 billion of consolidated asset-level borrowings
outstanding. During the year ended December 31, 2020, we paid $72.6 million in recurring principal and interest payments on
these borrowings.

In response to the impact COVID-19 has had on the performance at our healthcare properties, we entered into forbearance
agreements with our lenders to defer contractual debt service for borrowings on properties within the Aqua, Rochester, Arbors,
Winterfell and Fountains portfolios. We have resumed remitting debt service on these borrowings. As a result, these
borrowings remain in technical default and are subject to the terms of the forbearance agreements until all deferred debt service
is repaid. The deferred debt service must be repaid over the 12 months following the forbearance period. As of March 18,
2021, deferred debt service outstanding totaled $5.3 million, which has increased payments and will put pressure on liquidity in
future periods.

We entered into a forbearance agreement with our lender for a mortgage note on a property within the Rochester portfolio that
also temporarily waives financial covenants under the mortgage note, which the property has failed to maintain as of
December 31, 2020. In addition, the operator for the Arbors portfolio failed to remit rent timely and satisfy other conditions
under its lease, which resulted in a default under the operator’s lease, and in turn, resulted in a default under the mortgage notes
collateralized by the properties as of December 31, 2020. As the impact of COVID-19 continues to influence performance at
our healthcare properties, we expect that we will experience additional defaults.

We continue to engage with lenders, where necessary, regarding further deferral of payment obligations. However, if
COVID-19 continues to impact performance and we are unable to obtain accommodations from our lenders, we may be subject
to cash flow sweeps, required to repay outstanding obligations, including penalties, prior to the stated maturity, or potentially
have assets foreclosed upon.

Although no significant consolidated borrowings mature in 2021, $460.0 million of our mortgage notes secured by the
Watermark Fountains net lease and operating portfolios matures in June 2022, which may require capital to be funded if
favorable refinancing is not obtained. Our unconsolidated joint ventures also have significant asset level borrowings, which
also may require capital to be funded if favorable refinancing is not obtained.

In April 2020, we borrowed $35.0 million under our Sponsor Line to improve our liquidity position. The borrowings under our
Sponsor Line carry an interest rate of 3.5% plus LIBOR. As of March 18, 2021, the effective interest rate of the Sponsor Line
was 3.6%.

Our charter limits us from incurring borrowings that would exceed 300.0% of our net assets. We cannot exceed this limit
unless any excess in borrowing over such level is approved by a majority of our independent directors. We would need to
disclose any such approval to our stockholders in our next quarterly report along with the justification for such excess. An
approximation of this leverage limitation, excluding indirect leverage held through our unconsolidated joint venture
investments and any securitized mortgage obligations to third parties, is 75.0% of our assets, other than intangibles, before
deducting loan loss reserves, other non-cash reserves and depreciation. As of December 31, 2020, our leverage was 61.3% of
our assets, other than intangibles, before deducting loan loss reserves, other non-cash reserves and depreciation. As of
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December 31, 2020, indirect leverage on assets, other than intangibles, before deducting loan loss reserves, other non-cash
reserves and depreciation, held through our unconsolidated joint ventures was 60.5%.

For additional information regarding our borrowings, including principal repayments, timing of maturities and loans currently
in default, refer to Note 6, “Borrowings” in our accompanying consolidated financial statements included in “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data.”

Capital Expenditures, Development and Redevelopment Activities

We are responsible for capital expenditures for our operating properties and, from time to time, may also fund capital
expenditures for certain net lease properties. We continue to invest capital into our operating portfolio in order to maintain
market position, as well as functional and operating standards. In addition, we will continue to execute on and identify strategic
development opportunities for our existing investments that may involve replacing, converting or renovating facilities in our
portfolio which, in turn, would allow us to provide an optimal mix of services, increase operating income, achieve property
stabilization and enhance the overall value of our assets. However, there can be no assurance that these initiatives will achieve
these intended results.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, we spent $15.2 million on capital expenditures for our direct investments, which
were limited in response to the COVID-19 pandemic to life safety and essential projects, with the selective approval of
additional improvements in conjunction with our operating partners. We anticipate normalized spending on capital
expenditures, including strategic development as outlined in our strategy, to resume in 2021, however it continues to be difficult
to accurately predict the full extent of the financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our operations and on our liquidity
needs.

We are also party to certain agreements that contemplate development of healthcare properties funded by us and our joint
venture partners. Although we may not be obligated to fund such capital contributions or capital projects, we may be subject to
adverse consequences under our joint venture governing documents for any such failure to fund.

Realization and Disposition of Investments

We evaluate dispositions of non-core investments to provide an additional source of liquidity. In 2019, we generated total net
proceeds, after mortgage and loan repayments, of $26.6 million from dispositions of our direct investments and investments
within our unconsolidated ventures. In July 2020, we sold a net lease property previously designated as held for sale,
generating net proceeds of $0.9 million.

We have made significant investments through both consolidated and unconsolidated joint ventures with third parties which we
may share decision-making authority regarding certain major decisions and could prevent us from selling properties or our
interest in the joint venture.

While we will continue to evaluate additional dispositions of investments in 2021, future dispositions may be delayed. If we
decide to pursue a disposition to generate additional liquidity, we may generate the lower proceeds as a result of the COVID-19
pandemic.

Effective December 31, 2020, we executed an amended and restated loan agreement with the borrower of mezzanine loan debt
investment that extended the maturity date through January 2022. If the borrower is not able to refinance with another lender or
otherwise repay the principal amount at its stated maturity, we may have to negotiate further modifications to the loan
agreement, which may delay our ability to realize liquidity from this investment. In addition, as a result of COVID-19, there
may be additional defaults or challenges refinancing any of the senior borrowings, and we may be required to cure such defaults
in order to preserve the collateral underlying our mezzanine loan.

Distributions

To continue to qualify as a REIT, we are required to distribute annually dividends equal to at least 90% of our taxable income,
subject to certain adjustments, to stockholders. We have generated, and continue to generate, net operating losses for tax
purposes and, accordingly, are currently not required to make distributions to our stockholders to qualify as a REIT. Effective
February 1, 2019, our board of directors determined to suspend distributions in order to preserve capital and liquidity. Refer to
“—Distributions Declared and Paid” for further information regarding our historical distributions.

40



Repurchases

We adopted a Share Repurchase Program effective August 7, 2012, which enabled stockholders to sell their shares to us in
limited circumstances. In October 2018, our board of directors approved an amended and restated Share Repurchase Program,
under which we only repurchased shares in connection with the death or qualifying disability of a stockholder. However, our
board of directors may amend, suspend or terminate our Share Repurchase Program at any time, subject to certain notice
requirements. On April 7, 2020, our board of directors determined to suspend all repurchases under our existing Share
Repurchase Program effective April 30, 2020 in order to preserve capital and liquidity during the COVID-19 pandemic. Duringd
the year ended December 31, 2020, we repurchased 0.3 million shares for an aggregate amount of $2.1 million.

Other Commitments

We expect to continue to make payments to our Advisor, or its affiliates, pursuant to our advisory agreement, as applicablea , in
connection with the management of our assets and costs incurred by our Advisor in providing services to us. In December
2017, our advisory agreement was amended with changes to the asset management and acquisition fee structure. In June 2020,
our advisory agreement was renewed for an additional one-year term commencing on June 30, 2020, with terms identical to
those previously in effect, but for the elimination of the disposition fees. Refeff r to “—Related Party Arrangements” for further
information regarding our advisory fees.

Cash Flows

The following presents a summary of our consolidated statements of cash flows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

Cash flows provided by (used in):p y ( ) 2020 2019 2018
2020 vs. 2019
Change

2019 vs. 2018
Change

Operating activities $ 31,018 $ 25,298 $ 27,986 $ 5,720 $ (2,688)
Investing activities (8,415) (4,287) 73,948 (4,128) (78,235)
Financing activities 12,147 (56,699) (87,914) 68,846 31,215
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash
equivalents and restricted cash $ 34,750 $ (35,688) $ 14,020 $ 70,438 $ (49,708)

Year Ended December 31, 2020 compared to December 31, 2019

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $31.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2020, compared to $25.3
million for the year ended December 31, 2019. The increase in cash provided from operating activitieff s was a result of the
following:

• Collection of a regulatory reserve deposit for a healthcare facility;

• lower interest expense, due to lower debt principal balances and effective interest rates;

• lower cash interest payments due to deferred debt service under executed debt forbearance agreements; and

• lower asset management fees paid in cash.

Cash flow improvements were partially offset by lower rent and resident fee income as well as higher operating expenses as a
result of the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Investing Activities

Our cash flows from investing activities are generally used to fund investment improvements and follow-on investments, net of
any investment dispositions. Net cash used in investing activities was $8.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2020
compared to $4.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2019. Cash flows used in investing activities for the yeaff r ended
December 31, 2020 were primarily recurring capital expenditures for existing investments, partiallff y offset by distributions
received on our unconsolidated joint ventures. Cash flows used in investing activities for the yeaff r ended December 31, 2019
were primarily a contribution to the Diversified US/UK (formerly Griffin-American) joint venture, partially offset by the net
proceeds generated from the sale of two net lease properties and a distribution received from the Envoy joint venture upon the
sale of its underlying operating assets.
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The folff lowing table presents cash used for capital expendituresff , excluding our unconsolidated ventures (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

Capital Expendituresp p 2020 2019
2020 vs. 2019
Change

Recurring $ 15,214 $ 22,323 $ (7,109)

Recurring capital expenditures have decreased during the yead r ended December 31, 2020 as compared to the year ended
December 31, 2019 as a result of limiting expenditures to life safety and essential projects, with selective approval of additionala
improvements, in response to COVID-19.

Financing Activities

For the year ended December 31, 2020, our cash flows from financing activitieff s were principally impacted by borrowing $35.0
million under our Sponsor Line, partially offset by our repurchases of common stock and repayments on our mortgage notes
payable, which were reduced as a result of forbearance agreements executed with lenders. Cash flows provided by financingff
activities was $12.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 compared to cash flows useff d in financing activitieff s of $56.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2019. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the payment of dividends,
repurchases of shares under our Share Repurchase Program and the repayment of a mortgage note payable upon the sale of two
net lease properties were the primary drivers of financing cash flows.

Year Ended December 31, 2019 compared to December 31, 2018

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities totaled $25.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to $28.0
million for the year ended December 31, 2018. The decrease was primarily attributable to the timing of property operating
expense payments, which resulted in our operating properties having lower accounts payable and accrued expense balances as
of December 31, 2019 as compared to December 31, 2018. Lower interest income due to the sald e of our investment in the
Freddie Mac securitization in March 2018 also contributed to the variance.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $4.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to net cash provided by
investing activities of $73.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. Cash flows used in investing activities for the yearff
ended December 31, 2019 were primarily a contribution to the Diversified US/UK (formerly Griffin-American) joint venture
and capital improvements to existing investments, partially offset by the proceeds from the sale of two net lease properties and
distributions received from our investments in unconsolidated ventures. Cash flows provided by investing activities for the year
ended December 31, 2018 were primarily attributable to the sale of an ownership interest in the Trilogy joint venture and the
sale of our investment in the Freddie Mac securitization, partially offset by capital improvements to existing investments.

The following table presents cash used for capital expenditures during the yead r ended December 31, 2019 as compared to the
year ended December 31, 2018, excluding capital expenditures made at our unconsolidated ventures (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,

Capital Expendituresp p 2019 2018
2019 vs. 2018
Change

Development projects $ — $ 4,382 $ (4,382)
Recurring 22,323 26,830 (4,507)
Total improvement of operating real
estate investments $ 22,323 $ 31,212 $ (8,889)

Financing Activities

Cash flows used in financing activitieff s was $56.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 compared to $87.9 million for
the year ended December 31, 2018. The decrease was primarily attributable to the suspension of dividends in February 2019
and amended Share Repurchase Program in October 2018, partially offset by a mortgage repayment upon the sale of two net
lease properties in 2019.
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments

The following table presents contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2020 (dollars in thousands):
Payments Due by Period

2021 2022 - 2023 2024 - 2025
2026 and
Thereafter

Total
Less than 1
year 1-3 years(5) 3-5 years(6)

More than 5
years

Mortgage and notes other payables(1) $ 1,435,384 $ 79,696 $ 486,704 $ 690,708 $ 178,276
Estimated interest payments(2) 199,598 56,888 81,208 53,554 7,948
Advisor asset management fee(3) 66,462 11,077 22,154 22,154 11,077
Total(4) $ 1,701,444 $ 147,661 $ 590,066 $ 766,416 $ 197,301
____________________________________
(1) Represents contractual amortization of principal and repayment upon contractual maturity.
(2) Estimated interest payments are based on the remaining life of the borrowings. Applicable LIBOR rate plus the respective spread as of December 31,

2020 was used to estimate payments for our floating-rate borrowings.
(3) Subject to certain restrictions and limitations, our Advisor is responsible for managing our affairs on a day-to-day basis and for identifying, originating,

acquiring and managing investments on our behalf. For such services, our Advisor receives management fees from us based on our most recent net asset
value. In addition, our advisory agreement must be renewed in June 2021 and may be renewed on different terms or may be terminated at any time,
subject to notice requirements. As a result, the amount included in the table above is an estimate only and assumes the current net asset value and the
continuation of our advisory agreement on its current terms. Included in the table is $10.0 million of advisor asset management fees per year that are
payable in shares of our common stock. Refer to “—Related Party Arrangements” for additional information on our Advisor asset management fee.

(4) Excludes construction related and other commitments for future development.
(5) Total includes $523.8 million and $66.3 million for years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023, respectively.
(6) Total includes $66.3 million and $700.2 million for years ended December 31, 2024 and 2025, respectively.

Borrowings that are maturing in our unconsolidated ventures may require us to fund additional contributions if favorable
refinancing is not obtained. We are not obligated to fund capital contributions, however our investment in the unconsolidated
investment may be diluted and we may be prohibited from participating in future caff sh flows if we are unable to fund. Inff
addition, our joint venture partners may be entitled to call additional capital under the governing documents of our joint
ventures and certain of our operators and managers may require us to fund capital projects under our leases or management
agreements. Although we may not be obligated to fund such capital contributions or capital projects, we may be subject to
adverse consequences for any such failure to fund.ff

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2020, we are not dependent on the use of any off-balance sheet financing arrangements for liquidity. Weff
have made investments in unconsolidated ventures. Refer to Note 4, “Investments in Unconsolidated Ventures” in “Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data” forff a discussion of such unconsolidated ventures in our consolidated financial statements.
In each case, our exposure to loss is limited to the carrying value of our investment.

Distributions Declared and Paid

We generally paid distributions on a monthly basis based on daily record dates on the first business day of the month following
the month for which the distribution was accrued. From the date of our first investment on April 5, 2013 through December 31,
2017, we paid an annualized distribution amount of $0.675 per share of our common stock. Our board of directors approved a
daily cash distribution of $0.000924658 per share of common stock, equivalent to an annualized distribution amount of $0.3375
per share, for the year ended December 31, 2018 and month ended January 31, 2019. Effective February 1, 2019, our board of
directors determined to suspend distributions in order to preserve capital and liquidity.
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The folff lowing table presents distributions declared (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

Distributions(1)

Cash $ — $ 2,991

DRP — 2,422

Total $ — $ 5,413

Sources of Distributions(1)

FFO(2) $ — — % $ 5,413 100 %

Offering proceeds - Other — — % — — %

Total $ — — % $ 5,413 100 %

Cash Flow Provided by (Used in) Operations $ 31,018 $ 25,298

_______________________________________
(1) Represents distributions declared for such period, even though such distributions are actually paid to stockholders the month following such period.ff
(2) From inception of our first investment on April 5, 2013 through December 31, 2020, we declared $433.8 million in distributions. Cumulative FFO for theff

period from April 5, 2013 through December 31, 2020 was $128.6 million.

To the extent distributions are paid from sources otheff r than FFO, the ownership interest of our public stockholders will be
diluted. Future distributions declared and paid may exceed FFO and cash flow provided by operations. FFO, as defined, may
not reflect actuat l cash available for distributions. Our ability to pay distributions from FFO or cash flow provideff d by operations
depends upon our operating performance, including the financial performance of our investments in the current real estate and
financial environmentff , the type and mix of our investments, accounting of our investments in accordance with U.S. GAAP, the
performance of underlying debt and ability to maintain liquidity. We will continue to assess our distribution policy in light of
our operating performance and capital needs.

Related Party Arrangements

Advisor

Subject to certain restrictions and limitations, our Advisor is responsible for managing our affairs onff a day-to-day basis and for
identifying, acquiring, originating and asset managing investments on our behalf. Our Advisor may delegate certain of its
obligations to affiliated entities, which may be organized under the laws of the United States or foreign jurisdictions.ff
References to our Advisor include our Advisor and any such affiliated entities. For such services, to the extent permitted by
law and regulations, our Advisor receives fees and reimbursements from us. Pursuant to our advisory agreement, our Advisor
may defer or waive fees in its discretion. Below is a description and table of the fees and reimbursements incurred to our
Advisor.

In June 2020, our advisory agreement was renewed for an additional one-year term commencing on June 30, 2020, with terms
identical to those in effect through June 30, 2020, but for the elimination of the disposition fees.

Fees to Advisor

Asset ManagementMM Fee

Effective January 1, 2018, our Advisor receives a monthly asset management fee equal to one-twelfth of 1.5% of our most
recently published aggregate estimated net asset value, as may be subsequently adjusted for any special distribution declared by
our board of directors in connection with a sale, transfer or other disposition of a substantial portion of our assets, with $2.5
million per calendar quarter of such fee paid in shares of our common stock at a price per share equal to the most recently
published net asset value per share.

Our Advisor has also agreed that all shares of our common stock issued to it in consideration of the asset management fee will
be subordinate in the Share Repurchase Program to shares of our common stock held by third party stockholders for a period of
two years, unless our advisory agreement is earlier terminated.

Incentive Fee

Our Advisor is entitled to receive distributions equal to 15.0% of our net cash flows, whether from continuing operations,
repayment of loans, disposition of assets or otherwise, but only after stockholders have received, in the aggregate, cumulative
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distributions equal to their invested capital plus a 6.75% cumulative, non-compounded annual pre-tax return on such invested
capital. From inception through December 31, 2020, our Advisor has not received any incentive fees.

Acquisition Fee

Effective January 1, 2018, our Advisor no longer receives an acquisition fee in connection with our acquisitions of real estate
properties or debt investments.

Disposition Fee

For substantial assistance in connection with the sale of investments and based on the services provided, as determined by our
independent directors, our Advisor could have received a disposition fee of 2.0% of the contract sales price of each property
sold and 1.0% of the contract sales price of each debt investment sold. We did not pay a disposition fee upon the maturity,
prepayment, workout, modification or extension of a debt investment unless there was a corresponding fee paid by our
borrower, in which case the disposition fee was the lesser of: (i) 1.0% of the principal amount of the debt investment prior to
such transaction; or (ii) the amount of the fee paid by our borrower in connection with such transaction. If we took ownership
of a property as a result of a workout or foreclosure of a debt investment, we paid a disposition fee upon the sale of such
property. A disposition fee from the sale of an investment was generally expensed and included in asset management and other
fees - related party in our consolidated statements of operations. A disposition fee for a debt investment incurred in a
transaction other than a sale was included in debt investments, net on our consolidated balance sheets and was amortized to
interest income over the life of the investment using the effective interest method.

Effective June 30, 2020, our Advisor no longer has the potential to receive a disposition fee in connection with the sale of real
estate properties or debt investments.

Reimbursements to Advisor

Operating Costs

Our Advisor is entitled to receive reimbursement for direct and indirect operating costs incurred by our Advisor in connection
with administrative services provided to us. Our Advisor allocates, in good faith, indirect costs to us related to our Advisor’s
and its affiliates’ employees, occupancy and other general and administrative costs and expenses in accordance with the terms
of, and subject to the limitations contained in, the advisory agreement with our Advisor. The indirect costs include our
allocable share of our Advisor’s compensation and benefit costs associated with dedicated or partially dedicated personnel who
spend all or a portion of their time managing our affairs, based upon the percentage of time devoted by such personnel to our
affairs. The indirect costs also include rental and occupancy, technology, office supplies, travel and entertainment and other
general and administrative costs and expenses. However, there is no reimbursement for personnel costs related to our executive
officers (although there may be reimbursement for certain executive officers of our Advisor) and other personnel involved in
activities for which our Advisor receives an acquisition fee or a disposition fee. Our Advisor allocates these costs to us relative
to its and its affiliates’ other managed companies in good faith and has reviewed the allocation with our board of directors,
including our independent directors. Our Advisor updates our board of directors on a quarterly basis of any material changes to
the expense allocation and provides a detailed review to the board of directors, at least annually, and as otherwise requested by
the board of directors. We reimburse our Advisor quarterly for operating costs (including the asset management fee) based on a
calculation, or the 2%/25% Guidelines, for the four preceding fiscal quarters not to exceed the greater of: (i) 2.0% of our
average invested assets; or (ii) 25.0% of our net income determined without reduction for any additions to reserves for
depreciation, loan losses or other similar non-cash reserves and excluding any gain from the sale of assets for that period.
Notwithstanding the above, we may reimburse our Advisor for expenses in excess of this limitation if a majority of our
independent directors determines that such excess expenses are justified based on unusual and non-recurring factors. We
calculate the expense reimbursement quarterly based upon the trailing twelve-month period.
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Summary of Fees and Reimbursementsy

The following tables present the feeff s and reimbursements incurred and paid to our Advisor (dollars in thousands):

Type of Fee or
Reimbursement

Due to Related
Party as of
December 31,

2019

Year Ended December 31,
2020 Due to Related

Party as of
December 31,

2020Financial Statement Location Incurred Paid
Fees to Advisor Entities(1)

Asset management(2) Asset management and other fees-related party $ 1,477 $ 17,170 $ (17,724) (2) $ 923
Reimbursements to Advisor Entities
Operating costs(3) General and administrative expenses 4,303 14,682 (11,590) 7,395
Total $ 5,780 $ 31,852 $ (29,314) $ 8,318

_______________________________________
(1) Effective June 30, 2020, our Advisor no longer has the potential to receive a disposition fee in connection with the sale of real estate properties or debt

investments. We did not incur any disposition fees during the year ended December 31, 2020, nor were any such fees outstanding as of December 31,
2020.

(2) Includes $9.7 million paid in shares of our common stock and a $0.3 million gain recognized on the settlement of the share-based payment.
(3) As of December 31, 2020, our Advisor did not have any unreimbursed operating costs which remained eligible to be allocated to us. For the year ended

December 31, 2020, total operating expenses included in the 2%/25% Guidelines represented 0.4% of average invested assets and 58.9% of net loss
without reduction for any additions to reserves for depreciation, loan losses or other similar non-cash reserves. Cost of capital is included in net proceeds
from issuance of common stock in our consolidated statements of equity. For the year ended December 31, 2020, we did not incur any offering costs.

Type of Fee or
Reimbursement

Due to Related
Party as of
December 31,

2018

Year Ended December 31,
2019 Due to Related

Party as of
December 31,

2019Financial Statement Location Incurred Paid
Fees to Advisor Entities(1)

Asset management(2) Asset management and other fees-related party $ 1,665 $ 19,789 $ (19,977) (2) $ 1,477
Reimbursements to Advisor Entities
Operating costs(3) General and administrative expenses 4,010 11,892 (11,599) 4,303
Total $ 5,675 $ 31,681 $ (31,576) $ 5,780
_______________________________________
(1) We did not incur any disposition fees during the year ended December 31, 2019, nor were any such fees outstanding as of December 31, 2019.
(2) Includes $9.9 million paid in shares of our common stock and a $0.1 million gain recognized on the settlement of the share-based payment.
(3) As of December 31, 2019, our Advisor did not have any unreimbursed operating costs which remained eligible to be allocated to us. For the year ended

December 31, 2019, total operating expenses included in the 2%/25% Guidelines represented 0.3% of average invested assets and 61.8% of net loss
without reduction for any additions to reserves for depreciation, loan losses or other similar non-cash reserves. Cost of capital is included in net proceeds
from issuance of common stock in our consolidated statements of equity. For the year ended December 31, 2019, we did not incur any offering costs.

Pursuant to our advisory agreement, for the yeaff r ended December 31, 2020, we issued 1.6 million shares totaling $9.7 million,
based on the estimated value per share on the date of each issuance, to an affiliate of our Advisor as part of its asset
management fee. As of December 31, 2020, our Advisor, our Sponsor and their affiliates owned a total of 4.7 million shares or
$18.3 million of our common stock based on our most recent estimated value per share. As of December 31, 2020, our
Advisor, our Sponsor and their affiliateff s owned 2.1% of the total outstanding shares of our common stock.

Investments in Joint Ventures

Solstice, the manager of the Winterfell portfolio, is a joint venture between affiliates of ISL, who owns 80.0%, and us, who
owns 20.0%. For the year ended December 31, 2020, we recognized property management fee expense of $5.0 million paid to
Solstice related to the Winterfell portfolio.

The below table indicates our investments for whicff h our Sponsor is also an equity partner in the joint venture. Each investment
was approvea d by our board of directors, including all of its independent directors. Refer to Note 4, “Investments in
Unconsolidated Ventures” of “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” for further discussion of these investments:ff

Portfolio Partner(s)
Acquisition
Date Ownership

Eclipse
Colony Capital/
Formation Capital, LLC May 2014 5.6%

Diversified US/UK
(formerly Griffin-American) Colony Capital December 2014 14.3%
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In connection with the acquisition of the Diversified US/UK (formerly Griffin-American) portfolio by NorthStar Realty
Finance Corp., or NorthStar Realty, now a subsidiary of Colony Capital, and us, our Sponsor acquired a 43.0%, as adjusted,
ownership interest in American Healthcare Investors, LLC, or AHI.

In December 2015, we, through a joint venture with GAHR3, a REIT sponsored and advised by AHI, acquired a 29.0% interest
in the Trilogy portfolio, a $1.2 billion healthcare portfolio and contributed $201.7 million for our interest. The purchase was
approved by our board of directors, including all of our independent directors. In October 2018, we sold 20.0% of our
ownership interest in the Trilogy joint venture, which generated gross proceeds of $48.0 million and reduced our ownership
interest in the joint venture from approximately 29% to 23%. We sold the ownership interest to a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the operating partnership of GAHR4, a REIT sponsored by AHI.

Mezzanine Loan

In July 2015, we originated a $75.0 million mezzanine loan to a subsidiary of our joint venture with Formation and Safanad
Management Limited, or the Espresso joint venture. In November 2019, we received a partial repayment of principal on the
Espresso mezzanine loan totaling $0.8 million.

Effective December 31, 2020, we executed an amended and restated loan agreement with the borrower of the mezzanine loan
debt investment. The terms set forth under the amended loan agreement include:

• a partial principal repayment totaling $5.0 million upon execution, which was received in January 2021, as well as the
remittance of modification fees upon certain milestones;

• a fixed interest rate of 14.0%, effective February 2021, as well as the accrual of additional PIK interest based on
outstanding principal balance thresholds;

• periodic principal repayments from the borrower’s available cash flow; and

• an extension of the loan’s maturity through January 2022.

Line of Credit - Related Party

In October 2017, we obtained our Sponsor Line for up to $15.0 million at an interest rate of 3.5% plus LIBOR. Our Sponsor
Line has an initial one year term, with an extension option of six months. Our Sponsor Line was approved by our board of
directors, including all of our independent directors.

In November 2017, the borrowing capacity under our Sponsor Line was increased to $35.0 million. In March 2018, our
Sponsor Line maturity date was extended through December 2020 and in May 2019, the maturity date was further extended
through December 2021. In July 2020, the maturity date was extended through December 2022.

In April 2020, we borrowed $35.0 million under the Sponsor Line to improve our liquidity position as a result of the COVID-19
pandemic.
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QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are primarily subject to interest rate risk and credit risk. These risks are dependent on various factors beyond our control,
including monetary and fiscal policies, domestic and international economic conditions and political considerations. Our
market risk sensitive assets, liabilities and related derivative positions (if any) are held for investment and not for tradingff
purposes.

Interest Rate Risk

Changes in interest rates may affect our net income as a result of changes in interest expense incurred in connection with
floating-rate borrowings used to finance our equity investments. As of December 31, 2020, 14.1% of our total borrowings wereof our total borrowings were
floating ratfloating rat le liiabili i d fbilities and none of our reaa ll estate debt investments were floating ratdebt investments were floating rat ie investments. As of December 31, 2020,
floating ratfloating rat le li bili iiabilities outstanding relateutstanding relatedd to mortgage notes payable of our direct operating investments and ourortgage notes payable of our direct operating investments and our Sp ionsor Line.

Our interest rate risk management objectives are to limit the impact of interest rate changes on earnings, prepayment penalties
and cash flows and to lower overall borrowing costs by borrowing primarily at fixed rates or variable rates with the lowest
margins available and by evaluating hedging opportunities.

For longer duration, relatively stable read l estate cash flowsff , such as those derived from net lease assets, we seek to use fixed rate
financing. For real estate cash flows witff h greater growth potential, such as operating properties, we may use floating rate
financing which provides prepayment flexibility and may provide a better match between underlying cash flow projections and
potential increases in interest rates.

The interest rate on our floating-rate liabilities isa a fixeff d spread over an index such as LIBOR and typically reprices every 30
days based on LIBOR in effect at the time. As of December 31, 2020, a hypothetical 100 basis point increase in interest rates
would increase net interest expense by $2.1 million annually. We did not have any floating rate reall estate d b idebt investments as
of bDecember 31, 2020.

A change in interest rates could affect the value of our fixed-rate debt investments. For instance, an increase in interest rates
would result in a higher required yield on investments, which would decrease the value on existing fixed-rate investments in
order to adjust their yields to current market levels. As of December 31, 2020, we had one fixed-rate debt investment with an
outstanding principal balance of $74.2 million.

In July 2017, the Chief Executive of the U.K. Financial Conduct Authority, or FCA, announced that the FCA intends to stop
persuading or compelling banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR after 2021. This announcement indicates that the
continuation of LIBOR on the current basis cannot and will not be guaranteed after 2021.

The discontinuation of a benchmark rate or other financial metric, changeff s in a benchmark rate or other financial metric, orff
changes in market perceptions of the acceptability of a benchmark rate or other financial metric, including LIBORff , could,
among other things result in increased interest payments, changes to our risk exposures, or require renegotiation of previous
transactions. In addition, any such discontinuation or changes, whether actuat l or anticipated, could result in market volatility,
adverse tax or accounting effects, increased compliance, legal and operational costs, and risks associated with contract
negotiations.

Credit Risk

We are subject to the credit risk of the operators of our healthcare properties. We undertake a rigorous credit evaluation of each
healthcare operator prior to acquiring healthcare properties. This analysis includes an extensive due diligence investigation of
the operator’s business as well as an assessment of the strategic importance of the underlying real estate to the operator’s core
business operations. Where appropriate, we may seek to augment the operator’s commitment to the facility by structuring
various credit enhancement mechanisms into the underlying leases. These mechanisms could include security deposit
requirements or guarantees from entities we deem creditworthy. In addition, we actively monitor lease coverage at each facility
within our healthcare portfolio. The extent of pending or future healthcare regulation may have a material impact on the
valuation and financial performancff e of this portion of our portfolio.

Credit risk in our debt investment relates to the borrower’s ability to make required interest and principal payments on
scheduled due dates. We seek to manage credit risk through our Advisor’s comprehensive credit analysis prior to making an
investment, actively monitoring our portfolio and the underlying credit quality, including subordination and diversification of
our portfolio. Our analysis is based on a broad range of real estate, financialff , economic and borrower-related factors whicff h we
believe are critical to the evaluation of credit risk inherent in a transaction.
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As of December 31, 2020, one borrower, a subsidiary of the Espresso joint venture, accounted for 100.0% of the aggregate
principal amount of our debt investments and 100.0% of our interest income for the year ended December 31, 2020. We
continue to assess the collectability of principal and interest and monitor the status of the sub-portfolios and senior lenders
within the joint venture. The debt investment matures in January 2022 and if the borrower is not able to refinance with another
lender or otherwise repay the principal amount at its stated maturity, we may have to negotiate modifications to the loan
agreement, which may delay our ability to realize liquidity from this investment.

Risk Concentration

The following table presents the operators and managers of our properties, excluding properties owned through unconsolidated
joint ventures (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, 2020

Operator / Manager

Properties
Under

Management
Units Under
Management(1)

Property and
Other Revenues(2)

% of Total
Property and
Other Revenues

Watermark Retirement
Communities 30 5,265 $ 138,708 50.3 %
Solstice Senior Living (3) 32 4,000 101,054 36.7 %
Avamere Health Services 5 453 17,367 6.3 %
Arcadia Management 4 572 10,615 3.9 %
Integral Senior Living (4) 1 44 7,405 2.7 %
Senior Lifestyle Corporation (5) 1 63 — — %
Other (6) — — 199 0.1 %
Total 73 10,397 $ 275,348 100.0 %

_______________________________________
(1) Represents rooms for ALFs and ILFs and beds for MCFs and SNFs, based on predominant type.
(2) Includes rental income received froff m our net lease properties, as well as rental income, ancillary service fees and other related revenue earned from ILF

residents and resident fee income derived from our ALFs, MCFs and CCRCs, which includes resident room and care charges, ancillary fees and other
resident service charges.

(3) Solstice is a joint venture of which affiliates of ISL own 80%.
(4) Property count and units excludes two ISL properties designated as held for sale as of December 31, 2020.
(5) Operator has failed to remit rental payments during the year ended December 31, 2020.
(6) Consists primarily of interest income earned on corporate-level cash accounts.

Watermark Retirement Communities and Solstice, together with their affiliates, manage substantially all of our operating
properties. As a result, we are dependent upon their personnel, expertise, technical resources and information systems,
proprietary information, good faith and judgment to manage our properties efficiently and effectively. Through our 20.0%
ownership of Solstice, we are entitled to certain rights and minority protections. As Solstice is a joint venture formed
exclusively to operate the Winterfell portfolio, Solstice has generated, and may continue to generate, operating losses if declines
in occupancy and operating revenues at our Winterfell portfolio continue.

The lease forff the properties operated by Watermark Retirement Communities (“Watermark”) expires in March 2022. We may
not be able to renew the lease with Watermark at the same rent, or at all, and it may also be difficult to findff a replacement
operator to operate these properties.
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CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management established and maintains disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that material
information relating to us and our subsidiaries required to be disclosed in reports that are filed or submitted under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or Exchange Act, are recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and communicated to management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosures.

As of the end of the period covered by this report, management conducted an evaluation as required under Rules 13a-15(b) and
15d-15(b) under the Exchange Act, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer of the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act).

Based on this evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that, as of the end of
the period covered by this report, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, a control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance
that it will detect or uncover failures to disclose material information otherwise required to be set forth in the Company’s
periodic reports.

Our internal control framework, which includes controls over financial reporting and disclosure, continues to operate
effectively. Considering the COVID-19 pandemic, we have supplemented our framework by instituting certain entity level
procedures and controls that ensure communication amongst our team that enhances our ability to prevent and detect material
errors and omissions.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

(a) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting.

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. As defined in
Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f), internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the
principal executive and principal financial officer and effected by the board of directors, management and other personnel, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures that:
(i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions
of our assets; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that our receipts and expenditures are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of our assets that could have a material effect on
our financial statements.

Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, we carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2020 based on the “Internal Control-Integrated Framework” (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (COSO). Based upon this evaluation, management has concluded that our internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2020.

(b) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting.

There have not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
under the Exchange Act) during the most recent fiscal quarter that materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure
controls and procedures or our internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all error and all fraud. A control
system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control
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system’s objectives will be met. The design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the
benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs.
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CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURE

None.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders

NorthStar Healthcare Income, Inc.

Opinion on the finff ancial statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of NorthStar Healthcare Income, Inc. (a Maryland corporation)
and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of comprehensive
income (loss), equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes
and financial statement scheduled s included under Item 15(a) (collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our
opinion, based on our audits and the report of other auditors, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows forff
each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America.

We did not audit the financial statements of Healthcare GA Holdings, General Partnership (“Griffin - American”), a joint
venture, which is accounted for under the equitff y method of accounting. The equity in its net loss was $35.4 million, $4.5
million and $12.7 million of consolidated equity in earnings (losses) of unconsolidated ventures for the years ended December
31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 respectively. Those statements were audited by other auditors, whose report has been furnished to us,ff
and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for Griffin - American, is based solely on the report of the other
auditors.

Basis for opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in
accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due tod
error or fraud. The Company is not required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over
financial reporting. As part of our audits we are required to obtain an understanding of internal control over financial reporting
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.
Accordingly, we express no such opinion.

Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audits and the report of the other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical audit matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that
were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that
are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and
we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on
the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Impairment of Operating Real Estate Assets

d ib d iAs described in Note 3 to th fi i lhe financial statements, the Company’s consolidated operating reahe Company’s consolidated operating reall estate assets, net carryiyirr ng valueng value
wa $s $ billi f b1.48 billion as of December 31, 2020 including impairment losses related to operating rea1, 2020 including impairment losses related to operating reall estate asset f $s of $ illi166.0 million
recorded during the yearecorded during the year e d d bnded December 31, 2020. The Company reviewThe Company review is its reall estate portfolio quarterly, or moreportfolio quarterly, or more
f lfrequentlyy as necessary, to assess whethey, to assess whetherr r there are any indicators thahere are any indicators that th l f ihe value of its operating reaperating reall e ystate may b i i dbe impaired or
htha it its carrying value macarrying value mayy n b blot be recoverable. W ie identified the Company’s quantitative impairment assessmentdentified the Company’s quantitative impairment assessment for operatingperating
reall estate assets as a c i iriticall a diudit matter.
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hThe p i irincipall c id i f d i i honsideration for our determination that the impairment of operating reahe impairment of operating reall estate asset is is a c i iriticall a diudit matte ir is
hthat the Company’s impairment assessment is highlhe Company’s impairment assessment is highly jy judgmental due to the significant estimation involved in assessing theudgmental due to the significant estimation involved in assessing the

d diexpected discounted fd future caff h flsh flows of the operating reahe operating reall estate assets. hiThi is i l dncludes th d i i f ihe determination of inputs a dnd
iassumptions suchh a ds diiscount rates, capitalization rates, revenue growtitalization rates, revenue growthh rates, property-level caroperty-level ca h flsh flows a d knd market rent
iassumptions, among others.ong others.

Our audit procedures related to the impairment of operating real estate assets included the following,ff among others:

• We obtained an understanding and evaluated the design and implementation of controls performff ed by management
relating to the impairment of operating real estate assets, which included controls over management’s development and
review of the significant inputs and assumptions used in the estimates described above.

• We obtained the Company’s quantitative impairment analysis and for a selection of operating properties assessed the
methodologies used by management and evaluated the significant assumptions described above. The key inputs used
in the assessment were substantiateu d through property operating budgets and other relevant underlying data. We
compared the significant assumptions used to estimate future cash flows to current industry forecasts, economic trends
and past performance, and tested the arithmetic accuracy of management’s calculations.

• We involved firm specialists in assessing the reasonableness of the valuatff ion models for a selection of operating
properties and performed sensitivity analyses on certain of the significant inputs and assumptions described above.a

Impairment of Goodwill

As described in Note 2 to the financial statements, the Company performs an annual impairment test for goodwill on its
Watermark Fountains Portfolio – Operating reporting unit and evaluates the recoverability whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of goodwill may not be fully recoverable. We identified the Company’s
quantitative goodwill impairment assessment for the Watermark Fountains – Operating reporting unit as a critical audit matter.

The principal consideration for our determination that the impairment of goodwill is a critical audit matter is that the
Company’s impairment assessment is highly judgmental due to the significant estimation involved in assessing the expected
future cash flows of the reporting unit. This includes the determination of inputs and assumptions such as discount rates,
capitalization rates, revenue growth rates, property-level cash flows and market rent assumptions, among others.

Our audit procedures related to the impairment of the Watermark Fountains – Operating reporting unit included the following,
among others:

• We obtained an understanding and evaluated the design and implementation of controls performff ed by management
relating to the impairment of goodwill, which included controls over management’s development and review of the
significant inputs and assumptions used in the estimates described above.

• We obtained the Company’s quantitative impairment analysis and forff a selection of operating properties within the
reporting unit we assessed the methodologies used by management and evaluated the significant assumptions
described above. The key inputs used in the assessment were substantiateu d through property operating budgets and
other relevant underlying data. We compared the significant assumptions used to estimate future cash flows to current
industry forecasts, economic trends and past performance, and tested the arithmetic accuracy of management’s
calculations.

• We involved firm specialists in assessing the reasonableness of the valff uation models prepared by the Company’s third-
party specialists for a selection of operating properties within the reporting unit and performed sensitivity analyses on
certain of the significant inputs and assumptions described above.a

/s/ GRANT THORNTONRR LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2010.

New York, New York

March 23, 2021
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Partners of Healthcare GA Holdings, General Partnership

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Healthcare GA Holdings, General Partnership (the
“Partnership”) as of December 31, 2020, the related consolidated statement of operations, comprehensive income (loss),
changes in partners’ equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively referred to
as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Partnership at December 31, 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
the year ended December 31, 2020, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Supplementary Information

The accompanying other financial information, including the Healthcare GA Holdings, General Partnership Consolidated
Financial Statements – Historical Basis of NorthStar Healthcare Income, Inc., have been subjected to audit procedures
performed in conjunction with the audit of the Partnership’s financial statements. This information is presented for purposes of
additional analysis and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of
the Partnership’s management. Our audit procedures included determining whether the information reconciles to the
consolidated financial statements or the underlying accounting and other records, as applicable, and performing procedures to
test the completeness and accuracy of the information. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material respects,
in relation to the consolidated financial statements as a whole.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Partnership’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Partnership’s financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the
Partnership in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB and in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that
was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that
are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The
communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken
as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit
matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
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Real Estate Impairment
Description of
the matter

As more fully disclosed in Note 1 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Partnership evaluates
its real estate held for investment for impairment periodically or whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. During the year ended
December 31, 2020, the Partnership recorded approximately $508.8 million in impairment losses related
to real estate assets classified as held for investment that are not expected to be recovered through future
undiscounted cash flows.

Auditing the Partnership’s assessment of the recoverability of its real estate assets is highly judgmental
due to the significant estimation in assessing the current and estimated future cash flows, the anticipated
hold period, and the exit capitalization rates for the Partnership’s real estate assets.

How we
addressed the
matter in our
audit

We obtained an understanding, and evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of controls
over the Partnership’s process to evaluate the recoverability and estimate the fair value of its real estate
assets, including controls over management’s development and review of the significant inputs and
assumptions used in the estimates.

To test management’s assessment for those real estate assets where there were indicators of impairment,
we performed audit procedures that included, corroborating probability weighted hold periods with
market conditions, giving consideration to management's plans, comparing the significant data and
assumptions used to estimate future cash flows and estimate the fair values to the Partnership’s
accounting records, current industry and economic trends, or other third-party data and testing the
mathematical accuracy of management’s calculations. On a sample basis, we also involved our valuation
specialists to assist in evaluating the reasonableness of significant assumptions and methodologies used in
the impairment assessments, including assessing consistency of such assumptions with external data
sources and evaluating management’s fair value estimate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Partnership’s auditor since 2017.

Los Angeles, California

March 19, 2021
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Partners of Healthcare GA Holdings, General Partnership

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Healthcare GA Holdings, General Partnership (the
Partnership) as of December 31, 2019, the related consolidated statement of operations, comprehensive income (loss), changes
in partners’ equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the
consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Partnership at December 31, 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year
ended December 31, 2019, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

Supplementary Information

The accompanying other financial information, including the Healthcare GA Holdings, General Partnership Consolidated
Financial Statements - Historical Basis of NorthStar Healthcare Income, Inc., have been subjected to audit procedures
performed in conjunction with the audit of the Partnership’s financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of the
Partnership’s management. Our audit procedures included determining whether the information reconciles to the financial
statements or the underlying accounting and other records, as applicable, and performing procedures to test the completeness
and accuracy of the information. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Partnership’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Partnership’s financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the
Partnership in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB and in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Partnership’s auditor since 2017.

New York, New York
March 20, 2020
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Partners of Healthcare GA Holdings, General Partnership

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Healthcare GA Holdings, General Partnership (the
Partnership) as of December 31, 2018, the related consolidated statement of operations, comprehensive income (loss), changes
in partners’ equity, and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2018, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the
consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of the Partnership at December 31, 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year
ended December 31, 2018, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

The Partnership’s Ability to Continue as a Going Concern

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Partnership will continue as a going
concern. As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Partnership has pending debt maturities in 2019
and has stated that substantial doubt exists about its ability to continue as a going concern. Management's evaluation of the
events and conditions and management’s plans regarding these matters are also described in Note 2. The consolidated financial
statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty. Our opinion is not modified
with respect to this matter.

Supplementary Information

The accompanying other financial information, including the Healthcare GA Holdings, General Partnership Consolidated
Financial Statements - Historical Basis of NorthStar Healthcare Income, Inc., have been subjected to audit procedures
performed in conjunction with the audit of the Partnership’s financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of the
Partnership’s management. Our audit procedures included determining whether the information reconciles to the financial
statements or the underlying accounting and other records, as applicable, and performing procedures to test the completeness
and accuracy of the information. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Partnership’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Partnership’s financial statements based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the
Partnership in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB and in accordance with auditing standards generally
accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud.

Our audit included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audit also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Partnership’s auditor since 2017.

New York, New York
March 21, 2019
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NORTHSTAR HEALTHCARE INCOME, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollars in Thousands, Except Share Data)

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 65,995 $ 41,884
Restricted cash 27,575 16,936
Operating real estate, net 1,483,930 1,700,218
Investments in unconsolidated ventures 229,173 268,894
Real estate debt investments, net 55,864 55,468
Assets held for sale 5,000 1,649
Receivables, net 14,735 13,314
Goodwill and intangible assets, net 26,483 28,355
Other assets 9,681 14,489

Total assets(1) $ 1,918,436 $ 2,141,207

Liabilities
Mortgage and other notes payable, net $ 1,416,871 $ 1,431,922
Line of credit - related party 35,000 —
Due to related party 8,318 5,780
Escrow deposits payable 3,851 3,292
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 38,393 28,135
Other liabilities 3,941 4,574

Total liabilities(1) 1,506,374 1,473,703
Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)
Equity
NorthStar Healthcare Income, Inc. Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 50,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019 — —
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 400,000,000 shares authorized, 190,409,341 and 189,111,561 shares
issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively 1,904 1,891
Additional paid-in capital 1,710,023 1,702,260
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit) (1,302,755) (1,041,297)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 467 (470)
Total NorthStar Healthcare Income, Inc. stockholders’ equity 409,639 662,384

Non-controlling interests 2,423 5,120
Total equity 412,062 667,504
Total liabilities and equity $ 1,918,436 $ 2,141,207

_______________________________________
(1) Represents the consolidated assets and liabilities of NorthStar Healthcare Income Operating Partnership, LP (the “Operating Partnership”). The Operating

Partnership is a consolidated variable interest entity (“VIE”), of which the Company is the sole general partner and owns approximately 99.99%. As of
December 31, 2020, the Operating Partnership includes $0.5 billion and $0.5 billion of assets and liabilities, respectively, of certain VIEs that are
consolidated by the Operating Partnership. Refer to Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.”

Refer to accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NORTHSTAR HEALTHCARE INCOME, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(Dollars in Thousands, Except Per Share Data)

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Property and other revenues
Resident fee income $ 118,126 $ 130,135 $ 129,855
Rental income 157,024 161,084 159,481
Other revenue 198 1,959 4,935
Total property and other revenues 275,348 293,178 294,271

Net interest income
Interest income on debt investments 7,674 7,703 7,706
Interest income on mortgage loans held in a securitized trustrr — — 5,149
Interest expense on mortgage obligations issued by a securitization trust — — (3,824)
Net interest income 7,674 7,703 9,031

Expenses
Real estate properties - operating expenses 184,178 181,214 188,761
Interest expense 65,991 68,896 70,196
Other expenses related to securitization trust — — 811
Transaction costs 65 122 888
Asset management and other fees - related party 17,170 19,789 23,478
General and administrative expenses 16,505 12,761 14,390
Depreciation and amortization 65,006 70,989 107,133
Impairment loss 165,968 27,554 36,277
Total expenses 514,883 381,325 441,934

Other income (loss)
Other income 1,840 — —
Realized gain (loss) on investments and other 302 6,314 20,243
Income (loss) before equity in earnings (losses) of unconsolidated
ventures and income tax expense (229,719) (74,130) (118,389)

Equity in earnings (losses) of unconsolidated ventures (34,466) (3,545) (33,517)
Income tax expense (53) (75) (114)
Net income (loss) (264,238) (77,750) (152,020)

Net (income) loss attributable to non-controlling interests 2,780 790 442
Net income (loss) attributable to NorthStar Healthcare Income, Inc.
common stockholders $ (261,458) $ (76,960) $ (151,578)

Net income (loss) per share of common stock, basic/diluted $ (1.38) $ (0.41) $ (0.81)
Weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding, basic/
diluted 189,573,204 189,054,270 187,501,302
Distributions declared per share of common stock $ — $ 0.03 $ 0.34

Refer to accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NORTHSTAR HEALTHCARE INCOME, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

(Dollars in Thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Net income (loss) $ (264,238) $ (77,750) $ (152,020)
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Foreign currency translation adjustments related to investment in
unconsolidated venture 937 1,814 (1,968)
Total other comprehensive income (loss) 937 1,814 (1,968)
Comprehensive income (loss) (263,301) (75,936) (153,988)

Comprehensive (income) loss attributable to non-controlling interests 2,780 790 442
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to NorthStar
Healthcare Income, Inc. common stockholders $ (260,521) $ (75,146) $ (153,546)

Refer to accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NORTHSTAR HEALTHCARE INCOME, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY

(Dollars and Shares in Thousands)

Common Stock Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

(Accumulated
Deficit)

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total
Company’s
Stockholders’
Equity

Non-
controlling
Interests

Total
EquityShares Amount

Balance as of December 31,
2017 186,709 $ 1,867 $ 1,681,040 $ (744,090) $ (316) $ 938,501 $ 6,298 $ 944,799
Share-based payment of
advisor asset management fees 1,078 11 9,019 — — 9,030 — 9,030
Issuance and amortization of
equity-based compensation 21 — 174 — — 174 — 174
Amortization of equity-based
compensation — — — — — — — —
Non-controlling interests -
contributions — — — — — — 484 484
Non-controlling interests -
distributions — — — — — — (641) (641)

Shares redeemed for cash (3,275) (33) (25,874) — — (25,907) — (25,907)
Distributions declared — — — (63,256) — (63,256) — (63,256)
Proceeds from distribution
reinvestment plan 3,962 40 33,639 — — 33,679 — 33,679
Other comprehensive income
(loss) — — — — (1,968) (1,968) — (1,968)

Net income (loss) — — — (151,578) — (151,578) (442) (152,020)
Balance as of December 31,
2018 188,495 $ 1,885 $ 1,697,998 $ (958,924) $ (2,284) $ 738,675 $ 5,699 $ 744,374
Share-based payment of
advisor asset management fees 1,408 14 9,885 — — 9,899 — 9,899
Issuance and amortization of
equity-based compensation 35 — 239 — — 239 — 239
Non-controlling interests -
contributions — — — — — — 505 505
Non-controlling interests -
distributions — — — — — — (294) (294)
Shares redeemed for cash (1,514) (15) (10,731) — — (10,746) — (10,746)
Distributions declared — — — (5,413) — (5,413) — (5,413)
Proceeds from distribution
reinvestment plan 687 7 4,869 4,876 — 4,876
Other comprehensive income
(loss) — — — — 1,814 1,814 — 1,814
Net income (loss) — — — (76,960) — (76,960) (790) (77,750)
Balance as of December 31,
2019 189,111 $ 1,891 $ 1,702,260 $ (1,041,297) $ (470) $ 662,384 $ 5,120 $ 667,504
Share-based payment of
advisor asset management fees 1,600 16 9,669 — — 9,685 — 9,685
Issuance and amortization of
equity-based compensation 29 — 169 — 169 — 169
Non-controlling interests -
contributions — — — — — — 234 234
Non-controlling interests -
distributions — — — — — — (151) (151)

Shares redeemed for cash (331) (3) (2,075) — — (2,078) — (2,078)
Other comprehensive income
(loss) — — — — 937 937 — 937
Net income (loss) — — — (261,458) — (261,458) (2,780) (264,238)
Balance as of December 31,
2020 190,409 $ 1,904 $ 1,710,023 $ (1,302,755) $ 467 $ 409,639 $ 2,423 $ 412,062

Refer to accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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NORTHSTAR HEALTHCARE INCOME, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Dollars in Thousands)
Year Ended December 31,

2020 2019 2018
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $ (264,238) $ (77,750) $ (152,020)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Equity in (earnings) losses of unconsolidated ventures 34,466 3,545 33,517
Depreciation and amortization 65,006 70,989 107,133
Impairment loss 165,968 27,554 36,277
Capitalized interest for mortgage and other notes payable 222 193 —
Amortization of below market debt 3,090 3,015 2,932
Straight-line rental income, net and amortization of lease inducements 441 (467) 440
Amortization of discount/accretion of premium on investments (125) (113) (101)
Amortization of deferred financing costs 1,887 1,850 1,946
Amortization of equity-based compensation 169 239 174
Realized (gain) loss on investments and other (302) (6,314) (20,243)
Allowance for uncollectible accounts 2,371 801 3,172
Issuance of common stock as payment for asset management fees 9,685 9,899 9,030
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Receivables (4,233) 691 1,219
Other assets 4,859 (629) 645
Due to related party 2,853 204 4,766
Escrow deposits payable 559 (1,087) 563
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 8,479 (6,647) (2,205)
Other liabilities (139) (675) 741

Net cash provided by operating activities 31,018 25,298 27,986
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures for operating real estate (15,214) (22,323) (31,212)
Sale of operating real estate 927 19,618 11,784
Sale of healthcare-related securities — — 35,771
Repayment of real estate debt investment — 818 —
Investment in unconsolidated ventures — (39,801) (4,470)
Sale of ownership interest in unconsolidated ventures — — 47,813
Distributions from unconsolidated ventures 5,923 35,922 12,672
Other assets (51) 1,479 1,590

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (8,415) (4,287) 73,948
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings from mortgage notes — 12,800 —
Repayment of mortgage notes (20,250) (51,734) (25,979)
Borrowings from line of credit - related party 35,000 — —
Payment of deferred financing costs — (708) (283)
Debt extinguishment costs — — (97)
Payments under finance leases (608) (585) (610)
Shares redeemed for cash (2,078) (10,746) (25,907)
Distributions paid on common stock — (10,813) (68,560)
Proceeds from distribution reinvestment plan — 4,876 33,679
Contributions from non-controlling interests 234 505 484
Distributions to non-controlling interests (151) (294) (641)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 12,147 (56,699) (87,914)
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 34,750 (35,688) 14,020
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash-beginning of period 58,820 94,508 80,488
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash-end of period $ 93,570 $ 58,820 $ 94,508
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NORTHSTAR HEALTHCARE INCOME, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(Dollars in Thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest $ 53,140 $ 64,163 $ 64,568
Cash paid for income taxes 10 28 187

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:
Accrued distribution payable $ — $ — $ 5,400
Accrued capital expenditures 1,779 2,378 1,456
Assets acquired under finance leases 112 — 2,108
Reclassification of assets held for sale 5,000 — 2,183
Deconsolidation of securitization trust (VIE asset/liability) — — 512,772

Refer to accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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1. Business and Organization

NorthStar Healthcare Income, Inc., together with its consolidated subsidiaries (the “Company”), was formed to acquire,
originate and asset manage a diversified portfolio of equity, debt and securities investments in healthcare real estate, directly or
through joint ventures, with a focus on the mid-acuity seniors housing sector, which the Company defines as assisted living
(“ALF”), memory care (“MCF”), skilled nursing (“SNF”), independent living (“ILF”) facilities and continuing care retirement
communities (“CCRC”), which may have independent living, assisted living, skilled nursing and memory care available on one
campus. The Company also invests in other healthcare property types, including medical office buildings (“MOB”), hospitals,
rehabilitation facilities and ancillary healthcare services businesses. The Company’s investments are predominantly in the
United States, but it also selectively makes international investments.

The Company was formed in October 2010 as a Maryland corporation and commenced operations in February 2013. The
Company elected to be taxed as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended
(the “Internal Revenue Code”), commencing with the taxable year ended December 31, 2013. The Company conducts its
operations so as to continue to qualify as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

Substantially all of the Company’s business is conducted through NorthStar Healthcare Income Operating Partnership, LP (the
“Operating Partnership”). The Company is the sole general partner of the Operating Partnership. The limited partners of the
Operating Partnership are NorthStar Healthcare Income Advisor, LLC (the “Prior Advisor”) and NorthStar Healthcare Income
OP Holdings, LLC (the “Special Unit Holder”), each an affiliate of the Company’s sponsor. The Prior Advisor invested $1,000
in the Operating Partnership in exchange for common units and the Special Unit Holder invested $1,000 in the Operating
Partnership and was issued a separate class of limited partnership units (the “Special Units”), which are collectively recorded as
non-controlling interests on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019.
As the Company issued shares, it contributed substantially all of the proceeds from its continuous, public offerings to the
Operating Partnership as a capital contribution. As of December 31, 2020, the Company’s limited partnership interest in the
Operating Partnership was 99.99%.

The Company’s charter authorizes the issuance of up to 400.0 million shares of common stock with a par value of $0.01 per
share and up to 50.0 million shares of preferred stock with a par value of $0.01 per share. The board of directors of the
Company is authorized to amend its charter, without the approval of the stockholders, to increase the aggregate number of
authorized shares of capital stock or the number of shares of any class or series that the Company has authority to issue.

The Company is externally managed and has no employees. The Company is sponsored by Colony Capital, Inc. (NYSE:
CLNY) (“Colony Capital” or the “Sponsor”), a leading global investment management firm.

Colony Capital manages capital on behalf of its stockholders, as well as institutional and retail investors in private funds and
non-traded and traded REITs. The Company’s advisor, CNI NSHC Advisors, LLC (the “Advisor”), is a subsidiary of Colony
Capital and manages its day-to-day operations pursuant to an advisory agreement.

From inception through December 31, 2020, the Company raised total gross proceeds from the sale of shares of common stock
totaling $2.0 billion (the “Offering”), including $232.6 million pursuant to its distribution reinvestment plan (the “DRP”).

Impact of COVID-19

At the time of preparation of this Annual Report, the world continues to face a global pandemic, the coronavirus 2019
(“COVID-19”). Efforts to address the pandemic continue to significantly impact economic and financial markets globally and
across all facets of industries, including real estate. Specifically, the Company's healthcare real estate business and investments
have experienced a myriad of challenges, including, but not limited to, declines in resident occupancy and operating cash flows,
increases in cost burden faced by operators, lease concessions sought by tenants, and a stressed market affecting real estate
values in general. Most of these COVID-19 effects on the Company's business significantly impacted results of operations
beginning with the three months ended June 30, 2020, and continued throughout the remainder of the year 2020. At this time,
the Company anticipates these effects to be sustained and continue in future periods. While the Company itself has the ability to
meet its near term liquidity needs, general market concerns over credit and liquidity continue to permeate in an economic
downturn environment. The effects of COVID-19 may also lead to heightened risk of litigation at the investment and corporate
level, with an ensuing increase in litigation and related costs.

If a general economic downturn resulting from efforts to contain COVID-19 persists over an extended period of time, this could
have a prolonged negative impact on the Company's financial condition and results of operations. At this time, as the extent and

NORTHSTAR HEALTHCARE INCOME, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
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duration of the increasingly broad effects of COVID-19 on the global economy remain unclear, it is difficult for the Company
to assess and estimate the impact on the Company's results of operations with any meaningful precision. Accordingly, any
estimates of the effects of COVID-19 as reflected and or discussed in these financial statements are based upon the Company's
best estimates using information known to the Company as of the date of this Annual Report, and such estimates may change,
the effects of which could be material. The Company will continue to monitor the progression of COVID-19 and reassess its
effects on the Company’s results of operations and recoverability in value across its assets as conditions change.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Accounting

The accompanying consolidated financial statements and related notes of the Company have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”).

Reclassifications

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified on the consolidated statements of cash flows from the supplemental
disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities to adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by
operating activities to conform to current period presentation.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company, the Operating Partnership and their consolidated
subsidiaries. The Company consolidates entities in which it has a controlling financial interest by first considering if an entity
meets the definition of a variable interest entity (“VIE”) for which the Company is deemed to be the primary beneficiary or if
the Company has the power to control an entity through majority voting interest or other arrangements. All significant
intercompany balances are eliminated in consolidation.

Variable Interest Entities

A VIE is an entity that lacks one or more of the characteristics of a voting interest entity. A VIE is defined as an entity in which
equity investors do not have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest or do not have sufficient equity at risk for the
entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support from other parties. The determination of
whether an entity is a VIE includes both a qualitative and quantitative analysis. The Company bases its qualitative analysis on
its review of the design of the entity, its organizational structure including decision-making ability and relevant financial
agreements and the quantitative analysis on the forecasted cash flow of the entity. The Company reassesses its initial
evaluation of an entity as a VIE upon the occurrence of certain reconsideration events.

A VIE must be consolidated only by its primary beneficiary, which is defined as the party who, along with its affiliates and
agents, has both the: (i) power to direct the activities that most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance; and (ii)
obligation to absorb the losses of the VIE or the right to receive the benefits from the VIE, which could be significant to the
VIE. The Company determines whether it is the primary beneficiary of a VIE by considering qualitative and quantitative
factors, including, but not limited to: which activities most significantly impact the VIE’s economic performance and which
party controls such activities; the amount and characteristics of its investment; the obligation or likelihood for the Company or
other interests to provide financial support; consideration of the VIE’s purpose and design, including the risks the VIE was
designed to create and pass through to its variable interest holders and the similarity with and significance to the business
activities of the Company and the other interests. The Company reassesses its determination of whether it is the primary
beneficiary of a VIE each reporting period. Judgments related to these determinations include estimates about the current and
future fair value and performance of investments held by these VIEs and general market conditions.

The Company evaluates its investments and financings, including investments in unconsolidated ventures and securitization
financing transactions to determine whether each investment or financing is a VIE. The Company analyzes new investments
and financings, as well as reconsideration events for existing investments and financings, which vary depending on type of
investment or financing.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company has identified certain consolidated and unconsolidated VIEs. Assets of each of the
VIEs, other than the Operating Partnership, may only be used to settle obligations of the respective VIE. Creditors of each of
the VIEs have no recourse to the general credit of the Company.

NORTHSTAR HEALTHCARE INCOME, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
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Consolidated VIEs

The most significant consolidated VIEs are the Operating Partnership and certain properties that have non-controlling interests.
These entities are VIEs because the non-controlling interests do not have substantive kick-out or participating rights. The
Operating Partnership consolidates certain properties that have non-controlling interests. Included in operating real estate, net
on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2020 is $494.3 million related to such consolidated VIEs.
Included in mortgage and other notes payable, net on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 is
$459.4 million, collateralized by the real estate assets of the related consolidated VIEs.

Investing VIEs

The Company’s investment in a securitization financing entity (“Investing VIE”) consisted of subordinate first-loss certificates
in a securitization trust, generally referred to as Class B certificates, which represents interests in such VIE. Investing VIEs are
structured as pass through entities that receive principal and interest payments from the underlying debt collateral assets and
distribute those payments to the securitization trust’s certificate holders, including the Class B certificates. A securitization
trust will name a directing certificate holder, who is generally afforded the unilateral right to terminate and appoint a
replacement for the special servicer, and as such may qualify as the primary beneficiary of the trust.

The Company held Class B certificates in an Investing VIE for which the Company had determined it was the primary
beneficiary because it had the power to direct the activities that most significantly impacted the economic performance of the
securitization trust. As a result, all of the assets, liabilities (obligations to the certificate holders of the securitization trust, less
the Company’s retained interest from the Class B certificates of the securitization), income and expense of the entire Investing
VIE were presented in the consolidated financial statements of the Company as required by U.S. GAAP. The Company’s Class
B certificates, which represented the retained interest and related interest income, were eliminated in consolidation. Regardless
of the presentation, the Company’s consolidated financial statements of operations ultimately reflect the net income attributable
to its retained interest in the Class B certificates.

In March 2018, the Company sold the Class B certificates of its consolidated Investing VIE, relinquishing its rights as directing
certificate holder. As a result, the Company was no longer deemed the primary beneficiary of the securitization trust and,
accordingly, did not present the assets or liabilities of the securitization trust on its consolidated balance sheets as of December
31, 2019 and December 31, 2018. The Company has presented the income and expenses of the securitization trust on its
consolidated statements of operations for the periods that the Company owned the Class B certificates and was considered the
primary beneficiary in 2018.

Unconsolidated VIEs

As of December 31, 2020, the Company identified unconsolidated VIEs related to its real estate equity investments with a
carrying value of $229.2 million. The Company’s maximum exposure to loss as of December 31, 2020 would not exceed the
carrying value of its investment in the VIEs and its investment in a mezzanine loan to a subsidiary of one of the VIEs. Based
on management’s analysis, the Company determined that it is not the primary beneficiary of these VIEs and, accordingly, they
are not consolidated in the Company’s financial statements as of December 31, 2020. The Company did not provide financial
support to its unconsolidated VIEs during the year ended December 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, there were no explicit
arrangements or implicit variable interests that could require the Company to provide financial support to its unconsolidated
VIEs.

Voting Interest Entities

A voting interest entity is an entity in which the total equity investment at risk is sufficient to enable it to finance its activities
independently and the equity holders have the power to direct the activities of the entity that most significantly impact its
economic performance, the obligation to absorb the losses of the entity and the right to receive the residual returns of the entity.
The usual condition for a controlling financial interest in a voting interest entity is ownership of a majority voting interest. If
the Company has a majority voting interest in a voting interest entity, the entity will generally be consolidated. The Company
does not consolidate a voting interest entity if there are substantive participating rights by other parties and/or kick-out rights by
a single party or through a simple majority vote.

The Company performs on-going reassessments of whether entities previously evaluated under the voting interest framework
have become VIEs, based on certain events, and therefore subject to the VIE consolidation framework.
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Investments in Unconsolidated Ventures

A non-controlling, unconsolidated ownership interest in an entity may be accounted for using the equity method or the
Company may elect the fair value option.

The Company will account for an investment under the equity method of accounting if it has the ability to exercise significant
influence over the operating and financial policies of an entity, but does not have a controlling financial interest. Under the
equity method, the investment is adjusted each period for capital contributions and distributions and its share of the entity’s net
income (loss). Capital contributions, distributions and net income (loss) of such entities are recorded in accordance with the
terms of the governing documents. An allocation of net income (loss) may differ from the stated ownership percentage interest
in such entity as a result of preferred returns and allocation formulas, if any, as described in such governing documents. Equity
method investments are recognized using a cost accumulation model, in which the investment is recognized based on the cost to
the investor, which includes acquisition fees. The Company records as an expense certain acquisition costs and fees associated
with consolidated investments deemed to be business combinations and capitalizes these costs for investments deemed to be
acquisitions of an asset, including an equity method investment.

Non-controlling Interests

A non-controlling interest in a consolidated subsidiary is defined as the portion of the equity (net assets) in a subsidiary not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. A non-controlling interest is required to be presented as a separate
component of equity on the consolidated balance sheets and presented separately as net income (loss) and comprehensive
income (loss) attributable to controlling and non-controlling interests. An allocation to a non-controlling interest may differ
from the stated ownership percentage interest in such entity as a result of a preferred return and allocation formula, if any, as
described in such governing documents.

Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that could affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.
Actual results could materially differ from those estimates and assumptions. Any estimates of the effects of COVID-19 as
reflected and or discussed in these financial statements are based upon the Company's best estimates using information known
to the Company as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Such estimates may change and the impact of which could
be material.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The Company reports consolidated comprehensive income (loss) in separate statements following the consolidated statements
of operations. Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change in equity resulting from net income (loss) and other
comprehensive income (loss) (“OCI”). The only component of OCI for the Company is foreign currency translation
adjustments related to its investment in an unconsolidated venture.

Fair Value Option

The fair value option provides an election that allows a company to irrevocably elect to record certain financial assets and
liabilities at fair value on an instrument-by-instrument basis at initial recognition. The Company may elect to apply the fair
value option for certain investments due to the nature of the instrument. Any change in fair value for assets and liabilities for
which the election is made is recognized in earnings.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

The Company considers all highly-liquid investments with an original maturity date of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. Cash, including amounts restricted, may at times exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation deposit
insurance limit of $250,000 per institution. The Company mitigates credit risk by placing cash and cash equivalents with major
financial institutions. To date, the Company has not experienced any losses on cash and cash equivalents.

Restricted cash consists of amounts related to operating real estate (escrows for taxes, insurance, capital expenditures, security
deposits received from tenants and payments required under certain lease agreements) and other escrows required by lenders of
the Company’s borrowings.
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The folff lowing table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash as reported on the consolidated
balance sheets to the total of such amounts as reported on the consolidated statements of cash flows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Cash and cash equivalents $ 65,995 $ 41,884 $ 73,811
Restricted cash 27,575 16,936 20,697
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 93,570 $ 58,820 $ 94,508

Operating Real Estatep g

Operating real estate is carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Major replacements and betterments which
improve or extend the life of the asset are capitalized and depreciated over their useful life. Ordinary repairs and maintenance
are expensed as incurred. Operating real estate is depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful life of the
assets, summarized as follows:

Category:g y Term:

Building 30 to 50 years

Building improvements Lesser of the useful life or remaining life of the building

Land improvements 9 to 15 years

Tenant improvements Lesser of the useful life or remaining term of the lease

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 to 14 years

Construction costs incurred in connection with the Company’s investments are capitalized and included in operating real estate,
net on the consolidated balance sheets. Construction in progress is not depreciated until the asset is available for itff s intended
use.

Lessee Accountingg

A leasing arrangement, a right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration, is
classified by the lessee either as a finance leaseff , which represents a financeff d purchase of the leased asset, or as an operating
lease. For leases with terms greater than 12 months, a lease asset and a lease liability are recognized on the balance sheet at
commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term.

Lease renewal or termination options are included in the lease asset and lease liability only if it is reasonably certain that the
option to extend would be exercised or the option to terminate would not be exercised. As the implicit rate in most leases are
not readily determinable, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate for each lease at commencement datff e is used to determine
the present value of lease payments. Consideration is given to the Company’s recent debt financing transactions, as well as
publicly available data for instrumentff s with similar characteristics, adjusted for the respective lease term, when estimating
incremental borrowing rates.

Lease expense is recognized over the lease term based on an effective interest method for finance leases and on a straight-line
basis for operating leases.

Right of Use (“ROU”) - FinancFF e Assets

The Company has entered into finance leaseff s forff equipment totaling $3.5 million, which is included in furniture, fixtures, and
equipment within operating real estate, net on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The leased equipment is amortized
on a straight-line basis. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, payments for finance leaseff s totaled $0.7 million,
respectively.
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The folff lowing table presents the future minimum lease payments under finance leases and the present value of the minimum
lease payments, which are included in other liabilities on the Company’s consolidated balance sheeta s (dollars in thousands):

Years Ending December 31:
2021 $ 670
2022 577
2023 155
2024 59
2025 17
Thereafter 9
Total minimum lease payments $ 1,487
Less: Amount representing interest $ (112)
Present value of minimum lease payments $ 1,375

The weighted average interest rate related to the finance lease obligations is 6.2% with a weighted average lease term of 2.4
years.

As of December 31, 2020, there were no leases that had yet to commence which would create significant rights and obligations
to the Company as lessee.

Assets Held For Sale

The Company classifies certain long-lived assets as held for sale once the criteria, as defined by U.S. GAAP, have been met and
are expected to sell within one year. Long-lived assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of their carrying amount or
fair value minus cost to sell, with any write-down recorded to impairment loss on the consolidated statements of operations.
Depreciation and amortization is not recorded for assets classified as held for sale. As of Decembeff r 31, 2020, the Company
classified two operating real estate properties within the Kansas City portfolio as held for saleff , as presented on its consolidated
balance sheets As of December 31, 2019, the Company had one net lease property classified as held for saleff , which was sold in
July 2020.

Real Estate Debt Investments

Real estate debt investments are generally intended to be held to maturity and, accordingly, are carried at cost, net oft
unamortized loan fees, premiumff , discount and unfunded commitments. Debt investments where the Company does not have
the intent to hold the loan for the foreseeable future or untiff l its expected payoff are classified as held for sale and recorded at theff
lower of cost or estimated faiff r value. Refer to “—Credit Losses on Real Estate Debt Investments and Receivables” for
additional information on estimated credit loses for real estatff e debt investments.

Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Deferreff d Costs, g

Deferred CostsCC

Deferred costs primarily include deferred financing costs and deferred lease costs. Deferred financing costs represent
commitment fees, legal and other third-party costs associated with obtaining financing. These costs are recorded against the
carrying value of such financing and are amortized to interest expense over the term of the financing using the effective interest
method. Unamortized deferred financing costs are expensed to realized gain (loss) on investments and other, when the
associated borrowing is repaid before maturity. Costs incurred in seeking financing transactions which do not close are
expensed in the period in which it is determined that the financing will not occur. Deferred lease costs consist of fees incurred
to initiate and renew operating leases, which are amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining lease term and are
recorded to depreciation and amortization in the consolidated statements of operations.

Identified IntangiblesII

The Company records acquired identified intangibles, such as the value of in-place leases, goodwill and other intangibles, based
on estimated faiff r value at the acquisition date. The value allocated to the identified intangibles is amortized over the remaining
lease term. In-place leases are amortized into depreciation and amortization expense.
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Impairment analysis for identified intangible assets is performed in connection with the impairment assessment of the related
operating real estate. An impairment establishes a new basis for the identified intangible asset and any impairment loss
recognized is not subject to subsequent reversal. Refer to “—Credit Losses and Impairment on Investments - Operating Real
Estate” forff additional information.

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of net tangible and intangible assets acquired in a
business combination and is not amortized. The Company performs an annual impairment test for goodwill and evaluates the
recoverability whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value of goodwill may not be fully
recoverable. In making such assessment, qualitative factors are used to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair
value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value. If the estimated fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying
value, then an impairment charge is recorded.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company tested its goodwill for impairment. The accounting guidance under
ASC 350-20 requires that any assets in the reporting unit of goodwill that are subject to impairment testing be evaluated prior to
testing the goodwill of the reporting unit for impairment. As a result of impairment recorded on the operating real estate of the
reporting unit during the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company concluded that the fair value of its goodwill reporting
unit remains greater than its carrying value and goodwill was not impaired as of December 31, 2020. The Company utilized
future net cash flows expected to be generated by the properties in a discounted cash flow analysis using terminal capitalization
rates ranging from 6.50% to 7.75% and discount rates ranging from 7.75% to 9.25%.

The Company concluded that the fair value of the goodwill reporting unit was less than 10% in excess of its carrying value as
of December 31, 2020. If a general economic downturn resulting from efforts to contain COVID-19 persists over an extended
period of time, this could have a prolonged negative impact on the performaff nce of the Company's operating real estate. At this
time, as the extent and duration of the increasingly broad effects of COVID-19 on the global economy remain unclear, it is
difficult forff the Company to assess and estimate the impact with any meaningful precision.

Identified intangible assets are recorded in deferred costs and intangible assets, net on the consolidated balance sheets. The
following table presents deferred costs and intangible assets, net (dollars in thousands):

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Goodwill and intangible assets, net:g ,
In-place lease value, net $ 4,635 $ 6,437
Goodwill 21,387 21,387
Certificate of need intangible assets 380 380
Subtotal intangible assets 26,402 28,204

Deferred costs, net 81 151
Total $ 26,483 $ 28,355

The Company recorded $1.9 million and $8.3 million of amortization expense for in-place leases and deferred costs for the yearff
ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

In-place lease value, net includes a gross asset amount of $130.0 million for in-place leases related to the Company’s direct
investment - net lease properties, of which $125.4 million has been amortized as of December 31, 2020. All other in-place
leases related to the Company’s direct investment - operating properties have been fully amortized as of December 31, 2020.

The following table presents futureff amortization of in-place lease value and deferred costs (dollars in thousands):

Years Ending December 31:
2021 $ 1,871
2022 593
2023 337
2024 337
2025 337
Thereafter 1,241
Total $ 4,716
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Acquisition Fees and Expensesq p

The total of all acquisition fees and expenses for an investmentff , including acquisition fees to the Advisor, cannot exceed, in the
aggregate, 6.0% of the contract purchase price of such investment unless such excess is approved by a majority of the
Company’s directors, including a majority of its independent directors. Effective January 1, 2018, the Advisor no longer
receives an acquisition fee in connection with the Company’s acquisitions of real estate properties or debt investments. For the
year ended December 31, 2020, the Company did not incur any acquisition fees or expenses to the Advisor or third parties. The
Company records as an expense for certain acquisition costs and fees associated with transactions deemed to be business
combinations in which it consolidates the asset and capitalizes these costs for transactions deemed to be acquisitions of an asset,
including an equity investment.

Other Assets

The following table presents a summary of other assets (dollars in thousands):

December 31,
2020

December 31,
2019

Other assets:
Healthcare facility regulatory reserve deposit(1) $ — $ 6,000
Remainder interest in condominium units(2) 2,327 2,327
Prepaid expenses 3,798 3,841
Lease / rent inducements, net 2,246 1,636
Utility deposits 447 317
Other 863 368
Total $ 9,681 $ 14,489

_______________________________________
(1) As of December 31, 2020, the Company is in possession of the regulatory reserve deposit and, accordingly, the amount totaling

$6.0 million has been reclassified to restricted cash.
(2) Represents future interests in property subject to life estates.

Revenue Recognitiong

Operating Real Estate

Rental income from operating real estate is derived from leasing of space to healthcare operators, including rent received fromff
the Company’s net lease properties and rent, ancillary service feeff s and other related revenue earned from ILF residents. Rental
revenue recognition commences when the operator takes legal possession of the leased space and the leased space is
substantially ready for its intended use. The leases are for fixed terms of varying length and generally provide for rentals and
expense reimbursements to be paid in monthly installments. Rental income froff m leases is recognized on a straight-line basis
over the term of the respective leases. ILF resident agreements are generally short-term in nature and may allow for termination
with 30 days’ notice. The excess of rents recognized over amounts contractually due pursuant to the underlying leases ared
included in receivables, net on the consolidated balance sheets. The Company amortizes any operator inducements as a
reduction of revenue utilizing the straight-line method over the term of the lease.

The Company also generates operating income from operating healthcare properties. Revenue related to operating healthcare
properties includes resident room and care charges, ancillary fees and other resident service charges. Rent is charged and
revenue is recognized when such services are provided, generally defined per the resident agreement as of the date upon whichu
a resident occupies a room or uses the services. Resident agreements are generally short-term in nature and may allow for
termination with 30 days’ notice. Income derived from our ALFs, MCFs and CCRCs is recorded in resident fee income in the
consolidated statements of operations.

Lease income from operators and residents is recognized at lease commencement only to the extent collection is expected to be
probable in consideration of operators’ and residents’ creditworthiness. This assessment is based on several qualitative and
quantitative factors, including and as appropriate, the payment history, ability to satisfy its lease obligations, the value of the
underlying collateral or deposit, if any, and current economic conditions. If collection is assessed to not be probable thereafter,
lease income recognized is limited to lease payments collected, with the reversal of any income recognized to date in excess of
amounts received. If collection is subsequently reassessed to be probable, lease income is adjusted to reflect the amount of
income that would have been recognized had collection always been assessed as probable. For the year ended December 31,
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2020, the operator of the Smyrna (formerly Peregrine) portfolio failed to remit rental payments and accordingly no rental
income was recognized. Further, the Company continues to monitor the operator for the Arbors portfolio, which is currently in
lease default as a result of the operators’ failure to remit rent timely and satisfy other conditions under its lease. As of
December 31, 2020, the Company expects rent collection to be probable forff the Arbors portfolio.

For the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, total property and other revenues includes variable lease revenues of
$14.4 million and $16.2 million, respectively. Variable lease income includes ancillary services provided to operator/residents,
as well as non-recurring services and fees at the Company’s operating facilities. In addition, during the year ended
December 31, 2020, the Company recognized $1.8 million in grant incomegrant income received from the Provider Relief Fund
administered by the U.S Department of Health & Human Services (“DHHS”). The grant income is classified as other income
in the consolidated statements of operations.

Lease Concessions Related to COVID-19

As a result of the COVID-19 crisis, the Company continues to engage with affected operators on a case-by-case basis to
evaluate and respond to the current environment and assess the potential for flexible payment terms. For lease concessions
resulting directly from the impact of COVID-19 that do not result in a substantial increase in the rights of the lessor or the
obligations of the lessee, for example, where total paymentff s required by the modified contract will be substantiallu y the same as
or less than the original contract, the Company made a policy election to account for the concessions as though the enforceable
rights and obligations for those concessions existed in the lease contracts, under a relief provided by the Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB”). Under the relief, the concessions will not be treated as lease modifications that are accounted forff
over the remaining term of the respective leases, as the Company believes this would not accurately reflect the temporary
economic effect of the concessions. Instead, (i) rent deferrals that meet the criteria will be treated as if no changes were made to
the lease contract, with continued recognition of lease income and receivable under the original terms of the contract; and (ii)
rent forgiveness that meets the criteria will be accounted for as variable lease payments in the affected periods.

Effective June 1, 2020, the Company granted a lease concession to the operator of its Fountains net lease portfolio. The
concession allowed the operator to defer a portion of contractual rent payments forff a 90-day period, with full contractual rent to
be repaid over the 12 months following the concession period. The lease concession provided the operator relief consistent
with the debt forbearance received from the lender of the properties in the portfolio. The amount of the deferred rental
payments under the lease concession totaled $3.9 million. The lease concession period ended on August 31, 2020 and the
operator has resumed remitting contractual rent payments, including amounts related to deferred rent granted under the lease
concession. As there were no substantive changes to the original lease or changes in total cash flows, the concession was not
treated as a lease modification and the Company continues to recognize lease income and receivables under the original terms
of the lease.

Real Estate Debt Investments

Interest income is recognized on an accrual basis and any related premium, discount, origination costs and fees are amortized
over the life of the investment using the effective interest method. The amortization is reflected as an adjustment to interest
income in the consolidated statements of operations. The amortization of a premium or accretion of a discount is discontinued
if such investment is reclassified to held for sale.ff

Income recognition is suspended for an investment at the earlier of the date at which payments become 90-days past due or
when, in the opinion of the Company, a full recovery of income and principaff l becomes doubtful. When the ultimate
collectability of the principal of an investment is in doubt, all payments are applied to principal under the cost recovery method.
When the ultimate collectability of the principal of an investment is not in doubt, contractual interest is recorded as interest
income when received, under the cash basis method until an accrual is resumed when the investment becomes contractually
current and performance is demonstrated to be resumed. Interest accrued and not collected will be reversed against interest
income. An investment is written off when it is no longer realizable and/or legally discharged.

Impairment on Operating Real Estate and Investments in Unconsolidated Venturesp p g

Due to uncertainties over the extent and duration of the economic fallout from COVID-19, at this timeff . It is difficult for theff
Company to assess and estimate the future economic effects of COVID-19 with any meaningful precision. As the actual impact
of COVID-19 will depend on many factors beyond the Company’s control and knowledge, the resulting effect on impairment
of the Company's real estate held for investment and helff d for sale and investments in unconsolidated ventures maff y materially
differ fromff the Company's current expectations and furtheff r impairment charges may be recorded in future periods.
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Operating Real Estate

The Company’s real estate portfolio is reviewed on a quarterly basis, or more frequently as necessary, to assess whether there
are any indicators that the value of its operating real estate may be impaired or that its carrying value may not be recoverable.
A property’s value is considered impaired if the Company’s estimate of the aggregate expected future undiscounted cash flow
generated by the property is less than the carrying value. In conducting this review, the Company considers U.S.
macroeconomic factors, real estate and healthcare sector conditions, together with asset specific and other factors. To the extent
an impairment has occurred, the loss is measured as the excess of the carrying value of the property over the estimated fair
value and recorded in impairment loss in the consolidated statements of operations.

Real estate held for sale is stated at the lower of its carrying amount or estimated fair value less disposal cost, with any write-
down to disposal cost recorded as an impairment loss. For any increase in fair value less disposal cost subsequent to
classification as held for sale, the impairment may be reversed, but only up to the amount of cumulative loss previously
recognized.

The Company considered the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the future net operating income of its healthcare
real estate held for investment as an indicator of impairment. Fair values were estimated based upon the income capitalization
approach, using net operating income for each property and applying indicative capitalization rates.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recorded impairment losses totaling $166.0 million on its operating
real estate and held for sale investments. Impairment losses recorded during the year ended December 31, 2020 include the
following:

• Winterfell Portfolio. Impairment losses totaled $84.9 million for nine independent living facilities as a result of
sustained declines in occupancy and operating margins.

• Aqua Portfolio. Impairment losses totaled $19.9 million for a facility that has sustained poor performance and declines
in occupancy and have been significantly impacted by the effects of COVID-19.

• Fountains Portfolio. Impairment losses totaled $42.7 million for five facilities that have sustained poor performance,
declines in occupancy and have been significantly impacted by the effects of COVID-19.

• Rochester Portfolio. Impairment losses totaled $12.5 million for two facilities that have sustained poor performance,
declines in occupancy and have been significantly impacted by the effects of COVID-19.

• Avamere Portfolio. Impairment losses totaled $4.2 million for a facility that has sustained poor performance, declines
in occupancy and decreased operating margins.

• Assets held for sale or sold. Impairment losses totaled $1.8 million to reflect net realizable values for properties sold
or designated as held for sale during the year ended December 31, 2020.

Investments in Unconsolidated Ventures

The Company reviews its investments in unconsolidated ventures for which the Company did not elect the fair value option on
a quarterly basis, or more frequently as necessary, to assess whether there are any indicators that the value may be impaired or
that its carrying value may not be recoverable. An investment is considered impaired if the projected net recoverable amount
over the expected holding period is less than the carrying value. In conducting this review, the Company considers global
macroeconomic factors, including real estate sector conditions, together with investment specific and other factors. To the
extent an impairment has occurred and is considered to be other than temporary, the loss is measured as the excess of the
carrying value of the investment over the estimated fair value and recorded in equity in earnings (losses) of unconsolidated
ventures in the consolidated statements of operations.

During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company did not impair any of its investments in unconsolidated ventures,
however, the underlying joint ventures have recorded impairments and reserves on properties in their respective portfolios,
which the Company has recognized through equity in earnings (losses), of which the Company’s proportionate share totaled
$38.2 million. Impairment losses recorded by the underlying joint ventures during the year ended December 31, 2020 include
the following:

• Diversified US/UK (formerly Griffin-American) Portfolio. The underlying joint venture recorded $508.8 million of
impairment losses for the year ended December 31, 2020. Adjusted for accounting basis differences, the Company’s
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proportionate share of impairment losses totaled $34.4 million. Operating real estate impairment resulted from
shortened holding period assumptions and lower projected future cash flows and market values as a result of the
economic effects of COVID-19.

• Eclipse Portfolio. The Company’s proportionate share of impairment losses totaled $3.2 million. Operating real estate
impairment resulted from lower projected future market values as a result of the economic effects of COVID-19.

• Trilogy Portfolio. The Company’s proportionate share of impairment losses totaled $0.6 million.

Credit Losses on Real Estate Debt Investments and Receivables

The current expected credit loss (“CECL”) model, in estimating expected credit losses over the life of a financial instrument at
the time of origination or acquisition, considers historical loss experiences, current conditions and the effects of reasonable and
supportable expectations of changes in future macroeconomic conditions. The Company assesses the estimate of expected
credit losses on a quarterly basis or more frequently as necessary. The Company considers historical credit loss information
that is adjusted for current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts.

The Company measures expected credit losses of real estate debt investments and other receivables (“Financial Assets”) on a
collective basis when similar risk characteristics exist. If the Company determines that a particular Financial Asset does not
share risk characteristics with its other Financial Assets, the Company evaluates the Financial Asset for expected credit losses
on an individual basis.

When developing an estimate of expected credit losses on Financial Assets, the Company considers available information
relevant to assessing the collectability of cash flows. This information may include internal information, external information,
or a combination of both relating to past events, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. The Company
considers relevant qualitative and quantitative factors that relate to the environment in which the Company operates and are
specific to the borrower.

Further, the fair value of the collateral, less estimated costs to sell, may be used when determining the allowance for credit
losses for a Financial Asset for which the repayment is expected to be provided substantially through the sale of the collateral
when the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company has not recorded an allowance for credit losses on its Financial Assets. Refer to Note
5, “Real Estate Debt Investments” for additional information regarding the carrying value of the Company’s real estate debt
investment.

Foreign Currency

Assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency for which the functional currency is a foreign currency are translated
using the currency exchange rate in effect at the end of the period presented and the results of operations for such entities are
translated into U.S. dollars using the average currency exchange rate in effect during the period. The resulting foreign currency
translation adjustment is recorded as a component of accumulated OCI in the consolidated statements of equity.

Assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency for which the functional currency is the U.S. dollar are remeasured
using the currency exchange rate in effect at the end of the period presented and the results of operations for such entities are
remeasured into U.S. dollars using the average currency exchange rate in effect during the period.

As of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had exposure to foreign currency through an investment in an
unconsolidated venture, the effects of which are reflected as a component of accumulated OCI in the consolidated statements of
equity and in equity in earnings (losses) in the consolidated statements of operations.

Equity-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for equity-based compensation awards using the fair value method, which requires an estimate of fair
value of the award at the time of grant. All fixed equity-based awards to directors, which have no vesting conditions other than
time of service, are amortized to compensation expense over the awards’ vesting period on a straight-line basis. Equity-based
compensation is classified within general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.
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Income Taxes

The Company elected to be taxed as a REIT and to comply with the related provisions of the Internal Revenue Code beginning
in its taxable year ended December 31, 2013. Accordingly, the Company will generally not be subject to U.S. federal income
tax to the extent of its distributions to stockholders as long as certain asset, gross income and share ownership tests are met. To
maintain its qualification as a REIT, the Company must annually distribute dividends equal to at least 90.0% of its REIT
taxable income (with certain adjustments) to its stockholders and meet certain other requirements. The Company believes that
all of the criteria to maintain the Company’s REIT qualification have been met for the applicable periods, but there can be no
assurance that these criteria will continue to be met in subsequent periods. If the Company were to fail to meet these
requirements, it would be subject to U.S. federal income tax and potential interest and penalties, which could have a material
adverse impact on its results of operations and amounts available for distributions to its stockholders. The Company’s
accounting policy with respect to interest and penalties is to classify these amounts as a component of income tax expense,
where applicable. The Company has assessed its tax positions for all open tax years, which include 2017 to 2020, and
concluded there were no material uncertainties to be recognized.

The Company may also be subject to certain state, local and franchise taxes. Under certain circumstances, federal income and
excise taxes may be due on its undistributed taxable income.

The Company made a joint election to treat certain subsidiaries as taxable REIT subsidiaries (“TRS”) which may be subject to
U.S. federal, state and local income taxes. In general, a TRS of the Company may perform services for managers/operators/
residents of the Company, hold assets that the Company cannot hold directly and may engage in any real estate or non-real
estate related business.

Certain subsidiaries of the Company are subject to taxation by federal, state and foreign authorities for the periods presented.
Income taxes are accounted for by the asset/liability approach in accordance with U.S. GAAP. Deferred taxes, if any, represent
the expected future tax consequences when the reported amounts of assets and liabilities are recovered or paid. Such amounts
arise from differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are adjusted for changes in tax
laws and tax rates in the period which such changes are enacted. A provision for income tax represents the total of income
taxes paid or payable for the current period, plus the change in deferred taxes. Current and deferred taxes are provided on the
portion of earnings (losses) recognized by the Company with respect to its interest in the TRS. Deferred income tax assets and
liabilities are calculated based on temporary differences between the Company’s U.S. GAAP consolidated financial statements
and the federal and state income tax basis of assets and liabilities as of the consolidated balance sheets date. The Company
evaluates the realizability of its deferred tax assets (e.g., net operating loss and capital loss carryforwards) and recognizes a
valuation allowance if, based on the available evidence, it is more likely than not that some portion or all of its deferred tax
assets will not be realized. When evaluating the realizability of its deferred tax assets, the Company considers estimates of
expected future taxable income, existing and projected book/tax differences, tax planning strategies available and the general
and industry specific economic outlook. This realizability analysis is inherently subjective, as it requires the Company to
forecast its business and general economic environment in future periods. Changes in estimate of deferred tax asset
realizability, if any, are included in provision for income tax benefit (expense) in the consolidated statements of operations.
The Company has a deferred tax asset, which as of December 31, 2020 totaled $18.2 million and continues to have a full
valuation allowance recognized, as there are no changes in the facts and circumstances to indicate that the Company should
release the valuation allowance.

The Company recorded an income tax expense of approximately $53,000, $75,000 and $114,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Accounting Standards Adopted in 2020

Credit Losses—In June 2016, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments-
Credit Losses, followed by subsequent amendments, which modifies the credit impairment model for financial instruments.
ASU No. 2016-13 was codified as Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 326. Pursuant to ASC Topic 326, the
multiple existing incurred loss models have been replaced with the CECL model for off-balance sheet credit exposures that are
not unconditionally cancellable by the lender and financial instruments carried at amortized cost, such as loans, loan
commitments, held-to-maturity debt securities, financial guarantees, net investment in sales-type and direct financing leases,
reinsurance and trade receivables. Targeted changes are also made to the impairment model of available-for-sale (“AFS”) debt
securities which are not within the scope of CECL.
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The CECL model, in estimating expected credit losses over the life of a financial instrument at the time of origination or
acquisition, considers historical loss experience, current conditions and the effects of a reasonable and supportable expectation
of changes in future macroeconomic conditions. Recognition of allowance for credit losses under the CECL model will
generally be accelerated as it encompasses credit losses over the full remaining expected life of the affected financial
instruments. For collateralized financial assets, measurement of credit losses under CECL is based on fair value of the
collateral if foreclosure is probable or if the collateral-dependent practical expedient is elected for financial assets expected to
be repaid substantially through operation or sale of the collateral when the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty. The
accounting model for purchased credit-impaired loans and debt securities will be simplified to be consistent with the CECL
model for originated and purchased non-credit-impaired assets. For AFS debt securities, unrealized credit losses will be
recognized as allowances rather than reductions in amortized cost basis and elimination of the other-than-temporary impairment
concept will result in more frequent estimation of credit losses. ASC 326 also requires expanded disclosures on credit risk,
including credit quality indicators by vintage of financing receivables.

The Company adopted the new standard on January 1, 2020. The Company has identified its mezzanine loan debt investment
to be within the scope of ASU No. 2016-13. The Company has developed the policies, systems and controls required for the
implementation and ongoing management of CECL. ASU 2016-13 specifies that an allowance for credit losses should be based
on relevant information about past events, including historical loss experience, current portfolio and market conditions, and
reasonable and supportable forecasts for the duration of each respective loan. Based on its analysis, the Company has not
recorded any credit loss allowance for its mezzanine loan upon the adoption of this standard. Refer to Note 5, “Real Estate
Debt Investments” for additional information.

The Company had no debt securities with unrealized loss in accumulated other comprehensive income as of December 31, 2019
and accordingly, there was no impact upon adoption of the new standard. As it relates to the Company’s other accounts
receivable that are subject to CECL, there was no impact from adoption of the new standard.

Related Party Guidance for VIEs—In November 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-17, Targeted Improvements to Related
Party Guidance for Variable Interest Entities. The ASU amends the VIE guidance to align, throughout the VIE model, the
evaluation of a decision maker's or service provider’s fee held by a related party, whether or not they are under common
control, in both the assessment of whether the fee qualifies as a variable interest and the determination of a primary beneficiary.
Specifically, a decision maker or service provider considers interests in a VIE held by a related party under common control
only if it has a direct interest in that related party under common control and considers such indirect interest in the VIE held by
the related party under common control on a proportionate basis, rather than in its entirety. Transition is generally on a
modified retrospective basis, with the cumulative effect adjusted to retained earnings at the beginning of the earliest period
presented. The Company adopted ASU No. 2018-17 on January 1, 2020, with no transitional impact upon adoption.

Future Application of Accounting Standards

Income Tax Accounting—In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Simplifying the Accounting for Income
Taxes. The ASU simplifies accounting for income taxes by eliminating certain exceptions to the general approach in ASC 740,
Income Taxes, and clarifies certain aspects of the guidance for more consistent application. The simplifications relate to
intraperiod tax allocations when there is a loss in continuing operations and a gain outside of continuing operations, accounting
for tax law or tax rate changes and year-to-date losses in interim periods, recognition of deferred tax liability for outside basis
difference when investment ownership changes, and accounting for franchise taxes that are partially based on income. The ASU
also provides new guidance that clarifies the accounting for transactions resulting in a step-up in tax basis of goodwill, among
other changes. Transition is generally prospective, other than the provision related to outside basis difference which is on a
modified retrospective basis with cumulative effect adjusted to retained earnings at the beginning of the period adopted, and
franchise tax provision which is on either full or modified retrospective. ASU No. 2019-12 is effective January 1, 2021, with
early adoption permitted in an interim period, to be applied to all provisions. The Company is currently evaluating the impact
of this new guidance.

Accounting for Certain Equity Investments—In January 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-01, Clarifying the Interactions
between Topic 321, Topic 323, and Topic 815. The ASU clarifies that if as a result of an observable transaction, an equity
investment under the measurement alternative is transitioned into equity method and vice versa, an equity method investment is
transitioned into measurement alternative, the investment is to be remeasured immediately before and after the transaction,
respectively. The ASU also clarifies that certain forward contracts or purchased options to acquire equity securities that are not
deemed to be derivatives or in-substance common stock will generally be measured using the fair value principles of ASC 321
before settlement or exercise, and that an entity should not be considering how it will account for the resulting investments
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upon eventual settlement or exercise. ASU No. 2020-01 is to be applied prospectively, effective January 1, 2021, with early
adoption permitted in an interim period. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this new guidance.

Reference Rate Reform—In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU No. 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848): Facilitation((
of the Effects ott f Ro eference Rate Reform on Financial Reporting. The guidance in Topic 848 is optional, the election of which
provides temporary relief for the accounting effectff s on contracts, hedging relationships and other transactions impacted by the
transition from interbank offered rates (such as London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”)) that are expected to be
discontinued by the end of 2021 to alternative reference rates (such as Secured Overnight Financing Rate). Modification of
contractual terms to effect the reference rate reform transition on debt, leases, derivatives and other contracts is eligible for
relief from modification accounting and accounted for asff a continuation of the existing contract. Topic 848 is effective upon
issuance through December 31, 2022, and may be appliea d retrospectively to January 1, 2020. The Company may elect practical
expedients or exceptions as applicable over time as reference rate reform activities occur.

3. Operating Real Estate

The following table presents operating real estate, net (dollars in thousands):

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Land $ 234,706 $ 236,036
Land improvements 23,797 23,287
Buildings and improvements 1,389,706 1,551,113
Tenant improvements 16,172 14,642
Construction in progress 2,535 4,956
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 108,055 100,998
Subtotal $ 1,774,971 $ 1,931,032

Less: Accumulated depreciation (291,041) (230,814)
Operating real estate, net $ 1,483,930 $ 1,700,218

For the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 depreciation expense was, $63.1 million, $62.8 million and
$60.0 million, respectively.

Within the table above, buildings and improvements have been reduced d by accumulated impairment losses of $213.9 million
and $58.0 million as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively. Impairment loss, as presented on the
consolidated statements of operations, totaled $166.0 million and $27.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively. Refer to Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies” for further discussion.

Future Minimum Rental Income

Minimum rental amounts due under leases are generally either subject to scheduled fixed increases or adjustments. The
following table presents approximate future minimuma rental income under noncancelable operating leases to be received over
the next five years and thereafter as of December 31, 2020 (dollars in thousands):

Years Ending December 31:(1)

2021 $ 34,183

2022 14,659

2023 10,919

2024 11,192

2025 11,472

Thereafter 45,604

Total $ 128,029
_______________________________________
(1) Excludes rental income from residents at ILFs that are subject to short-term leases.
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Net lease rental properties owned as of December 31, 2020 have current lease expirations of 2022 and 2029, with certain
operator renewal rights. These net lease arrangements require the operator to pay rent and substantially all the expenses of the
leased property including maintenance, taxes, utilities and insurance. For certain properties, the operators pay the Company, in
addition to the contractual base rent, their pro rata share of real estate taxes and operating expenses. The Company’s net lease
agreements provide for periodic rental increases based on the greater of certain percentages or increase in the consumer price
index.

4. Investments in Unconsolidated Ventures

All investments in unconsolidated ventures are accounted for under the equity method. The following tables present the
Company’s investments in unconsolidated ventures (dollars in thousands):

Carrying Value

Portfolio
Acquisition
Date Ownership

December 31,
2020

December 31,
2019(1)

Eclipse May-2014 5.6 % $ 5,624 $ 9,483
Envoy(2) Sep-2014 11.4 % 2 399
Diversified US/UK
(formerly Griffin-American) Dec-2014 14.3 % 89,651 125,597
Espresso(3) Jul-2015 36.7 % — —
Trilogy(4) Dec-2015 23.2 % 133,896 133,361
Subtotal $ 229,173 $ 268,840

Operator Platform(5) Jul-2017 20.0 % — 54
Total $ 229,173 $ 268,894

_______________________________________
(1) Includes $1.3 million, $13.4 million, $7.6 million and $9.8 million of capitalized acquisition costs for the Company’s investments in the Eclipse,

Diversified US/UK (formerly Griffin-American), Espresso and Trilogy joint ventures, respectively.
(2) In March 2019, the Envoy joint venture completed the sale of its remaining 11 properties for a sales price of $118.0 million, which generated net proceeds

to the Company totaling $4.3 million. The Company’s carrying value for its investment in the Envoy joint venture represents additional proceeds to be
received upon satisfaction of certain conditions under the sale.

(3) As a result of impairments and other non-cash reserves recorded by the joint venture, the Company’s carrying value of its Espresso unconsolidated
investment was reduced to zero in the fourth quarter of 2018. The Company has recorded the excess equity in losses related to its unconsolidated venture
as a reduction to the carrying value of its mezzanine loan, which was originated to a subsidiary of the Espresso joint venture.

(4) In October 2018, the Company sold 20.0% of its ownership interest in the Trilogy joint venture, which generated gross proceeds of $48.0 million and
reduced the Company’s ownership interest in the joint venture from approximately 29% to 23%.

(5) Represents investment in Solstice Senior Living, LLC (“Solstice”), the manager of the Winterfell portfolio. Solstice is a joint venture between affiliates
of Integral Senior Living, LLC (“ISL”), a management company of ILF, ALF and MCF founded in 2000, which owns 80.0%, and the Company, which
owns 20.0%. As a result of losses recorded by the joint venture, the Company’s carrying value of its Solstice unconsolidated investment was reduced to
zero in the third quarter of 2020.

Year Ended December 31, 2020 Year Ended December 31, 2019

Portfolio

Equity in
Earnings
(Losses)

Select Revenues
and (Expenses),

net(1)
pp Cash

Distributions

Equity in
Earnings
(Losses)

Select Revenues
and (Expenses),

net(1)
pp Cash

Distributions
Eclipse $ (3,774) $ (4,769) $ 86 $ 435 $ (987) $ 2,717
Envoy (7) — 390 20 (892) 4,339 (4)

Diversified US/UK
(Formerly Griffin-
American) (35,396) (47,177) 1,487 (4,540) (16,359) 23,061
Espresso 270 (9,415) — (2,426) (8,530) —
Trilogy(2) 4,495 (13,617) 3,960 3,003 (13,797) 5,805
Subtotal $ (34,412) $ (74,978) $ 5,923 $ (3,508) $ (40,565) $ 35,922

Operator Platform(3) (54) — — (37) — —
Total $ (34,466) $ (74,978) $ 5,923 $ (3,545) $ (40,565) $ 35,922

_______________________________________
(1) Represents the net amount of the Company’s proportionate share of select revenues and expenses, including: straight-line rental income (expense),

(above)/below market lease and in-place lease amortization, (above)/below market debt and deferred financing costs amortization, depreciation and
amortization expense, acquisition fees and transaction costs, loan loss reserves, liability extinguishment gains, debt extinguishment losses, impairment, as
well as unrealized and realized gain (loss) from sales of real estate and investments.
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(2) The Trilogy joint venture received and recognized federal COVID-19 provider relief funds totaling $53.9 millionff , of which the Company’s proportionate
share totaled $12.5 million, and is included in equity in earnings for the year ended December 31, 2020.

(3) Represents the Company’s investment in Solstice. During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company's unconsolidated investment in Solstice was
reduced to zero. As such, the Company did not recognize its proportionate share of losses from the joint venture of approximately $3,000 for the year
ended December 31, 2020.

(4) In March 2019, the Envoy joint venture completed the sale of its remaining 11 properties for a sales price of $118.0 million, which generated net proceeds
to the Company totaling $4.3 million.

Summarized FinFF ancial Data

The combined balance sheets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and combined statements of operations for the years ended
December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 for the Company’s unconsolidated ventures are as follows (dollars in thousands):

December 31,
2020

December 31,
2019

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Assets
Operating real estate, net $ 4,500,319 $ 4,821,757 Total revenues $ 1,562,284 $ 1,575,758 $ 1,514,098
Other assets 1,261,678 1,199,552 Net income (loss) $ (294,501) $ (17,689) $ (150,170)
Total assets $ 5,761,997 $ 6,021,309

Liabilities and equity
Total liabilities $ 4,626,761 $ 4,578,905
Equity 1,135,236 1,442,404
Total liabilities and equity $ 5,761,997 $ 6,021,309

5. Real Estate Debt Investments

The following tabla e presents the Company’s one debt investment (dollars in thousands):

Carrying Value(1)

Asset Type:
Principal
Amount December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019 Fixed Rate

Final Maturity
Date

Mezzanine loan(1) $ 74,182 $ 55,864 $ 55,468 10.0 % Jan 2022

_______________________________________
(1) As a result of impairments and other non-cash reserves recorded by the joint venture, the Company’s carrying value of its Espresso unconsolidated

investment was reduced to zero in the fourth quarter of 2018. The Company has recorded the excess equity in losses related to its unconsolidated
investment as a reduction to the carrying value of its mezzanine loan, which was originated todd a subsidiary of the Espresso joint venture. As of
December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the cumulative excess equity in losses included in the mezzanine loan carrying value were $18.3 million and
$18.6 million, respectively.

The Company evaluates its debt investment at least quarterly based on: (i) whether the borrower is currently paying contractual
debt service in accordance with its contractual terms; and (ii) whether the Company believes the borrower will be able to
perform under its contractual terms in the future, as well as the Company’s expectations as to the ultimate recovery of principal.
The Company considers historical credit loss information, current conditions, the effects of expectations of changes in future
macroeconomic conditions as well as reasonable and supportable forecasts.

As of December 31, 2020, the Company’s debt investment was performing in accordance with the contractual terms of its
governing documents. The Company continues to assess the collectability of principal and interest and expects to receive full
payment of contractual interest and recover the principal outstanding. As of December 31, 2020, contractual debt service has
been paid in accordance with contractual terms.

Effective December 31, 2020, the Company executed an amended and restated loan agreement with the borrower of our debt
investment. The terms set forth under the amended loan agreement include:

• a partial principal repayment totaling $5.0 million upon execution, which was received in January 2021, as well as the
remittance of modification fees upon certain milestones;

• a fixed interest rate of 14.0%, effective Februarr ry 2021, as well as the accrual of additional payment-in-kind, interest
based on outstanding principal balance thresholds;
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• periodic principal repayments from the borrower’s available cash flowff ; and

• an extension of the loan’s maturity through January 2022.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the mezzanine loan represented 100.0% of the Company’s interest income on debt
investments as presented on the consolidated statements of operations.

6. Borrowings

The following tabla e presents the Company’s mortgage and other notes payable (dollars in thousands):

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Recourse vs.
Non-Recourse

Final
Maturity(1)

Contractual
Interest Rate(2)

Principal
Amount(3)

Carrying
Value(3)

gg Principal
Amount(3)

Carrying
Value(3)

gg

Mortgage notes payable, net

Watermark Aqua Portfolio

Denver, CO Non-recourse Feb 2021 LIBOR + 2.92% $ 20,189 $ 20,183 $ 20,547 $ 20,500

Frisco, TX Non-recourse Mar 2021 LIBOR + 3.04% 18,770 18,764 19,170 19,127

Milford, OH Non-recourse Sep 2026 LIBOR + 2.68% 18,760 18,423 18,760 18,357

Rochester Portfolio

Rochester, NY Non-recourse Feb 2025 4.25% 19,907 19,830 20,228 20,131

Rochester, NY(4) Non-recourse Aug 2027 LIBOR + 2.34% 101,224 100,378 101,224 100,267

Rochester, NY Non-recourse Aug 2021 LIBOR + 2.90% 12,800 12,584 12,800 12,232

Arbors Portfolio(5)

Various locations Non-recourse Feb 2025 3.99% 87,302 86,521 89,026 88,020

Watermark Fountains Portfolio(6)

Various locations Non-recourse Jun 2022 3.92% 386,607 385,606 392,269 390,508

Various locations Non-recourse Jun 2022 5.56% 73,439 73,180 74,208 73,750

Winterfell Portfolio(7)

Various locations Non-recourse Jun 2025 4.17% 622,045 607,526 632,024 614,415

Avamere Portfolio(8)

Various locations Non-recourse Feb 2027 4.66% 70,427 69,962 71,464 70,922

Subtotal mortgage notes payable, net $ 1,431,470 $ 1,412,957 $ 1,451,720 $ 1,428,229

Other notes payable

Oak Cottage

Santa Barbara, CA Non-recourse Feb 2022 6.00% 3,914 3,914 3,693 3,693

Subtotal other notes payable, net $ 3,914 $ 3,914 $ 3,693 $ 3,693

Total mortgage and other notes payable, net $ 1,435,384 $ 1,416,871 $ 1,455,413 $ 1,431,922

_______________________________________
(1) Refer to Note 15, “Subsequent Events” for additional information regarding the final maturity dates for two of the mortgage notes payable in the

Watermark Aqua Portfolio.
(2) Floating rate borrowings are comprised of $171.7 million principal amount at one-month LIBOR.
(3) The difference between principal amount and carrying value of mortgage notes payable is attributable to deferred financing costs, net for all borrowings,

other than the Winterfell portfolio which is attributable to below market debt intangibles.
(4) Comprised of seven individual mortgage notes payable secured by seven healthcare real estate properties, cross-collateralized and subject to cross-default.
(5) Comprised of four individual mortgage notes payable secured by four healthcare real estate properties, cross-collateralized and subject to cross-default.
(6) Includes $386.6 million principal amount of fixed rate borrowings, secured by 14 healthcare real estate properties, cross-collateralized and subject to

cross-default, as well as a supplemental financing totaling $73.4 million of principal, secured by seven healthcare real estate properties, cross-
collateralized and subject to cross-default.

(7) Comprised of 32 individual mortgage notes payable secured by 32 healthcare real estate properties, cross-collateralized and subject to cross-default.
(8) Comprised of five individual mortgage notes payable secured by five healthcare real estate properties, cross-collateralized and subject to cross-default.
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The folff lowing table presents future scheduleff d principal payments on mortgage and other notes payable based on final maturityt
(dollars in thousands):

Years Ending December 31:
2021 $ 79,696
2022 467,008
2023 19,696
2024 20,406
2025 670,302
Thereafter 178,276
Total $ 1,435,384

As of December 31, 2020, the operator for the Arbors portfolio failed to remit rent timely and comply with other contractual
terms of its lease agreement, which resulted in a default under the operator’s lease, which in turn, resulted int a default under the
mortgage notes collateralized by the properties. The Company is currently in discussions with the operator regarding the lease
default.

In response to the operational challenges resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company entered into forbearanceff
agreements effective May 1, 2020 to defer up to 90 days of contractual debt service for borrowings on propertieff s within the
Aqua, Rochester, Arbors, Winterfell and Fountains portfolios. The aggregate outstanding principal amount of these borrowings
totaled $1.3 billion as of December 31, 2020. The deferred debt service must be repaid over the 12 months following the
forbearance period with no additional interest or penalties incurred by the Company, subject to satisfaction of certain
conditions. The deferral of payments ended on August 1, 2020 and the Company has resumed remitting debt service, together
with the deferred debt service, on these mortgage notes payable. As a result, these borrowings remain in technical default and
are subject to the terms of the forbearance agreements until all deferred debt service is repaid.

The Company entered into an additional forbearance agreement effective July 1, 2020 to defer up to 90 days of interest and 120
days of contractual principal payments forff a mortgage note payable on a property within the Rochester portfolio. The
forbearance agreement also temporarily waives financial covenants under the mortgage noteff , which the property has failed to
maintain as of December 31, 2020. The outstanding principal amount of the mortgage note payable was $19.9 million as of
December 31, 2020. The deferred debt service must be repaid over the 12 months following the forbearance period with no
additional interest or penalties incurred by the Company, subject to satisfaction of certain conditions. The deferral of payments
ended on December 31, 2020 and the Company has resumed remitting debt service, together with the deferred debt service, on
this mortgage note payable. As a result, this borrowing remains in technical default and is subject to the terms of the
forbearance agreements until all deferred debt service is repaid.

Line of Credit - Related Partyy

The following table presents the Company’s borrowings under the Sponsor line of credit as of December 31, 2020 (dollars in
thousands):

Capacity
Principal
Outstanding

Contractual
Interest Rate Maturity Date

Sponsor Line of Credit $ 35,000 $ 35,000 LIBOR + 3.50% Dec 2022

In October 2017, the Company obtained a revolving line of credit from an affiliate of Colony Capital, the Sponsor, for up to
$15.0 million at an interest rate of 3.5% plus LIBOR (the “Sponsor Line”). The Sponsor Line had an initial one year term, with
an extension option of six months.

In November 2017, the borrowing capacity under the Sponsor Line was increased to $35.0 million. In March 2018, the Sponsor
Line maturity date was extended through December 2020, and in May 2019, the maturity date was furtheff r extended through
December 2021. In July 2020, the maturity date was extended through December 2022.

In April 2020, the Company borrowed $35.0 million under the Sponsor Line to improve its liquidity position as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic. Interest expense on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations includes $0.9 million related
to the Sponsor Line for the year ended December 31, 2020.
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7. Related Party Arrangements

Advisor

Subject to certain restrictions and limitations, the Advisor is responsible for managing the Company’s affairs on a day-to-day
basis and for identifying, acquiring, originating and asset managing investments on behalf of the Company. The Advisor may
delegate certain of its obligations to affiliated entities, which may be organized under the laws of the United States or foreign
jurisdictions. References to the Advisor include the Advisor and any such affiliated entities. For such services, to the extent
permitted by law and regulations, the Advisor receives fees and reimbursements from the Company. Pursuant to the advisory
agreement, the Advisor may defer or waive fees in its discretion. Below is a description and table of the fees and
reimbursements incurred to the Advisor.

In June 2020, the advisory agreement was renewed for an additional one-year term commencing on June 30, 2020, with terms
identical to those in effect through June 30, 2020, but for the elimination of disposition fees.

Fees to Advisor

Asset Management Fee

Effective January 1, 2018, the Advisor receives a monthly asset management fee equal to one-twelfth of 1.5% of the
Company’s most recently published aggregate estimated net asset value, as may be subsequently adjusted for any special
distribution declared by the board of directors in connection with a sale, transfer or other disposition of a substantial portion of
the Company’s assets, with $2.5 million per calendar quarter of such fee paid in shares of the Company’s common stock at a
price per share equal to the most recently published net asset value per share.

The Advisor has also agreed that all shares of the Company’s common stock issued to it in consideration of the asset
management fee will be subordinate in the Company’s share repurchase program (the “Share Repurchase Program”) to shares
of the Company’s common stock held by third party stockholders for a period of two years, unless the advisory agreement is
earlier terminated.

Incentive Fee

The Advisor is entitled to receive distributions equal to 15.0% of net cash flows of the Company, whether from continuing
operations, repayment of loans, disposition of assets or otherwise, but only after stockholders have received, in the aggregate,
cumulative distributions equal to their invested capital plus a 6.75% cumulative, non-compounded annual pre-tax return on such
invested capital. From inception through December 31, 2020, the Advisor has not received any incentive fees from the
Company.

Acquisition Fee

Effective January 1, 2018, the Advisor no longer receives an acquisition fee in connection with the Company’s acquisitions of
real estate properties or debt investments.

Disposition Fee

For substantial assistance in connection with the sale of investments and based on the services provided, as determined by the
Company’s independent directors, the Advisor could have received a disposition fee of 2.0% of the contract sales price of each
property sold and 1.0% of the contract sales price of each debt investment sold. The Company did not pay a disposition fee
upon the maturity, prepayment, workout, modification or extension of a debt investment unless there was a corresponding fee
paid by the borrower, in which case the disposition fee was the lesser of: (i) 1.0% of the principal amount of the debt
investment prior to such transaction; or (ii) the amount of the fee paid by the borrower in connection with such transaction. If
the Company took ownership of a property as a result of a workout or foreclosure of a debt investment, the Company paid a
disposition fee upon the sale of such property. A disposition fee from the sale of an investment was generally expensed and
included in asset management and other fees - related party in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. A
disposition fee for a debt investment incurred in a transaction other than a sale was included in debt investments, net on the
consolidated balance sheets and was amortized to interest income over the life of the investment using the effective interest
method.

Effective June 30, 2020, the Advisor no longer has the potential to receive a disposition fee in connection with the sale of real
estate properties or debt investments.

NORTHSTAR HEALTHCARE INCOME, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

F-32



Reimbursements to Advisor

Operating Costs

The Advisor is entitled to receive reimbursement for direct and indirect operating costs incurred by the Advisor in connection
with administrative services provided to the Company. The Advisor allocates, in good faith, indirect costs to the Company
related to the Advisor’s and its affiliates’ employees, occupancy and other general and administrative costs and expenses in
accordance with the terms of, and subject to the limitations contained in, the advisory agreement with the Advisor. The indirect
costs include the Company’s allocable share of the Advisor’s compensation and benefit costs associated with dedicated or
partially dedicated personnel who spend all or a portion of their time managing the Company’s affairs, based upon the
percentage of time devoted by such personnel to the Company’s affairs. The indirect costs also include rental and occupancy,
technology, office supplies, travel and entertainment and other general and administrative costs and expenses. However, there
is no reimbursement for personnel costs related to executive officers (although there may be reimbursement for certain
executive officers of the Advisor) and other personnel involved in activities for which the Advisor receives an acquisition fee orff
a disposition fee. The Advisor allocates these costs to the Company relative to its and its affiliates’ other managed companies
in good faith and has reviewed the allocation with the Company’s board of directors, including its independent directors. The
Advisor updates the board of directors on a quarterly basis of any material changes to the expense allocation and provides a
detailed review to the board of directors, at least annually, and as otherwise requested by the board of directors. The Company
reimburses the Advisor quarterly for operating costs (including the asset management feeff ) based on a calculation for the four
preceding fiscal quarters not to exceed the greater of: (i) 2.0% of its average invested assets; or (ii) 25.0% of its net income
determined without reduction for any additions to reserves for depreciation, loaff n losses or other similar non-cash reserves and
excluding any gain from the salff e of assets for that period. Notwithstanding the above, the Company may reimburse the Advisor
for expenses in excess of this limitation if a majority of the Company’s independent directors determines that such excess
expenses are justified based on unusual and non-recurring factors. The Company calculates the expense reimbursement
quarterly based upon the trailing twelve-month period.

Summary of Fees and Reimbursementsy

The following tables present the feeff s and reimbursements incurred and paid to the Advisor (dollars in thousands):

Type of Fee or
Reimbursement

Due to Related
Party as of
December 31,

2019

Year Ended December 31, 2020 Due to Related
Party as of
December 31,

2020Financial Statement Location Incurred Paid
Fees to Advisor Entities(1)

Asset management(2) Asset management and other fees-related party $ 1,477 $ 17,170 $ (17,724) (2) $ 923
Reimbursements to Advisor Entities
Operating costs(3) General and administrative expenses 4,303 14,682 (11,590) 7,395
Total $ 5,780 $ 31,852 $ (29,314) $ 8,318

_______________________________________
(1) Effective June 30, 2020, our Advisor no longer has the potential to receive a disposition fee in connection with the sale of real estate properties or debt

investments. The Company did not incur any disposition fees during the year ended December 31, 2020, nor were any such fees outstanding as of
December 31, 2020.

(2) Includes $9.7 million paid in shares of the Company’s common stock and a $0.3 million gain recognized on the settlement of the share-based payment.
(3) As of December 31, 2020, the Advisor did not have any unreimbursed operating costs which remained eligible to be allocated to the Company.

Type of Fee or
Reimbursement

Due to Related
Party as of
December 31,

2018

Year Ended December 31, 2019 Due to Related
Party as of
December 31,

2019Financial Statement Location Incurred Paid
Fees to Advisor Entities(1)

Asset management(2) Asset management and other fees-related party $ 1,665 $ 19,789 $ (19,977) (2) $ 1,477
Reimbursements to Advisor Entities
Operating costs(3) General and administrative expenses 4,010 11,892 (11,599) 4,303
Total $ 5,675 $ 31,681 $ (31,576) $ 5,780
_______________________________________
(1) The Company did not incur any disposition fees during the year ended December 31, 2019, nor were any such fees outstanding as of December 31, 2019.
(2) Includes $9.9 million paid in shares of the Company’s common stock and a $0.1 million gain recognized on the settlement of the share-based payment.
(3) As of December 31, 2019, the Advisor did not have any unreimbursed operating costs which remained eligible to be allocated to the Company.
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Pursuant to the advisory agreement, for the yeaff r ended December 31, 2020, the Company issued 1.6 million shares totaling
$9.7 million, based on the estimated value per share on the date of each issuance, to an affiliate of the Advisor as part of its
asset management fee. As of December 31, 2020, the Advisor, the Sponsor and their affiliates owned a total of 4.7 million
shares or $18.3 million of the Company’s common stock based on the Company’s most recent estimated value per share. As of
December 31, 2020, the Advisor, the Sponsor and their affiliates owned 2.1% of the total outstanding shares of the Company’s
common stock.

Investments in Joint Ventures

Solstice, the manager of the Winterfell portfolio, is a joint venture between affiliates of ISL, which owns 80.0%, and the
Company, which owns 20.0%. For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company recognized property management fee
expense of $5.0 million paid to Solstice related to the Winterfell portfolio.

The below table indicates the Company’s investments for whicff h Colony Capital is also an equity partner in the joint venture.
Each investment was approved by the Company’s board of directors, including all of its independent directors. Refer to Note 4,
“Investments in Unconsolidated Ventures” for further discussion of these investments:

Portfolio Partner(s) Acquisition Date Ownership

Eclipse
Colony Capital/
Formation Capital, LLC May 2014 5.6%

Diversified US/UK
(Formerly Griffin-
American) Colony Capital December 2014 14.3%

In connection with the acquisition of the Diversified US/UK (formerly Griffin-American) portfolio by NorthStar Realty
Finance Corp. (“NorthStar Realty”), now a subsidiary of Colony Capital, and the Company, the Sponsor acquired a 43.0%, as
adjusted, ownership interest in American Healthcare Investors, LLC (“AHI”).

In December 2015, the Company, through a joint venture with Griffin-American Healthcare REIT III, Inc., a REIT sponsored
and advised by AHI, acquired a 29.0% interest in the Trilogy portfolio, a $1.2 billion healthcare portfolio and contributed
$201.7 million for its interest. The purchase was approved by the Company’s board of directors, including ala l of its
independent directors.

In October 2018, the Company sold 20.0% of its ownership interest in the Trilogy joint venture, which generated gross
proceeds of $48.0 million and reduced its ownership interest in the joint venture from approximately 29% to 23%. Theff
Company sold the ownership interest to a wholly-owned subsidiary of the operating partnership of Griffin-American Healthcare
REIT IV, Inc., a REIT sponsored by AHI.

Mezzanine Loan

In July 2015, the Company originated a $75.0 million mezzanine loan to a subsidiary of the Espresso joint venture, of which the
Company owns a minority interest. Refer to Note 5, “Real Estate Debt Investments” for further discussion.

Line of Credit - Related Partyy

The Company has the Sponsor Line, which provides up to $35.0 million at an interest rate of 3.5% plus LIBOR. Refer to Note
6, “Borrowings” for further discussion.

8. Equity-Based Compensation

The Company adopted a long-term incentive plan, as amended (the “Plan”), which it may use to attract and retain qualified
officers, directors, employees and consultants, as well as an independent directors compensation plan, which is a component of
the Plan. Under the Plan, 2.0 million shares of restricted common stock were eligible to be issued. Pursuant to the Plan, as of
December 31, 2020, the Company’s independent directors were granted a total of 159,932 shares of restricted common stock
for an aggregate $1.3 million, based on the share price on the date of each grant. The restricted stock granted prior to 2015
generally vested quarterly over four years and the restricted stock granted in and subsequent to 2015 generally vests quarterly
over two years. However, the stock will become fully vested on the earlier occurrence of: (i) the termination of the independent
director’s service as a director due to his or her death or disability; or (ii) a change in control of the Company.

The Company recognized equity-based compensation expense of $0.2 million, for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019
and 2018, respectively. Equity-based compensation expense is related to the issuance of restricted stock to the independent
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directors and is recorded in general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations. Unrecognized
equity-based compensation for unvested shares totaled $0.2 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Unvested
shares totaled 30,403 and 25,360 as of December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2019, respectively.

9. Stockholders’ Equity

Common Stock

The Company stopped accepting subscriptions for its Offering on December 17, 2015 and all of the shares initially registered
for its Offering were issued on or before January 19, 2016. The Company issued 173.4 million shares of common stock
generating gross proceeds of $1.7 billion, excluding proceeds from the DRP.

Distribution Reinvestment Plan

The Company adopted the DRP through which common stockholders may elect to reinvest an amount equal to the distributions
declared on their shares in additional shares of the Company’s common stock in lieu of receiving cash distributions. The
purchase price under the Company’s Initial DRP was $9.50. In connection with its determination of the offering price forff
shares of the Company’s common stock in the follow-on offering, the board of directors determined that distributions may be
reinvested in shares of the Company’s common stock at a price of $9.69 per share, which was approximately 95% of the
offering price of $10.20 per share established for purposes of the follow-on offering. In April 2016, the board of directors
determined that distributions may be reinvested in shares of the Company’s common stock at a price equal to the most recent
estimated value per share of the shares of common stock. The following table presents the price at which dividends were
invested based on when the price became effective:

Effective Date
Estimated Value
per Share Valuation Date

April 2016 $ 8.63 12/31/2015
December 2016 9.10 6/30/2016
December 2017 8.50 6/30/2017
December 2018 7.10 6/30/2018
December 2019 6.25 6/30/2019
December 2020 3.89 6/30/2020

No selling commissions or dealer manager feeff s were paid on shares issued pursuant to the DRP. The board of directors of the
Company may amend, suspend or terminate the DRP for anff y reason upon ten-days’ notice to participants, except that the
Company may not amend the DRP to eliminate a participant’s ability to withdraw from the DRP.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company has not issued shares of common stock pursuant to the DRP. From
inception through December 31, 2020, the Company issued 25.7 million shares of common stock, generating gross offering
proceeds of $232.6 million pursuant to the DRP.

Distributions

From inception through December 31, 2017, distributions to stockholders were declared quarterly by the board of directors of
the Company and paid monthly based on a daily amount of $0.00184932 per share, equivalent to an annualized distribution
amount of $0.675 per share of the Company’s common stock.

During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company’s board of directors approved daily cash distributions of
$0.000924658 per share of common stock, equivalent to an annualized distribution amount of $0.3375 per share.

The Company’s board of directors approved daily cash distributions of $0.000924658 per share of common stock for the monthff
ending January 31, 2019. Effective February 1, 2019, the Company’s board of directors determined to suspend distributions in
order to preserve capital and liquidity.

Distributions were generally paid to stockholders on the first business day of the month following the month for which the
distribution was accrued.

No distributions were declared during the year ended December 31, 2020. The following table presents distributions declared
for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 (dollars in thousands):
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Distributions(1)

Period Cash DRP Total
2019
First Quarter $ 2,991 $ 2,422 $ 5,413
Second Quarter — — —
Third Quarter — — —
Fourth Quarter — — —
Total $ 2,991 $ 2,422 $ 5,413

2018
First Quarter $ 7,684 $ 7,876 $ 15,560
Second Quarter 8,028 7,722 15,750
Third Quarter 8,374 7,567 15,941
Fourth Quarter 8,653 7,352 16,005
Total $ 32,739 $ 30,517 $ 63,256
_______________________________________
(1) Represents distributions declared for the period, even though such distributions are actually paid to stockholders inff the month following such period.

In order to continue to qualify as a REIT, the Company must distribute annually dividends equal to at least 90% of its REIT
taxable income (with certain adjustments). For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company generated net operating losses
for tax purposes. The Company did not have positive REIT taxable income forff its taxable year ending December 31, 2019,
therefore, it was not required to make distributions to its stockholders in 2019 to qualify as a REIT. The Company’s most
recently filed tax return is for the year ended December 31, 2019 and includes a net operating loss carry-forward of
$86.0 million.

Share Repurchase Program

The Company adopted the Share Repurchase Program that enabled stockholders to sell their shares to the Company in limited
circumstances. The Company is not obligated to repurchase shares under the Share Repurchase Program. The Company may
amend, suspend or terminate the Share Repurchase Program at its discretion at any time, subject to certain notice requirements.

In October 2018, the Company’s board of directors approved an amended and restated Share Repurchase Program, under which
the Company only repurchased shares in connection with the death or qualifying disability of a stockholder at a price equal to
the lesser of the price paid for the shares, as adjusted for any stocff k dividends, combinations, splits, recapitalizations or any
similar transactions, or the most recently published estimated value per share. The amended and restated Share Repurchase
Program became effective October 29, 2018.

In April 2020, the Company’s board of directors determined to suspend all repurchases under the Share Repurchase Program
effective April 30, 2020 in order to preserve capital and liquidity.

For the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company repurchased 0.3 million shares of common stock for $2.1 million at an
average price of $6.29 per share. For the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company repurchased 1.5 million shares of
common stock for $10.7 millionff at an average price of $7.10 per share pursuant to the Share Repurchase Program.

The Company has funded repurchase requests received duringd the year with cash on hand, borrowings or other available capital.

10. Non-controlling Interests

Operating Partnership

Non-controlling interests include the aggregate limited partnership interests in the Operating Partnership held by limited
partners, other than the Company. Income (loss) attributable to the non-controlling interests is based on the limited partners’
ownership percentage of the Operating Partnership. Income (loss) allocated to the Operating Partnership non-controlling
interests for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 was de minimis.

Other

Other non-controlling interests represent third-party equity interests in ventures that are consolidated with the Company’s
financial statements. Net loss attributable to the other non-controlling interests was $2.8 million, $0.8 million and $0.4 million
for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 respectively.
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11. Fair Value

Fair Value Measurement

The fair value of financial instrumentff s is categorized based on the priority of the inputs to the valuation technique and
categorized into a three-level faiff r value hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active
markets for identicaff l assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). If the inputs used to
measure the financial instruments fall within different levels of the hierarchy, the categorization is based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement of the instrument.

Financial assets and liabilities recorded at fair value on the consolidated balance sheets are categorized based on the inputs to the
valuation techniques as follows:ff

Level 1. Quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities inff an active market.

Level 2. Financial assets and liabilities whose values are based on the following:ff

a) Quoted prices for similaff r assets or liabilities in active markets.

b) Quoted prices for identical or similaff r assets or liabilities in non-active markets.

c) Pricing models whose inputs are observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

d) Pricing models whose inputs are derived principally from or corroborateff d by observable market data
for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

Level 3. Prices or valuation techniques based on inputs that are both unobservable and significant to the overall fair
value measurement.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

U.S. GAAP requires disclosure of fair value about all financial instruff ments. The following disclosure of estimated faiff r value of
financial instruments was determined by the Company using available market information and appropriate valuation
methodologies. Considerable judgment is necessary to interpret market data and develop estimated faiff r value. Accordingly, the
estimates presented herein are not necessarily indicative of the amounts the Company could realize on disposition of the
financial instruments. The use of different market assumptions and/or estimation methodologies may have a material effect on
estimated faiff r value.

The following table presents the principal amount, carrying value and fair value of certain financial assets and liabilities (dollars
in thousands):

December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019
Principal
Amount

Carrying
Value Fair Value

Principal
Amount

Carrying
Value Fair Value

Financial assets:(1)

Real estate debt investments, net $ 74,182 $ 55,864 $ 74,182 $ 74,182 $ 55,468 $ 74,182
Financial liabilities:(1)

Mortgage and other notes payable, net $ 1,435,384 $ 1,416,871 $ 1,354,832 $ 1,455,413 $ 1,431,922 $ 1,450,876
Line of credit - related party 35,000 35,000 35,000 — — —

_______________________________________
(1) The fair value of other financial instruments not included in this table is estimated to approximate their carrying value.

Disclosure about fair value of financial instruments is based on pertinent information available to management as of the
reporting date. Although management is not aware of any factors that would significantly affect fair value, such amounts have
not been comprehensively revalued for purposeff s of these consolidated financial statements since that date and current estimates
of fair value may differff significantly from the amounts presented herein.

Real Estate Debt Investments, Net

The Company’s real estate debt investment’s fair value was determined by comparing the current yield to the estimated yield for
newly originated loans with similar credit risk or the market yield at which a third party might expect to purchase such
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investment; or based on discounted cash flow projections of principaff l and interest expected to be collected, which includes
consideration of the financial standing of the borrower or sponsor as well as operating results of the underlying collateral. As of
the reporting date, the Company believes that principal amount approximates faiff r value. The fair value measurement of the
Company’s real estate debt investment is generally based on unobservable inputs, and as such, are classified as Level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy.

Mortgage and Othett r NoteNN s Payable, Net and Line of Credit - Related Party

The Company primarily uses rates currently available with similar terms and remaining maturities to estimate fair value. These
measurements are determined using comparable U.S. Treasury and LIBOR rates as of the end of the reporting period. These fair
value measurements are based on observable inputs, and as such, are classified as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Nonrecurring Fair Valuesg

The Company measures fair value of certain assets on a nonrecurring basis when events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carryirr ng value of the assets may not be recoverable. Adjustments to fair value generally result from the application of
lower of amortized cost or fair value accounting for assets held for sale or otherwise, write-down of asset values due toff
impairment.

The following table summarizes the fair value, measured at the time of impairment, of Level 3 assets which have been measured
at fair value on a nonrecurring basis during the periods presented and the associated impairment losses (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Fair Value
Impairment
Losses Fair Value

Impairment
Losses Fair Value

Impairment
Losses

Operating real estate, net $ 234,650 $ 164,215 $ 58,804 $ 27,021 $ 47,955 $ 31,000
Assets held for sale 5,000 1,753 1,649 533 2,183 2,494

Operating Real Estate, Net

Operating real estate that is impaired is carried at fairff value at the time of impairment. Impairment was driven by various factors
that impacted undiscounted future net cash flows, including declines in operating performance, market growtff h assumptions, and
expected margins to be generated by the properties. Fair value of impaired operating real estate was estimated based upon
various approaches including discounted cash flow analysis using terminal capitalization rates ranging from 6.00% to 7.75% andff
discount rates ranging from 7.0% to 8.75%, third party appraisals, offer prices or broker opinions of value.

Assets Htt elHH d For SaleFF

Assets held for sale are carrieff d at the lower of amortized cost or fair value. Assets held for sale that wereff written down to fair
value were generally valued using either broker opinions of value, or a combination of market information, including third-party
appraisals and indicative sale prices, adjusted as deemed appropriata e by management to account for the inherent risk associated
with specific properties. In all cases, faiff r value of real estate held for sale is reduceff d for estimateff d selling costs.
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12. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

The following tables present select quarterly information for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 (dollars in thousands,
except per share data):

Three Months Ended
December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31,

2020 2020 2020 2020
Property and other revenues $ 66,841 $ 67,755 $ 69,308 $ 72,891
Net interest income 1,936 1,927 1,906 1,905
Real estate properties - operating expenses 46,648 46,501 45,328 45,701
Impairment loss 74,531 — 91,437 —
Expenses 165,333 86,782 176,432 86,336
Equity in earnings (losses) of unconsolidated ventures 2,333 (1,043) (34,763) (993)
Net income (loss) (93,538) (18,158) (139,995) (12,547)
Net income (loss) attributable to NorthStar Healthcare
Income, Inc. common stockholders (91,709) (17,987) (139,281) (12,481)

Net income (loss) per share of common stock, basic/diluted(1) $ (0.48) $ (0.09) $ (0.74) $ (0.07)
_______________________________________
(1) The total for the year may differ from the sum of the quarters as a result of weighting.

Three Months Ended
December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31,

2019 2019 2019 2019
Property and other revenues $ 72,907 $ 72,778 $ 74,972 $ 72,521
Net interest income 1,932 1,946 1,923 1,902
Real estate properties - operating expenses 46,001 45,359 44,636 45,218
Impairment loss 17,408 — 10,146 —
Expenses 106,235 86,571 95,420 93,099
Equity in earnings (losses) of unconsolidated ventures 4,121 (3,037) (4,405) (224)
Net income (loss) (26,924) (14,697) (17,460) (18,669)
Net income (loss) attributable to NorthStar Healthcare
Income, Inc. common stockholders (26,573) (14,624) (17,146) (18,617)

Net income (loss) per share of common stock, basic/diluted(1) $ (0.13) $ (0.08) $ (0.09) $ (0.10)
_______________________________________
(1) The total for the year may differ from the sum of the quarters as a result of weighting.

13. Segment Reporting

The Company conducts its business through the following five segments, which are based on how management reviews and
manages its business.

• Direct Investments - Net LeaseNN - Healthcare properties operated under net leases with an operator.

• Direct Investments - OperatingO - Healthcare properties operated pursuant to management agreements with healthcare
managers.

• Unconsolidated Investments - Healthcare joint ventures, including properties operated under net leases with operators or
pursuant to management agreements with healthcare managers, in which the Company owns a minority interest.

• Debt and Securities Investments - Mortgage loans or mezzanine loans to owners of healthcare real estate and
commercial mortgage backed securities backed primarily by loans secured by healthcare properties.

• CorporateCC - The corporate segment includes corporate level asset management and other feeff s - related party and general
and administrative expenses.

The Company primarily generates rental and resident fee income from itff s direct investments and interest income on real estate
debt and securities investments.
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The folff lowing table presents the operators and managers of the Company’s properties, excluding properties owned through
unconsolidated joint ventures (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, 2020

Operator / Manager

Properties
Under

Management
Units Under
Management(1)

Property and
Other Revenues(2)

% of Total
Property and
Other Revenues

Watermark Retirement Communities 30 5,265 $ 138,708 50.3 %
Solstice Senior Living (3) 32 4,000 101,054 36.7 %
Avamere Health Services 5 453 17,367 6.3 %
Arcadia Management 4 572 10,615 3.9 %
Integral Senior Living (4) 1 44 7,405 2.7 %
Senior Lifestyle Corporation (5) 1 63 — — %
Other (6) — — 199 0.1 %
Total 73 10,397 $ 275,348 100.0 %

______________________________________
(1) Represents rooms for ALFs and ILFs and beds for MCFs and SNFs, based on predominant type.
(2) Includes rental income received from the Company’s net lease properties as well as rental income, ancillary service fees and other related revenue earned

from ILF residents and resident fee income derived from the Company’s ALFs, MCFs and CCRCs, which includes resident room and care charges,
ancillary fees and other resident service charges.

(3) Solstice is a joint venture of which affiliates of ISL own 80%.
(4) Property count and units excludes two ISL properties designated as held for sale as of December 31, 2020.
(5) Operator has failed to remit rental payments during the year ended December 31, 2020.
(6) Consists primarily of interest income earned on corporate-level cash accounts.

The following tables present segment reporting (dollars ina thousands):

Direct Investments

Year Ended December 31, 2020 Net Lease Operating
Unconsolidated
Investments

Debt and
Securities Corporate(1) Total

Property and other revenues $ 32,899 $ 242,250 $ — $ — $ 199 $ 275,348
Interest income on debt investments — — — 7,674 — 7,674
Real estate properties - operating expenses (13) (184,165) — — — (184,178)
Interest expense (11,832) (53,210) — — (949) (65,991)
Transaction costs (58) (7) — — — (65)
Asset management and other fees - related party — — — — (17,170) (17,170)
General and administrative expenses (804) (296) — (19) (15,386) (16,505)
Depreciation and amortization (14,940) (50,066) — — — (65,006)
Impairment loss (722) (165,246) — — — (165,968)
Other income — 1,840 — — — 1,840
Realized gain (loss) on investments and other — (13) — — 315 302
Equity in earnings (losses) of unconsolidated ventures — — (34,466) — — (34,466)
Income tax expense — (53) — — — (53)
Net income (loss) $ 4,530 $ (208,966) $ (34,466) $ 7,655 $ (32,991) $ (264,238)
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Direct Investments

Year Ended December 31, 2019 Net Lease Operating
Unconsolidated
Investments

Debt and
Securities Corporate(1) Total

Property and other revenues $ 33,424 $ 259,033 $ — $ 35 $ 686 $ 293,178
Interest income on debt investments — — — 7,703 — 7,703
Real estate properties - operating expenses (11) (181,203) — — — (181,214)
Interest expense (12,434) (56,360) — — (102) (68,896)
Transaction costs — (122) — — — (122)
Asset management and other fees - related party — — — — (19,789) (19,789)
General and administrative expenses (268) (42) — (38) (12,413) (12,761)
Depreciation and amortization (14,329) (56,660) — — — (70,989)
Impairment loss (4,132) (23,422) — — — (27,554)
Realized gain (loss) on investments and other 5,872 719 — — (277) 6,314
Equity in earnings (losses) of unconsolidated ventures — — (3,545) — — (3,545)
Income tax benefit (expense) — (75) — — — (75)
Net income (loss) $ 8,122 $ (58,132) $ (3,545) $ 7,700 $ (31,895) $ (77,750)

_______________________________________
(1) Includes unallocated asset management fee-related party and general and administrative expenses.

Direct Investments

Year Ended December 31, 2018 Net Lease Operating
Unconsolidated
Investments

Debt and
Securities Corporate(1) Subtotal

Investing
VIE(2) Total

Property and other revenues $ 34,276 $ 258,779 $ — $ 375 $ 841 $ 294,271 $ — $ 294,271
Net interest income — — — 8,534 (314) (3) 8,220 811 9,031
Real estate properties - operating
expenses (1,346) (187,415) — — — (188,761) — (188,761)
Interest expense (13,326) (56,595) — — (275) (70,196) — (70,196)
Other expenses related to
securitization trust — — — — — — (811) (811)
Transaction costs (60) (828) — — — (888) — (888)
Asset management and other fees -
related party — — — — (23,478) (23,478) — (23,478)
General and administrative expenses (183) (856) (2) (46) (13,303) (14,390) — (14,390)
Depreciation and amortization (13,694) (93,439) — — — (107,133) — (107,133)
Impairment loss (5,094) (31,183) — — — (36,277) — (36,277)
Unrealized gain (loss) on mortgage
loans held in securitization trust, net — — — (314) 314 (3) — — —
Realized gain (loss) on investments
and other — 2,525 14,086 3,495 137 20,243 — 20,243
Equity in earnings (losses) of
unconsolidated ventures — — (33,517) — — (33,517) — (33,517)
Income tax benefit (expense) — (114) — — — (114) — (114)
Net income (loss) $ 573 $ (109,126) $ (19,433) $ 12,044 $ (36,078) $ (152,020) $ — $(152,020)
_______________________________________
(1) Includes unallocated asset management fee-related party and general and administrative expenses.
(2) Investing VIEs are not considered to be a segment that the Company conducts its business through, however U.S. GAAP requires the Company, as the

primary beneficiary, to present the assets and liabilities of the securitization trust on its consolidated balance sheets and recognize the related interest
income and interest expense, as net interest income on the consolidated statements of operations. Though U.S. GAAP requires this presentation, the
Company views its investment in the securitization trust as a net investment in debt and securities.

(3) Represents income earned from the healthcare-related securities purchased at a discount, recognized using the effective interest method had the transaction
been recorded as an available for sale security, at amortized cost. During the year ended December 31, 2018, $0.3 million was attributable to discount
accretion income and was eliminated in consolidation in the corporate segment.
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The folff lowing table presents total assets by segment (dollars in thousands):

Direct Investments

Total Assets: Net Lease Operating
Unconsolidated
Investments

Debt and
Securities Corporate(1) Total

December 31, 2020 $ 348,688 $1,223,045 $ 229,170 $ 56,502 $ 61,031 $ 1,918,436
December 31, 2019 365,789 1,420,023 268,892 56,099 30,404 2,141,207

______________________________________
(1) Represents primarily corporate cash and cash equivalents balances.

14. Commitments and Contingencies

As of December 31, 2020, the Company believes there are no material contingencies that would affect its results of operations,
cash flows or finff ancial position.

Litigation and Claims

The Company may be involved in various litigation matters arising in the ordinary course of its business. Although the
Company is unable to predict with certainty the eventual outcome of any litigation, any current legal proceedings are not
expected to have a material adverse effect on its financial position or resultff s of operations.

The Company’s tenants, operators and managers may be involved in various litigation matters arising in the ordinary course of
their business. The unfavorable resolution of any such actions, investigations or claims could, individually or in the aggregate,
materially adversely affect such tenants’, operators’ or managers’ liquidity, financial condition or results of operations and their
ability to satisfy their respective obligations to the Company, which, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on the
Company.

Environmental Matters

The Company follows a policy of monitoring its properties for the presencff e of hazardous or toxic substances. While there can be
no assurance that a material environmental liability does not exist at its properties, the Company is not currently aware of any
environmental liability with respeca t to its properties that would have a material effect on its consolidated financial position,
results of operations or cash flows. Further, the Company is not aware of any material environmental liability or any unasserteda
claim or assessment with respect to an environmental liability thaa t it believes would require additional disclosure or the
recording of a loss contingency.

General Uninsured Losses

The Company obtains various types of insurance to mitigate the impact of property, business interruption, liability, flood,
windstorm, earthquake, environmental and terrorism related losses. The Company attempts to obtain appropriate policy terms,
conditions, limits and deductibles considering the relative risk of loss, the cost of such coverage and current industry practice.
There are, however, certain types of extraordinary losses, such as those due to acts of war or other events that may be either
uninsurable or not economically insurable.

Other

Other commitments and contingencies include the usual obligations of real estate owners and operators in the normal course of
business, as well as commitments to fund capital expenditures for certain net lease properties. These commitments do not have aff
required minimum funding and are limited by agreed upon maximum annual funding amounts.ff

15. Subsequent Events

The following is a discussion of material events which have occurred subsequent to December 31, 2020 through the issuance of
the consolidated financial statements.ff
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Borrowings

In January 2021, the Company refinanced an existing $18.7 million mortgage note payable, collateralized by a property within
the Aqua portfolio, with a $26.0 million mortgage note payable. The new mortgage note carries a fixed interest rate of 3.0%
through February 2024 and has initial maturity date of February 2026.

In January 2021, the Company extended the maturity date of a mortgage note payable for a property within the Aqua portfolio
from February 2021 to April 2021. The outstanding principal amount of the mortgage note payable was $20.2 million as of
December 31, 2020.

Real Estate Debt Investments

From January 1, 2021 through March 18, 2021, we have received principal repayments on our mezzanine loan debt investment
which total $24.9 million. The borrower funded these principal repayments through net proceeds generated from the sale of
underlying collateral and available operating cash flow.

COIVD-19 Provider Relief Funding

In January 2021, the Company’s direct operating investments received $6.8 million in grants from DHHS under the Provider
Relief Fund. These grants are intended to mitigate the negative financial impact of the COVID-19 pandemic as reimbursements
for expenses incurred to prevent, prepare for and respond to COVID-19 and lost revenues attributable to COVID-19investments.
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NORTHSTAR HEALTHCARE INCOME, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE III - REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION

December 31, 2020
(Dollars in Thousands)

Net Lease Portfolio

Smyrna, GA $ — $ 825 $ 9,175 $ (5,730) $ 825 $ 3,445 $ 4,270 $ 1,561 $ 2,709 Dec-13 40 years

Bohemia, NY 23,214 4,258 27,805 160 4,258 27,965 32,223 5,050 27,173 Sep-14 40 years

Hauppauge, NY 14,084 2,086 18,495 1,351 2,086 19,846 21,932 3,829 18,103 Sep-14 40 years

Islandia, NY 34,670 8,437 37,198 291 8,437 37,489 45,926 6,904 39,022 Sep-14 40 years

Westbury, NY 15,334 2,506 19,163 293 2,506 19,456 21,962 3,466 18,496 Sep-14 40 years

Bellevue, WA 29,763 13,801 18,208 4,092 13,801 22,300 36,101 5,248 30,853 Jun-15 40 years

Dana Point, CA 31,552 6,286 41,199 727 6,286 41,926 48,212 6,891 41,321 Jun-15 40 years

Kalamazoo, MI 33,520 4,521 30,870 2,987 4,521 33,857 38,378 7,188 31,190 Jun-15 40 years

Oklahoma City, OK 2,890 3,104 6,119 1,477 3,104 7,596 10,700 2,765 7,935 Jun-15 40 years

Palm Desert, CA 19,901 5,365 38,889 2,981 5,365 41,870 47,235 8,422 38,813 Jun-15 40 years

Sarasota, FL 72,029 12,845 64,403 4,985 12,845 69,388 82,233 13,326 68,907 Jun-15 40 years

Seniors Housing
Operating Portfolio

Milford, OH 18,760 1,160 14,440 1,767 1,160 16,207 17,367 3,869 13,498 Dec-13 40 years

Milford, OH — 700 — 5,603 700 5,603 6,303 384 5,919 Jul-17 40 years

Denver, CO 20,189 4,300 27,200 (10,248) 4,300 16,952 21,252 7,409 13,843 Jan-14 40 years

Frisco, TX 18,770 3,100 35,874 2,646 3,100 38,520 41,620 7,440 34,180 Feb-14 40 years

Alexandria, VA 43,679 7,950 41,124 2,800 7,950 43,924 51,874 7,516 44,358 Jun-15 40 years

Crystal Lake, IL 26,657 6,580 28,210 (894) 6,580 27,316 33,896 5,483 28,413 Jun-15 40 years

Independence, MO 15,051 1,280 17,090 (1,692) 1,280 15,398 16,678 3,649 13,029 Jun-15 40 years

Millbrook, NY 23,951 6,610 20,854 (2,123) 6,610 18,731 25,341 5,198 20,143 Jun-15 40 years

St. Petersburg, FL 39,375 8,920 44,137 (19,577) 8,920 24,560 33,480 9,305 24,175 Jun-15 40 years

Tarboro, NC 21,854 2,400 17,800 1,749 2,400 19,549 21,949 4,512 17,437 Jun-15 40 years

Tuckahoe, NY 35,846 4,870 26,980 1,627 4,870 28,607 33,477 4,746 28,731 Jun-15 40 years

Tucson, AZ 63,978 7,370 60,719 5,990 7,370 66,709 74,079 11,931 62,148 Jun-15 40 years

Apple Valley, CA 20,956 1,168 24,625 (7,482) 1,168 17,143 18,311 3,815 14,496 Mar-16 40 years

Auburn, CA 23,675 1,694 18,438 1,233 1,694 19,671 21,365 3,407 17,958 Mar-16 40 years

Austin, TX 26,068 4,020 19,417 2,435 4,020 21,852 25,872 3,724 22,148 Mar-16 40 years

Bakersfield, CA 16,543 1,831 21,006 1,319 1,831 22,325 24,156 3,761 20,395 Mar-16 40 years

Bangor, ME 21,130 2,463 23,205 952 2,463 24,157 26,620 3,978 22,642 Mar-16 40 years

Bellingham, WA 23,462 2,242 18,807 1,566 2,242 20,373 22,615 3,443 19,172 Mar-16 40 years

Clovis, CA 18,464 1,821 21,721 715 1,821 22,436 24,257 3,644 20,613 Mar-16 40 years

Columbia, MO 22,340 1,621 23,521 870 1,621 24,391 26,012 3,914 22,098 Mar-16 40 years

Corpus Christi, TX 18,278 2,263 20,142 (5,447) 2,263 14,695 16,958 3,466 13,492 Mar-16 40 years

East Amherst, NY 18,207 2,873 18,279 648 2,873 18,927 21,800 3,099 18,701 Mar-16 40 years

El Cajon, CA 20,655 2,357 14,733 923 2,357 15,656 18,013 2,830 15,183 Mar-16 40 years

El Paso, TX 11,998 1,610 14,103 1,124 1,610 15,227 16,837 2,571 14,266 Mar-16 40 years

Fairport, NY 16,260 1,452 19,427 1,077 1,452 20,504 21,956 3,049 18,907 Mar-16 40 years

Fenton, MO 24,162 2,410 22,216 999 2,410 23,215 25,625 3,849 21,776 Mar-16 40 years

Grand Junction, CO 19,148 2,525 26,446 715 2,525 27,161 29,686 4,402 25,284 Mar-16 40 years

Grand Junction, CO 9,796 1,147 12,523 913 1,147 13,436 14,583 2,449 12,134 Mar-16 40 years

Grapevine, TX 21,947 1,852 18,143 (9,710) 1,852 8,433 10,285 3,145 7,140 Mar-16 40 years

Groton, CT 17,292 3,673 21,879 (9,371) 3,673 12,508 16,181 3,986 12,195 Mar-16 40 years

Guilford, CT 23,877 6,725 27,488 (23,109) 6,725 4,379 11,104 4,010 7,094 Mar-16 40 years

Joliet, IL 14,675 1,473 23,427 (7,175) 1,473 16,252 17,725 3,559 14,166 Mar-16 40 years

Kennewick, WA 7,543 1,168 18,933 820 1,168 19,753 20,921 3,215 17,706 Mar-16 40 years

Las Cruces, NM 10,992 1,568 15,091 1,399 1,568 16,490 18,058 2,739 15,319 Mar-16 40 years

Lees Summit, MO 26,716 1,263 20,500 1,084 1,263 21,584 22,847 3,742 19,105 Mar-16 40 years

Lodi, CA 19,792 2,863 21,152 1,029 2,863 22,181 25,044 3,728 21,316 Mar-16 40 years

Normandy Park, WA 15,972 2,031 16,407 987 2,031 17,394 19,425 2,948 16,477 Mar-16 40 years

Column A Column B Column C Initial Cost

Column D
Capitalized
Subsequent to
Acquisition(1)

Column E Gross Amount Carried at
Close of Period(2) Column F Column G Column H

Location
City, State Encumbrances Land

Building &
Improvements

Land,
Buildings &
Improvements Land

Building &
Improvements Total

Accumulated
Depreciation Total

Date
Acquired

Life on
Which

Depreciation
is Computed
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Palatine, IL 19,761 1,221 26,993 (12,068) 1,221 14,925 16,146 4,755 11,391 Mar-16 40 years

Plano, TX 15,811 2,200 14,860 (6,201) 2,200 8,659 10,859 2,837 8,022 Mar-16 40 years

Renton, WA 18,743 2,642 20,469 952 2,642 21,421 24,063 3,631 20,432 Mar-16 40 years
Sandy, UT 15,523 2,810 19,132 (6,021) 2,810 13,111 15,921 3,167 12,754 Mar-16 40 years

Santa Rosa, CA 27,457 5,409 26,183 1,697 5,409 27,880 33,289 4,652 28,637 Mar-16 40 years

Sun City West, AZ 25,230 2,684 29,056 (6,820) 2,684 22,236 24,920 5,004 19,916 Mar-16 40 years

Tacoma, WA 29,572 7,974 32,435 2,352 7,977 34,784 42,761 5,947 36,814 Mar-16 40 years

Frisco, TX — 1,130 — 12,595 1,130 12,595 13,725 1,634 12,091 Oct-16 40 years

Albany, OR 8,650 958 6,625 (3,606) 758 3,219 3,977 1,055 2,922 Feb-17 40 years

Port Townsend, WA 16,537 1,613 21,460 658 996 22,735 23,731 2,999 20,732 Feb-17 40 years

Roseburg, OR 12,236 699 11,589 645 459 12,474 12,933 1,639 11,294 Feb-17 40 years

Sandy, OR 13,956 1,611 16,697 772 1,233 17,847 19,080 2,205 16,875 Feb-17 40 years

Santa Barbara, CA 3,914 2,408 15,674 343 2,408 16,017 18,425 1,734 16,691 Feb-17 40 years

Wenatchee, WA 19,048 2,540 28,971 865 1,534 30,842 32,376 3,559 28,817 Feb-17 40 years

Churchville, NY 6,575 296 7,712 479 296 8,191 8,487 1,134 7,353 Aug-17 35 years

Greece, NY — 534 18,158 (11,126) 533 7,033 7,566 1,431 6,135 Aug-17 49 years

Greece, NY 26,833 1,007 31,960 1,477 1,007 33,437 34,444 3,762 30,682 Aug-17 41 years

Henrietta, NY 11,881 1,153 16,812 930 1,152 17,743 18,895 2,561 16,334 Aug-17 36 years

Penfield, NY 12,502 781 20,273 (8,440) 781 11,833 12,614 2,692 9,922 Aug-17 30 years

Penfield, NY 10,918 516 9,898 490 515 10,389 10,904 1,406 9,498 Aug-17 35 years

Rochester, NY 19,907 2,426 31,861 1,708 2,425 33,570 35,995 3,885 32,110 Aug-17 39 years

Rochester, NY 5,341 297 12,484 (9,263) 296 3,222 3,518 1,778 1,740 Aug-17 37 years

Victor, NY 27,174 1,060 33,246 1,910 1,059 35,157 36,216 3,842 32,374 Aug-17 41 years

Victor, NY 12,800 557 13,570 17 556 13,588 14,144 1,167 12,977 Nov-17 41 years

Undeveloped Land

Bellevue, WA — 14,200 — — 14,200 — 14,200 — 14,200 Jun-15 (3)

Kalamazoo, MI — 100 — — 100 — 100 — 100 Jun-15 (3)

Crystal Lake, IL — 810 — — 810 — 810 — 810 Jun-15 (3)

Millbrook, NY — 1,050 — — 1,050 — 1,050 — 1,050 Jun-15 (3)

Rochester, NY — 544 — — 544 — 544 — 544 Aug-17 (3)

Penfield, NY — 534 — — 534 — 534 — 534 Aug-17 (3)

Subtotal $ 1,435,384 $ 237,151 $ 1,613,699 $ (75,879) $ 234,706 $ 1,540,265 $1,774,971 $ 291,041 $ 1,483,930

Held for Sale

Leawood, KS — — — 3,000 3,000 — 3,000 Oct-13 (3)

Spring Hill, KS — — — 2,000 2,000 — 2,000 Oct-13 (3)

Total $ 1,435,384 $ 237,151 $ 1,613,699 $ (75,879) $ 234,706 $ 1,545,265 $1,779,971 $ 291,041 $ 1,488,930

Column A Column B Column C Initial Cost

Column D
Capitalized
Subsequent to
Acquisition(1)

Column E Gross Amount Carried at
Close of Period(2) Column F Column G Column H

Location
City, State Encumbrances Land

Building &
Improvements

Land,
Buildings &
Improvements Land

Building &
Improvements Total

Accumulated
Depreciation Total

Date
Acquired

Life on
Which

Depreciation
is Computed

______________________________________
(1) Negative amount represents impairment of operating real estate.
(2) The aggregate cost for federal income tax purposes is approximately $2.2 billion.
(3) Depreciation is not recorded on land or assets held for sale.

F-45



NORTHSTAR HEALTHCARE INCOME, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE III - REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
December 31, 2020

(Dollars in Thousands)

The following table presents changes in the Company’s operating real estate portfolio for the years ended December 31, 2020,
2019 and 2018 (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Balance at beginning of year $ 1,931,032 $ 1,949,997 $ 1,966,352
Dispositions — (16,645) (15,240)
Improvements 17,036 24,701 35,889
Impairment (165,246) (27,021) (33,494)

Subtotal 1,782,822 1,931,032 1,953,507
Classified as held for sale(1) (7,851) — (3,510)

Balance at end of year(2) $ 1,774,971 $ 1,931,032 $ 1,949,997
_____________________________
(1) Amounts classified as held for sale during the year and remain as held for sale at the end of the year.
(2) The aggregate cost of the properties are approximately $427.2 million higher for federal income tax purposes as of December 31, 2019.

The following table presents changes in accumulated depreciation as of December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 (dollars in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Balance at beginning of year $ 230,814 $ 171,083 $ 113,924
Depreciation expense 63,078 62,798 60,028
Property dispositions — (3,067) (1,542)

Subtotal 293,892 230,814 172,410
Classified as held for sale (2,851) — (1,327)

Balance at end of year $ 291,041 $ 230,814 $ 171,083
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NORTHSTAR HEALTHCARE INCOME, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE IV - MORTGAGE LOANS ON REAL ESTATE

December 31, 2020
(Dollars in Thousands)

Asset Type:
Location /
Description Count

Fixed
Rate

Maturity
Date(1)

Periodic
Payment
Terms(2)

Prior
Liens(3)

Principal
Amount

Carrying
Value(4)

gg

Principal Amount of
Loans Subject to

Delinquent Principal
or Interest

Espresso Mezzanine
Loan

Various /
SNF / ALF 1 10.0 % Jan-22 I/O $ 681,526 $ 74,182 $ 55,864 $ —

_______________________________________
(1) Reflects the initial maturity date of the investment and does not consider any options to extend beyond such date.
(2) Interest Only, or I/O; principal amount due in full at maturity.
(3) Represents only third-party liens.
(4) The federal income tax basis is approximately $74.2 million.

Reconciliation of Carrying Value of Real Estate Debt (dollars in thousands):y g ( )

Year Ended December 31,
2020 2019 2018

Balance at beginning of year $ 55,468 $ 58,600 $ 74,650
Deductions:
Reclassification(1) 271 (2,427) (16,151)
Repayment of principal — (818) —
Amortization of acquisition costs, fees, premiums and discounts 125 113 101

Balance at end of year $ 55,864 $ 55,468 $ 58,600
_______________________________________
(1) As a result of impairments and other non-cash reserves recorded by the joint venture, the Company’s carrying value of its Espresso unconsolidated

investment was reduced to zero as of December 31, 2018. The Company has recorded the excess equity in losses related to its unconsolidated venture as a
reduction to the carrying value of its mezzanine loan, which was originated to a subsidiary of the Espresso joint venture.
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